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2023, which helped support the research for 
this article. He is currently completing a 
Ph.D. in the Department of History at Yale 
and has a fellowship this fall with the Univer-
sity of  Tulsa School of Law.

The Civil War and Reconstruction cast 
a long shadow over the nation, particularly 
with regard to race relations. When the po-
tential promise of  Reconstruction failed to be 
realized, the struggle for Black Americans to 
secure their rights and preserve their dignity 
continued during the era of Jim Crow seg-
regation. In the midst of it, as Terence Walz 
tells us, Eugene Brooks made his mark. A 
messenger to Chief Justices Morrison R. 
Waite and Melville W. Fuller, Brooks became 
a fixture at the Court for decades while he 
also rose to prominence within D.C.’ s Black 
community. Walz, an independent scholar 
based in Washington, D.C., provides a com-
pelling assessment of a previously unknown 
member of the Court’s staff.

Helen J. Knowles-Gardner gives us a 
striking account of NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. 
Flowers (1964). A landmark in the jurispru-
dence of freedom of association, the case 
involved the state of Alabama’s attempt to 
compel the organization to turn over its mem-
bership lists. Knowles-Gardner tells the story 

The Journal of Supreme Court History 
has long prided itself on publishing a wide 
variety of articles covering subjects from all 
different time periods. For nearly fifty years, 
the Journal has included articles about land-
mark cases and justices—of course—but it 
has also published essays about litigants, 
clerks, members of the Supreme Court bar 
and the Supreme Court staff, as well as ar-
chitectural features of the Court building. In 
recent years, moreover, we have published 
articles about the early history of the justices’ 
robes and about a D.C. house, which played 
an especially important role in the Court’s his-
tory. Over the decades, the Journal has served 
up, as my esteemed predecessor Mel Urofsky 
used to say, “a smorgasbord” to its readers. 
This issue is no different.

M. Henry Ishitani offers an insightful his-
torical treatment of the constitutional issues 
surrounding disqualification for elective of-
fice. The issue arose out of  the American Civil 
War, when the constitutional rights and status 
of ex-Confederates came before the Court. In 
Ishitani’s telling, The Test Oath Cases (1867) 
played a significant role in shaping the con-
stitutional contours of Reconstruction. Ishi-
tani received the inaugural Henry J. Abraham 
Early Career Research Grant, established in 
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This will be the last Introduction I write 
as chair of the Board of Editors of the Jour-
nal. Several months ago, I decided to resign 
from my position as Editor when I took over 
the job of Provost and Vice President of Aca-
demic Affairs at Rhodes College. Regretta-
bly, I just cannot carry out all the tasks as-
sociated with both positions. Careful readers 
may remember that last year I announced in 
these pages that I was stepping down from 
administrative work (after serving a stint as 
Associate Provost at Rhodes) to return to 
full-time teaching and writing. Career tra-
jectories sometimes take unexpected turns, 
though, and several months after my return 
to the classroom I received my new appoint-
ment, which I could not refuse. Rhodes Col-
lege is very special to me. Not only have I 
spent nearly the entirety of my career as a 
historian there, it also lays claim to a bit of 
Supreme Court history itself. The alma ma-
ter of both Abe Fortas, Class of 1930, and 
Amy Coney Barrett, Class of 1994, the Col-
lege takes pride in the significant contribu-
tions it has made—and is making—to the life 
of the nation.

While I am pleased to be a part of the 
leadership at Rhodes, I am certainly proud of 
the nearly four years I spent editing the Jour-
nal, and I hope to contribute essays in the fu-
ture. In the meantime, the new chair of the 
Board of Editors, Professor Ross E. Davies 
of Antonin Scalia Law School, is doing a ter-
rific job in the role. An outstanding scholar 
and editor with a range of publications to 
his credit, Ross is surrounded by a stellar 
supporting cast, including Helen Knowles-
Gardner (Managing Editor), Mike Ross (As-
sociate Editor), Grier Stephenson, and Clare 
Cushman (Executive Editor). Thanks to all of 
them for their outstanding work. And, most 
importantly, thanks to all of you for reading!

of  the case through the eyes of  the legendary 
Supreme Court journalist Anthony Lewis. 
Having thoroughly mined Lewis’s notes, 
she offers a multi-layered narrative that has 
a moment-by-moment, on-the-ground feel. 
The essay brings readers close to the events 
of the day—both in the courtroom and in the 
state of Alabama—while also offering a de-
tailed account of the procedural complexities 
of the case. Knowles-Gardner, in addition to 
serving as Managing Editor of the Journal, 
is the Research Director at the Institute for 
Free Speech.

The other major struggle for justice dur-
ing the 1960s, apart from the Civil Rights 
Movement, involved the efforts of women to 
secure their rights. While the Warren Court 
earned a reputation for furthering the rights 
of  Black Americans, it failed to advance wom-
en’s rights in Hoyt v. Florida (1961), where 
it upheld a state law that all but excluded 
women from service on juries. Isabel Miller 
tells the fascinating story of the case by fo-
cusing on Dorothy Kenyon, one of the attor-
neys. According to Miller, despite failing to 
convince the justices in Hoyt, with her am-
icus brief Kenyon laid a foundation for later 
protections of the rights of women under the 
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment. Miller is a 2024 graduate of 
Georgetown University Law Center.

Finally, Donald Grier Stephenson, Jr. 
offers another edition of the “Judicial Book-
shelf.” Over the years, Grier has been inde-
fatigable in his commitment to this regular 
feature of the Journal, and this installment 
includes discussions of two works—a vol-
ume on FDR’s Court-packing Plan, and a 
biography of Justice Frank Murphy. Stephen-
son is the Charles A. Dana Professor of Gov-
ernment, Emeritus, at Franklin & Marshall 
College.
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Eugene Francis Brooks and Emma Juliana 
Burwell. Neither of these families can be 
traced earlier in federal censuses, but both 
were apparently free Blacks. Burwell is a 
well-known name in Virginia, and Eugene’s 
mother, who was probably also known as 
Julia, may have had family roots there; she 
seems to have been born in the District 
around 1835, and became a mother at an 
early age. In the 1870 census “Julia Brooks,” 
then aged thirty-five, is listed as “keeping 
house” with Eugene Brooks, aged nineteen, a 
“waiter at hotel” and a woman who may have 
been a lodger. This could be the earliest re-
cord of Eugene Brooks before he worked for 
the Supreme Court, and one of the few docu-
mented references to his mother. His father, 
Eugene Francis Brooks, may have already 
died. Brooks was a popular name in the Afri
can-American community in the District; 
many in the nineteenth century hailed from 
nearby Maryland, and this may have been 

Eugene Brooks was working as a bellhop 
at Arlington House in 1881 when his friend 
Jim Burke, a barber at the Willard Hotel, was 
cutting the hair of the newly confirmed As-
sociate Justice Stanley Matthews of the Su-
preme Court of the United States. Matthews 
casually mentioned that the Court was look-
ing for a suitable man to fill a vacancy on 
their messenger staff. Burke recommended 
Brooks, and his recommendation was ac-
cepted by the Court’s marshal, who oversaw 
staffing. Soon after, Brooks left his work at 
the hotel and began his career at the Supreme 
Court as the “messenger” for Chief Justice 
Morrison R. Waite. He was thirty-one years 
old, and his and his family’s life were dra-
matically transformed.1

Beginnings

Eugene Brooks, a native Washingtonian, 
was born on October 14, 1849, the son of 

“Judge” Eugene Brooks:  
Supreme Court Messenger, Proponent  
of Black Awareness, 1881–1926

Terence Walz
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where Eugene’s father came from. What little 
information is known about the parentage of 
Eugene Brooks comes from information pro-
vided on the not always reliable Findagrave 
website of Woodlawn Cemetery, Washing-
ton, D.C., where Eugene Brooks is buried. 
Except for the possible reference to them in 
the 1870 census, information about his fam-
ily’s origins remains uncorroborated by other 
documentary sources.2

Whether Eugene (Jr.) had any formal 
education in the local schools or was edu-
cated at home by his mother is unknown, but 
somewhere along the line he learned to read 
and write. The 1870 census indicates that in 
his early twenties he was working as a waiter, 
quite possibly employed at the National Hotel 

on Pennsylvania Avenue that was frequented 
by members of Congress and justices of the 
Court. One of his colleagues would have 
been Jim Burke, an African-American bar-
ber who later recalled their friendship. Burke 
subsequently moved to the Willard Hotel and 
Brooks moved to the Arlington Hotel, which, 
when it was erected in 1868, was the poshest 
in the city.3

Working as a hotel waiter at the National 
or the Arlington, by the early 1870s Brooks 
had earned enough money to consider mar-
riage, and in 1873 he and Oceana Everett, 
another Washingtonian, were married by Rev. 
Jeremiah E. Rankin, a celebrated preacher 
at the First Congregation Church whose 
parishioners included Frederick Douglass, 
John Mercer Langston, and Senator Blanche 
Bruce. These were among the most influential 
and powerfully connected Blacks in the City 
at this time. (Rev. Rankin went on to become 
the sixth president of Howard University.) 
Over the course of the next seven years, the 
Brooks family had five children: Norman 
Eugene (1875), Musette (1876), Everett Al-
phonzo (1878), Oceana (1879), and Covita 
(1880). All survived to adulthood except Co-
vita who was stricken by “cholera infantum” 
and died soon after (as noted in the 1880 
census by the census taker).4 In the 1870 cen-
sus Oceana Everett was listed as “at school,” 
and although she may not have received a 
high school education, she participated fully 
in Eugene’s life and held a prominent posi-
tion in their church and as an activist in her 
own right. Her mother, Catherine J. Everett, 
who was born in 1828 in Washington, was a 
dressmaker by profession; both she and her 
daughter were light-skinned, according to 
the 1870 census.5 From information in the 
Washington directories for the 1873 period, 
it would seem that the young couple first re-
sided in the home of  Oceana’s mother.6 In her 
older age, Catherine Everett earned money as 
a nurse and lived with the Brooks family until 
she died in 1914.7

Eugene Brooks was working as a bellhop at Arlington 
House in 1881 when his friend Jim Burke, a barber at 
the Willard Hotel, was cutting the hair of the newly 
confirmed Justice Stanley Matthews. Matthews casu-
ally mentioned that the Court was looking for a suit-
able man to fill a vacancy on their messenger staff. 
Soon after, Brooks left his work at the hotel and began 
his career at the Supreme Court as the “messenger” 
for Chief Justice Morrison R. Waite. He was thirty-one 
years old, and his and his family’s life were dramati-
cally transformed.
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Joining the Court’s Staff

According to records of the Supreme 
Court, Brooks was hired as a messenger in 
1881 and was assigned to Chief Justice Waite. 
When Waite died in 1888, Brooks joined the 
staff of his successor, Melville Weston Fuller.8 
His pay in the early days working for the Court 
would have been less than what was paid to-
ward the end of the century, but by then it 
was $3 a day, or about $90 a month for the 
months the Court was in session, enough to 
allow him to purchase a house and to provide 
for his family.9

The duties of a messenger varied accord-
ing to the justice he was assigned to (working 
for married justices often demanded extra 
duties). Messengers were considered “body-
servants,” and waited upon the justices not 
only at the Court, but also, when necessary, at 
their homes. At the Court they were respon-
sible for seeing that the justices were enrobed 
before proceeding into the Court chambers 
at twelve noon during Court sessions, and 
also bringing their luncheon during the ap-
pointed break at 2 p.m. They would arrange 
for carriages or other means of transportation 
to take the justices home, and then accom-
pany them back to their residences with court 
briefs the justices needed to study. They were 
also available to perform any number of per-
sonal errands as required by the justices. As 
Matthew Hofstedt has written, they were of-
ten asked to transmit official Court papers 
between the justices and to the Capitol, but 
never once were any of them known to betray 
information they might have learned about 
the decisions that the justices made.10

In March 1888, when Chief Justice Waite 
fell ill with pneumonia, he insisted upon at-
tending the Court, which was in session, in 
case his wife, who was away, might read 
about it in the newspapers and become wor-
ried. Brooks accompanied Waite home from 
the Court and nursed him until the doctor 
and a professional nurse arrived. Despite the 

efforts of various doctors and aides in atten-
dance, Waite died.11 President Grover Cleve-
land nominated Melville Weston Fuller to the 
position, but Fuller was not confirmed by the 
Senate until the summer. He was formally in-
stalled in October 1888.

Brooks was assigned to the new chief 
justice and, while waiting for the Fullers to 
arrive, he was asked to look after the house 
that they had decided to rent. During Sep-
tember, the newly appointed chief justice’s 
wife Molly Fuller and her eldest daughter 
Mamie came to Washington to inspect the 
house the chief justice had rented on upper 
14th Street—a place called “Belmont” but 
locally known as “Barber’s Castle” after the 
builder, Amzi Barber.12 On the evening they 
arrived, they drove to the house and saw that 
the lights were on. They knocked and were 
let in by “the colored man, Brooks and his 
son,” Molly wrote in a letter to her husband 
describing her trip. This was the first meeting 
between Brooks (and his son, Norman) and 
members of the Fuller family.13

For the next twenty-two years, Brooks 
was virtually a daily companion of the chief 
justice during the court terms that lasted 
from October to June. He would have been 
responsible for enrobing the justice in the 
Court’s cloak room, seeing to the prepara-
tion of  the chief’s lunch (Fuller was known 
for favoring simple “New England” food), 
arranging for his carriage when he wasn’t 
taking the streetcar (a favorite mode of 
transportation for the chief justice), or per-
haps feeding the parrot that Fuller would 
occasionally bring to Court.14 A primary 
duty would have been to take the briefs of 
court cases the “Chief ” would assign to 
various justices from the Court to his home 
or to other places in the capital after cases 
were assigned to individual justices. Once he 
moved into his home on F Street, purchased 
in 1896,15 the chief justice began holding 
meetings of the justices in the South Parlor 
of the house on Saturdays (the room where 
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Chief Justice John Marshall convened the jus-
tices who boarded at the house during the 
1832 and 1833 Terms). After a discussion of 
the upcoming cases, assignments would have 
been made and cases allotted to the justices 
according to their special expertise. Brooks 

would have then been asked to distribute the 
cases throughout the city. Fuller tended to 
distribute the assignments on Mondays, after 
observing the Christian sabbath. This would 
have suited Brooks very well since he was an 
active churchgoer himself.

This 1894 illustration features head-and-shoulders portraits of chief justices, flanked by allegorical female fig-
ures of Justice and Liberty. Brooks worked as a messenger for two of these chief justices—Morrison R. Waite 
and Melville Weston Fuller.
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Brooks and the chief justice seem to have 
got on very well, although this is not surpris-
ing, given the genial and easy-going nature 
of  both. During the early stages of their rela-
tionship, Brooks and his family were living 
at 1706 V Street, within walking distance of 
the chief justice’s house when he moved to 
1800 Massachusetts Ave. In the 1892 Wash-
ington Directory, Brooks gave his address 
as “1800 Massachusetts Ave.,” although it 
seems unlikely that he was living there since 
he had a wife and four children—but if they 
were, it would only have been temporary. The 
following year he was back at 1706 V Street. 
In 1896, when the chief justice moved to 
1801 F Street, Brooks and his family moved 
to a house they bought at 1437 Pierce Place, 
where they lived until 1910.16

Brooks seems also to have got on well 
with the other justices and their clerks/stenog-
raphers, who may have fed him information 

from time to time to give to the “Chief.” In 
May 1907, for example, Fuller wrote the fol-
lowing to Justice Holmes: “My messenger, 
Brooks [underscored], has just called my at-
tention to an item in the issue of ‘Law Notes’ 
for May stating that my friend Collins Master 
of the Rolls has been ‘promoted’ to be ‘Lord 
of Appeal in Ordinary’ in succession to Lord 
Davey.”17 Someone in the Court who read 
Law Notes remembered that the chief justice 
had worked closely with Sir Robert Collins 
when he was one of the members of the Brit-
ish Venezuela Commission in 1898 (and that 
the chief justice had been the American ar-
bitrator). This was the kind of tidbit that was 
passed on to Brooks for him to relay/give to 
the “Chief.”18

The domestic staff of the Fuller house at 
the end of the nineteenth century consisted of 
four Black women, one of whom was cook 
while the others served as house servants, 

While waiting for Chief Justice Fuller and his family to arrive in Washington in 1888, Brooks was asked to look 
after this house that they had decided to rent on upper 14th Street—a place called “Belmont” but locally known 
as “Barber’s Castle” after the builder, Amzi Barber. When the newly appointed chief justice’s wife Molly, and her 
eldest daughter Mamie, arrived in September to inspect the house, they were let in by “the colored man, Brooks 
and his son.” This was the first meeting between Brooks (and his son, Norman) and members of the Fuller family.
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cooks, or nurses. Both the chief justice and 
Mrs. Fuller relied heavily on the assistance of 
one of them in particular—Julia Brooks (no 
relation), who worked for the Fullers from the 
early nineties until her marriage in 1903.19 
We can assume that when Eugene accompa-
nied the chief justice, he entered and exited 
via the front door of the house and did not 
use the side door that the servants used. The 
chief justice was solicitous of the staff who 
worked for the Court, including the Black 
messengers, and would call, like the other 
justices, on sick members and attend the fu-
nerals of departed ones.20

Activism for a Better Life, and Promotion 
of Black Culture in the District

Just before being employed as a mes-
senger—or Court attaché, as some Black 
journalists preferred to call the position21—
Brooks joined one of the masonic lodges 
established for African Americans that had 
grown by leaps and bounds after the Civil 
War. The Grand United Order of Odd Fellows 
was founded in 1843 in the United States as 
separate from the Independent Order of Odd 
Fellows, the white organization that then 
discriminated against African Americans.22 
The chief aim of the organization was to 
provide for widows, orphans, and the sick, 
helping with the cost of funerals and mak-
ing charitable contributions where needed 
to indigent family members. The earliest of 
the Black lodges in the District of Columbia 
was founded in Alexandria in March 1846, 
followed by the formation of a Union Friend-
ship lodge in Washington City in September. 
It was considered the mother lodge of all the 
other city lodges. Its founders included John 
Cook, Sr., one of the pre-eminent African-
American leaders in the District in the post 
Reconstruction period.23

Brooks joined the newly formed Mt. 
Olive Lodge in 1880 and soon became the 
treasurer. It was one of several dozen lodges 

of the Grand United Order that were estab-
lished in the District of Columbia by the end 
of the century, totaling more than 2,000 mem-
bers.24 At Mt. Olive lodge, Brooks showed 
an aptitude for finance and organization, and 
his work there and in the larger organization 
was the subject of a profile that ran in 1889 
in The Leader, a short-lived African-American 
newspaper published in Alexandria by Magnus 
Robinson and Frederick Douglass, Jr.25 Brooks 
was appointed chairman of the organizers 
planning the celebration of the forty-fourth 
anniversary of the founding of Grand United 
Order in 1889.26 As reported in white and Afri
can-American papers, some 3,000 members 
marched in impressive array from the lodge 
headquarters near C Street up Pennsylvania 

This illustration is entitled “Off the Bench.” It depicts 
Brooks working as a Supreme Court messenger for 
Chief Justice Melville W. Fuller. It appeared in Leslie’s 
Weekly on June 14, 1894.
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Avenue to the White House where the march-
ers were reviewed by President Benjamin 
Harrison and other high ranking government 
officials. As a leading organizer, Brooks’ 
head was sketched, among other leaders, for 
the Washington Post’s report.27 Marchers, led 
by Grand Marshal Magnus Robinson, in-
cluded members of lodges from nearby cities 
and states. For several years Brooks contrib-
uted his organizing and financial skills to the 
success of these yearly marches, but as the 
1890s progressed, he lessened his participa-
tion in masonic events and turned his ener-
gies elsewhere.

By the end of the year Eugene had also 
joined several “relief associations.” Early on 
he was treasurer of the United Aid Society, 
and was also elected vice president of one of 
the newer and more energetic ones, the Fred-
erick Douglass Relief Association, which 
included many elite Blacks among its mem-
bership.28 Like many of the relief associa-
tions, it provided funds for members on sick 

leave and a death benefit.29 Toward the end 
of the century the organization was particu-
larly keen to agitate for useful and appropri-
ate employment for the growing number of 
educated young Black men and women who 
had graduated from high school and needed 
jobs.30

Brooks and William H. Bruce, also a Su-
preme Court messenger, combined energies 
to form yet another benevolent association 
called United Friends Association and, in 
1914, purchased a property for the use of the 
association.31 Bruce, who was a decade older 
than Brooks, had been brought up in Virginia 
and early emerged as a leader in improving 
the lives of young Blacks. He had been one of 
the founders of the Douglass Club in Alexan-
dria,32 benefiting the local Black community. 
Later he and his wife are found hobnobbing 
with the District’s African-American elite, 
passengers on a cruise in 1884 down the 
Potomac on the steamer “W. W. Corcoran” 
headed to Glymont, a resort popular among 
Blacks at the time.33 (It is interesting to note 
that Brooks was not among the passengers on 
this trip, suggesting that he was not yet as-
sociating with this elite.) Of the work of the 
United Friends Association little is known 
and perhaps little came of it. By the time it 
had been formed, Bruce seems to have fallen 
on hard times. In 1919, he committed sui-
cide, reportedly despondent over his finances 
and his and his wife’s poor health.34

Other relief associations Brooks belonged 
to were the Men’s Cliff Rock Relief Associa-
tion and the Ladies Cliff Rock Relief Asso-
ciation, among the many relief associations 
that sprung up in the city during this time.35 
As pointed out by Andrew Hilyer in his sur-
vey of these benevolent associations, the per-
centage of Blacks who participated in them 
was higher as a group than their white coun-
terparts, and reflected an awareness of the 
problems of the poor in the African-Amer-
ican community. But they were nonetheless 
a relatively small group of individuals and 

Brooks was heavily involved in his community, and 
Washington, D.C. newspapers often made mention 
of his activities. His work at Mt. Olive lodge was the 
subject of this 1889 profile that ran in The Leader, a 
short-lived African-American newspaper published in 
Alexandria by Magnus Robinson and Frederick Doug-
lass, Jr.
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not nearly as rich as members of the white 
community. Given the enormous numbers 
of impoverished Blacks seeking refuge in 
the city in the decades following the Civil 
War, these organizations could hardly keep 
up with the need for financial assistance and, 
consequently, were unfairly criticized for not 
doing enough.36

But the most important organization 
Brooks joined was St. Luke’s Episcopal 
Church, which was established by the char-
ismatic Dr. Alexander Crummel, a major 
early abolitionist voice and leader in the 
civil rights movement who was also a strong 
proponent of African-American self-help and 
separate economic development.37 He had 
come to Washington to minister to St. Mary’s 
Episcopal Mission in Georgetown in 1872 
and then set up St. Luke’s Episcopal Church 
in 1876, the first independent African-
American Episcopal church in the city. The 
church held its first communion in 1880. It 
was designed by Calvin T. S. Brent, the first 
Black architect in the District of Columbia. 
Crummel served as minister there until his 
retirement in 1894. Brooks was elected a 
vestryman in 1897 and became treasurer in 
1910.38 Soon he was using his organizing 
skills on behalf of the church, helping to ar-
range for streetcars to be made available to 
parishioners participating in an annual picnic 
outing to Lake View Park.39 Oceana enlisted 
as a member of the Ladies Auxiliary and at 
times hosted “all-you-can-eat” pancake par-
ties at their home for an admission fee of five 
cents to benefit the ladies’ work.40 The Regis-
ter of the church was Shermonte Lewis, son 
of John Archibald Lewis, another Supreme 
Court messenger. Among its ranking mem-
bers was Daniel Murray, assistant librarian of 
Congress and a leading intellectual force in 
the local community.41

The Brooks family made their home at 
1437 Pierce Place in northwest Washington 
where weddings of family members were 
celebrated along with funerals of friends and 

family. The house was within walking dis-
tance of St. Luke’s. Mrs. Brooks’ mother 
lived with them until her death in 1914.42 
They also rented rooms to old friends and 
colleagues. John Craig, a fellow messenger 
at the Supreme Court, was boarding there in 
1900, according to the census. When he died 
in 1908, the funeral was held at the Brooks 
home and was attended by the pastors of the 
A.M.E. Church and St. Luke’s Episcopal 
Church, as well as Chief Justice Fuller and 
Justice Holmes.43 In 1910, the Brooks fam-
ily decided to move to another townhouse at 
1832 13th Street, near T Street, where they 
would remain the rest of their lives.44

Due to his work with the masonic lodges, 
and St. Luke’s Church, and especially with 
the highest-ranking member of the Supreme 
Court, Brooks emerged at the turn of the 
twentieth century as a prominent figure in 
Washington’s African-American community. 
He was invited to attend an imposing banquet 
honoring Judson Lyons, the new Register of 
the Treasury—one of the few high govern-
ment positions opened to Blacks—along 
with a throng of prominent personalities.45 
He was made an honorary member of the 
select Cosmos Club in 1899—not to be con-
fused with the present-day Cosmos Club but 
clearly an imitation of it46—along with such 
local Black aristocrats as former Senator P.B. 
Pinchback, John F. Cook, Jr. (former District 
of Columbia tax collector), Jerome Johnson, 
Henry C. Baker, Dr. John R. Francis (head 
of the Freedman’s Hospital), and Professor 
R.H. Terrell (lawyer, and principal of the M 
Street High School). While the club existed, 
it continued to attract members of Black 
“society.”47 Brooks started attending events 
of the Pen and Pencil Club, one of the best-
known societies for African-American men 
in the country that started out as a literary 
society but turned its focus to social matters. 
Of Brooks’ attendance at a picnic of the so-
ciety in August, a columnist for the Colored 
American noted that “ ‘Judge’ Eugene Brooks 
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looked as happy as if he had disposed of an-
other Porto Rican discussion.”48 The allusion 
in this case was to the Downes v. Bidwell case 
in which the Supreme Court ruled in May 
1901, deciding that the Constitution did not 
necessarily apply to territories such as Puerto 
Rico which had been annexed in 1900.49 
Clearly his special link to the chief justice 
was widely known and admiringly felt—and 
also earned him the label “judge.”

Early on, Brooks was drafted to help 
with efforts by the local Black community to 
welcome out-of-towners coming to Washing-
ton for presidential inaugural ceremonies. In 
light of existing discriminatory practices in 
most hotels and restaurants, Brooks, among 
many local citizens, wanted to be sure guests 
were received with dignity. In 1897, he was 
among the members planning a reception for 
Blacks attending the first of the two McKin-
ley inaugurals. Daniel Murray was one of 
many prominent Blacks on the committee. 
In 1901, Murray angled for an appointment 
on the executive committee of the inaugural 
festivities, but was not given a seat; he was 
allowed to organize a “public comfort no. 2 
committee,” charged with “looking after all 
the colored organizations and visitors com-
ing to the inaugural ceremonies.”50 The com-
mittee then organized a gala ball held at the 
Washington Light Infantry Armory.51 At this 
event, Brooks served on the Reception Com-
mittee. As the Washington Bee reported,

The most brilliant and fashionable 
ball ever given in this city was given 
by the Inaugural Welcome Club 
at the Washington Light Infantry 
Armory on last Tuesday evening, 
March 5th. The occasion was a wel-
come to strangers by the citizens of 
Washington and the residents of the 
States temporarily residing in the 
city. There were over four hundred 
guests present, presenting the best 
society in the United States.52

Brooks served in similar capacities on sub-
committees “for Colored Citizens” for the 
Roosevelt and Taft inaugurals, although 
under Wilson inaugural festivities were not 
held. Under Harding, there was a similar 
omission, but Brooks, in his capacity as pres-
ident of the Oldest Inhabitants (Colored), or-
ganized a gala anyway (see below).

Brooks’ work on the Inaugural Recep-
tion Committee in 1901 must have impressed 
Andrew Hilyer, an African-American lawyer 
and businessman who served on the com-
mittee with him. When Hilyer’s wife Mamie 
returned from England where she met the 
British-Sierra Leonean composer Samuel 
Coleridge-Taylor, she became enthusias-
tic about his music and was impressed by 
the success he enjoyed. Once at home, she 
headed a committee to form the Samuel 
Coleridge-Taylor Choral Society with the 
purpose of inviting the composer to come 
to Washington to direct one of his widely 
praised and performed choral oratorios.53 
Many prominent Black figures in Washington 
were asked to join the executive committee, 
including Brooks. Incorporation papers were 
filed in 1903, with Brooks among leading 
personalities that included John F. Cook and 
Daniel Murray, and prominent musicians and 
performers John T. Layton, Harriet Gibbs, 
and Marie Johnson, all of whom served on 
the Board of Managers.54 As soon as the soci-
ety was formed, a performance of Coleridge-
Taylor’s work “Hiawatha” was planned for 
the spring. It was performed in 1904 at the 
Convention Hall before a huge crowd of 
3,000 and a choral body of 200 “colored” 
singers. The audience included a sprinkling 
of cabinet members and diplomats. Out of 
towners came for the performance, includ-
ing a reporter from the New York Times who 
was enthralled by the performance. In his 
account of it, he wondered about its larger 
implications—that [white] people expecting 
to hear an imperfect choral group because of 
the color of their skin left wondering if they 
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had ever heard such good music in the city 
before.55

Brooks was named vice president of 
the Board of Managers of the Choral Soci-
ety in 1905, and additional performances of 
the oratorios were commissioned in 1906. 
Coleridge-Taylor returned to conduct the 
concerts, staying at the home of a friend who 
invited members of the Society, including 
Brooks, to greet him.56 However, the con-
certs were performed in a smaller venue, 
the American Methodist Episcopal Church 
on M Street, and, consequently, revenues 
from the event failed to meet expenditures. 
Nonetheless, the hope of its members—that 
Coleridge-Taylor’s presence and the perfor-
mance of his music would inspire young Af-
rican-American men and women to follow in 
his footsteps—was fulfilled. Music had be-
come a great component of the city’s Black 
culture and remained an abiding part of both 
Eugene and Oceana Brooks’ lives.57

Increasingly Brooks was recognized as 
a member of the Black elite of the city. He 
and Oceana were invited to important wed-
dings and social occasions that were attended 
by leaders of the community. Often, they 
were accompanied by their daughter Musette, 
who was then in her twenties and a popular 
teacher in the public schools.58

Of special importance for Brooks were 
the words and teachings of Booker T. Wash-
ington, the most prominent African-Amer-
ican leader at the turn of the century, who 
put forward a go-slow program of integra-
tion between the two races that emphasized 
self-improvement through educational and 
economic achievement. This contrasted with 
the approach of  W.E.B. DuBois who sought 
to challenge the political structure.59 With-
out any personal statement on his feelings, 
it would accord with Brooks’ own easy and 
personally successful accommodation with 
establishment whites, whether in service at 
hotels or at the Supreme Court. It was in line 
with both his and his wife’s emphasis on 

the importance of education in advancing 
their futures. When Washington came to the 
city in 1904 to address an audience of elite 
Blacks at the Odd Fellows Hall on his beliefs 
for a way forward for the Negro race, Brooks 
attended.60 The following year, Eugene and 
Oceana traveled to New York to listen to 
Washington speak at a business convention.61 
There can be little doubt that Brooks’ under-
standing of progress for his people paralleled 
Washington’s teachings.

Brooks, like many prominent Blacks, 
closely followed the progress of the state 
of Liberia, which, along with the kingdom 
of Abyssinia (Ethiopia), withstood the on-
slaught of European control. Liberia was 
one of the few states where African Ameri-
cans were allowed to serve as members of 
the foreign service.62 It had also been where 
Alexander Crummel, Brooks’ early pastor at 
St. Luke’s, had worked as a missionary and 
whose life and teachings influenced the later 
Pan Africanist movement. Brooks attended 
a mammoth gala reception and dinner at the 
Masonic Lodge on 19th Street in 1909 given 
for the U.S. minister to Liberia, Ernest Lyon, 
Bishop I. B. Scott, the Missionary bishop of 
the Methodist Church to Africa, and Wash-
ington. The speakers applauded the efforts of 
both Blacks and whites to support the suc-
cess of the government and to help spread 
Christianity in Liberia. A letter from Presi-
dent William Howard Taft, applauding the 
efforts of all, was read out at the banquet. It 
was considered by local papers to have been 
the greatest gathering of notable Blacks ever 
assembled in the city.63

When it was announced that the 300th 
anniversary of the founding of the American 
colony at Jamestown would be celebrated 
with a fair and exhibition, Brooks joined a 
group of prominent local Americans of Afri-
can origin anxious to right a wrong that had 
been made in previous celebrations. In both 
1876 and 1893 there was a failure to include 
exhibitions highlighting the achievements 
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of African Americans since the founding 
of Jamestown in 1607. Spearheaded by the 
Negro Development and Exposition Com-
pany of Richmond, Brooks was named to the 
board of managers—Daniel Murray was vice 
president—and the local group raised a mod-
est sum of money for the exhibition hall. 
Fortunately, the U.S. government earmarked 
$100,000 for construction expenses, and the 
project was able to proceed. The resulting 
exhibition was one of the best attended at 
the hall and drew attention to the achieve-
ments of African Americans over the last 300 
years. The exhibits were many and included 
a variety of crafts made by Black businesses, 
paintings and exhibitions of folk singings by 
renowned choruses from Black colleges.64 It 
seems very likely that Eugene and Oceana 
traveled to Jamestown to view the exhibition.

Death of the Chief Justice and Greater  
Attention to Cultural Activities

In 1910, Chief Justice Fuller died while 
he was at his summer home in Maine. His 
spirits had been dealt a blow when Molly, 
his wife of nearly forty years, died in 1904, 
and his mental deterioration in later years 
was noticed even by President Taft. Brooks, 
who worked with him every day while he was 
in Washington, must also have been aware, 
and one wonders if he was asked to perform 
any special duties in the chief  justice’s final 
years. After the chief ’s death, Brooks was 
assigned to work at the Supreme Court mar-
shal’s office rather than to a specific justice, 
and his duties may have lessened. He would 
have been sixty-one at the time of Fuller’s 
death. Less onerous duties would have al-
lowed him time to devote himself more ener-
getically to work outside the Supreme Court. 
It was also this year that Brooks and his wife 
moved from their home on Pierce Place (now 
Swann Street) to a new house at 1832 13th 
Street—still in the U Street Corridor section 
of the city where many prominent Blacks 

lived—where they would remain the rest of 
their lives.65

Between the end of the Civil War and the 
beginning of the twentieth century, the popu-
lation of  Washington city almost quadrupled, 
jumping from 75,000 in 1860 to 278,000 in 
1900. Much of the population growth was in 
the Black community, as thousands moved 
to the city in hopes of better jobs and living 
conditions. In the white community, the reac-
tion to the influx of immigrants during the 
Civil War and newly wealthy people from all 
over the country in later decades of the cen-
tury persuaded the older generation of resi-
dents to form an association to preserve the 
traditional ways and particular histories of 
Washington. The association, known as the 
Oldest Inhabitants of the District of Colum-
bia, was formed in 1865, by a group of lead-
ing citizens, among them John Carroll Brent, 
Benjamin Ogle Tayloe, and Peter Force, all 
members of the white elite. William Corco-
ran, a banker, art collector and philanthro-
pist, was an early member.66

There was a similar if delayed response 
from the Black inhabitants of Washington 
at the turn of the century, and in 1912 they 
formed their own association, also called 
the Association of the Oldest Inhabitants of 
the District of Columbia, although amended 
with added parentheses “(Colored).” The as-
sociation, which was incorporated in 1916 
when it had some 153 members, was formed 
with the object “to cement and strengthen 
the interests and associations arising out of a 
common residence for a long period; to keep 
alive the reminiscences of the past; to stimu-
late social and fraternal communion and to 
promote intercourse and friendship among 
its members.”67 The founding president was 
Jerome A. Johnson, a Civil War veteran and 
a well-known stalwart of the older generation 
of African Americans; Brooks was one of the 
five vice-presidents of the organization in the 
early days. From the beginning, the organiza-
tion was embraced by the African-American 
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newspaper The Washington Bee, which, in a 
column, praised its goals of preserving the 
“Negro’s” history and what the community 
had already achieved. The writer William 
C. Chase (who was undoubtedly the paper’s 
editor) proudly pointed to member Meshach 
Nugent’s remark that when his uncle died in 
1861, the Supreme Court “adjourned” in or-
der to attend the funeral, and that Blacks had 
fought in the militia defending Washington 
during the War of 1812.68  The AOI (Colored) 
made an effort to mark the emancipation of 
its citizens on April 16 every year with a cel-
ebratory banquet, and the event was consid-
ered a highpoint of the organization’s calen-
dar year.

John Paynter, a clerk in the Treasury 
Department and a descendant of one of the 
enslaved people who tried to escape on the 
steamboat Pearl in a famous incident in 
1847, was named “historian” of the associa-
tion at an early point. In a booklet prepared 
for the 1914 annual April meeting, he paid 
homage to Benjamin Banneker, the math-
ematician and astronomer who had helped 
Pierre L’Enfant lay out plans for the city of 
Washington, and used his life of achievement 
as a model for other African Americans to re-
trieve the genius and achievements of other 
as yet unknown men and women of the city. 
He pointed with pride to what had already 
been accomplished in fifty years of freedom, 
but also noted that the “abominable” prac-
tice of segregation now being implemented 
by the Wilson Administration should in fact 
be viewed as a blessing in disguise. Blacks 
should respond with proper indignity to this 
assault on their pride, and Paynter noted with 
satisfaction that the association had donated 
$25 to the newly created National Associa-
tion for the Advancement of Colored People 
in fighting acts of segregation.

In 1916, Johnson stepped down and 
Brooks was elected president.69 During the 
following six years with the organization, 
Brooks brought a new energy to the group; 

he seems to have emphasized its cultural 
and social programs rather than political ef-
forts to provide the city of  Washington with 
strong, even independent, institutions, free 
from government control. In this, the group 
greatly differed from its “white” counterpart, 
which often submitted proposals for provid-
ing Washingtonians with the vote and with 
statehood.70 In his effort to revitalize the or-
ganization, Brooks planned annual picnics in 
parks in Anacostia, worked with churches to 
provide special programs on the cultural his-
tory of African Americans, and invited fea-
tured speakers at the AOI’s regular meetings 
to discuss the outstanding contributions by 
local Blacks or to discuss the state of race 
relations in other parts of the country. The 
Washington Bee usually covered the AOI’s 
activities, citing among other events a “mon-
ster meeting” that Brooks was preparing to 
celebrate Emancipation Day in 1918.71 In 
1917 it drew attention to the invitation that 
the AOI (Colored) had received to meet 
with the AOI (White), and that “pleasant 
words” had been exchanged. Brooks and his 
fellow members were shown a 20-foot sec-
tion of the survey chain that had been used by 
Benjamin Banneker in the original surveying 
of the District. Another meeting between the 
two groups took place in 1919.72

The declaration of war on Germany in 
April 1917 was followed by the enlistment 
of almost 400,000 African Americans in the 
military. Their contribution to the war effort 
and treatment by the army became a rallying 
point for the Black community in the Dis-
trict, as members demonstrated their wish 
to be treated as full citizens. At the “monster 
meeting” mentioned above, Brooks and the 
AOI (Colored) invited Emmett Scott, a spe-
cial representative of  Secretary of  War New-
ton Baker, Jr. and the highest ranking African 
American in the Wilson government, to talk 
about reports that Blacks were being dis-
criminated against in the army and subjected 
to unfair treatment. Scott answered heated 
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questions posed to him in a mild and earnest 
manner, and he was able to ease the tension 
in the room. He said that the secretary of war 
was doing everything he could “to make the 
lot of the Negro soldier a happy one.”73 In 
fact, Blacks in the military continued to be 
treated badly, and reports of their situation 
were the subject of meetings of the AOI in 
1919. Regardless, Brooks made a donation to 
the war effort on behalf of the AOI (Colored) 
by subscribing to a $100 bond in April.

But that summer, tensions between Black 
soldiers (back from the front or on leave from 
their camps) and whites erupted in the worst 
race riot Washington had witnessed in eighty 
years. Gangs of white men, reacting to ru-
mors that a Black had raped a white soldier’s 
wife, roamed Black neighborhoods torch-
ing businesses and houses while the police 
stood by doing little or nothing to stop the 
rampage. After four days the National Guard 
was called in to quell the riot. The riot was 
only part of the racial unrest that broke out all 
over the country that summer. The AOI un-
der Brooks raised $135 as a contribution to 
the defense fund for African Americans who 
were charged with offenses during the riot. 
We can only imagine the horror that Brooks, 
his family, and his friends felt at the events 
unfolding in their hometown.74

We do not know the full extent of 
Oceana’s participation in the activist world 
of late nineteenth-century Washington, but 
she was a member of the “Mother’s Meeting” 
standing committee of the Colored Women’s 
League of the United States, founded by 
leading “aristocrats of color” in 1892, includ-
ing Mary Church Terrell, a teacher at the M 
Street School. Terrell was also a founding 
member of the National Association for the 
Advancement of Colored People.75

Parenting with Purpose

During the time that Eugene was work-
ing as a Messenger for the Supreme Court 

and with the secure salary it provided, his 
children were being put through the city’s 
schools. Like many Black parents, Eugene 
and Oceana wanted their children to have the 
advantages of education that would lead to 
better jobs, and, in Washington at the end of 
the nineteenth century, that usually meant the 
civil service for men and teaching in the pub-
lic schools for women. The Brooks children 
appear to have followed the typical trajectory 
for elite Black families.

Eugene’s eldest son, Norman, graduated 
from the public school and then attended the 
business school, perhaps at night, from which 
he graduated in 1892. There he would have 
studied accounting and shorthand, usually 
required for young men and women pursuing 
a career in the civil service. With this train-
ing, he then enrolled in Howard University’s 
Pharmaceutical College, possibly with the 
idea of going into the medical field. However, 
he seems to have been offered a civil service 
job in the Treasury Department (through his 
father’s connections?). This seems to have 
been his career, and he was given raises 
along with other civil services in 1904, for 
example.76 He married, lived in various parts 
of the city during his life, and like his father, 
joined relief associations that provided aid to 
poorer families during periods of sickness 
and help cover funeral costs.77 He remained 
a member of St. Luke’s Church. Only fifty, 
he died in 1925. He and his wife had no 
children.

The Brooks’ eldest daughter Musette, 
and their son Everett Alphonzo, both gradu-
ated in 1894 from the new “colored” high 
school built on M Street and then known 
as the M Street School.78 Musette became 
a high school teacher, presumably at the M 
Street School, before marrying. Everett en-
tered Howard University’s dental college but 
dropped out when he, too, decided to teach 
in the high school before becoming a postal 
worker, his occupation for the remainder of 
his life.79
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In 1895, however, in an incident that 
underlined the city’s racist history, Everett 
and a friend of his named Arthur Lynch were 
standing on the corner of Pierce and 14th 
Streets, near where the Brooks family home 
was, when they were arrested by a policeman 
for “loitering with the intention to commit 
a crime.” They were taken to the police sta-
tion but were released because, according 
to the report in the Evening Star, “they were 
respectable and evidently meant no offence.” 
Perhaps the police were reminded that Ev-
erett’s father worked for the chief justice 
of the United States. Regardless, the judge 
commended the policeman for “endeavor-
ing to break up the practice of lingering on 
street corners.”80 The repercussions of this 
incident must have registered strongly with 
the family, providing a shock to Eugene who 
may have expected his association with the 
city’s powerful whites to provide him and 
his family protection from such personal 
affrontery.

Musette Brooks was married at the 
Brooks home in 1904 to a lawyer named 
Eugene Monroe Gregory, who had been edu-
cated at Harvard, then took a law degree at 
the Columbia School of Law in the District. 
Gregory completed a year at Harvard Uni-
versity Law School the the following year 
(1898–99), but he decided to take a job in 
Washington teaching history at the M Street 
School, where he met Musette. The couple 
subsequently moved to Trenton, where Greg-
ory joined a law practice and later became 
the principal of a successful school for train-
ing young Black men in industrial and man-
ual work in Bordentown, New Jersey.81

In New Jersey, Musette joined several 
African-American social clubs, and through 
them helped organize women to campaign 
for the vote in 1915 when an amendment for 
women’s suffrage was put on the ballot in the 
general election. Although the amendment 
failed to attain voter approval, Musette con-
tinued to work with activists and helped form 

the Federation of Colored Women’s Clubs, 
which became a major force in advancing 
the women’s suffrage issue in the state. The 
Nineteenth Amendment was ratified in 1920. 
By then, Musette had joined the NAACP and 
was working on other issues when she sud-
denly died in 1921.82

The youngest Brooks daughter, Oceana 
Everett Brooks, became a teacher after grad-
uating from high school. For many years she 
lived with her parents on Pierce Street and 
then 13th Street. In the late twenties, she 
married Robert Henry Marshall, who joined 
the Supreme Court as a laborer in 1926 and 
then became a Messenger, working in the 
Robing Room from 1927 until 1956.83 His 
employment at the Court shows the respect 
the Marshal’s office retained for Eugene 
Brooks. Oceana remained a teacher through-
out her life and was a member of several 
charitable groups and clubs, including the 
Masonic lodge for colored women known as 
Prince Hall Chapter No. 5, the Helping Hand 
Club of the Baptist Church, and the Teach-
ers’ Benefit Association. She died in 1957. 
None of the children of  Eugene and Oceana 
Brooks had children of their own.

A Life Well Lived

Born into poverty in the District, Eu-
gene Brooks made his way in the confusing 
post-Civil War period through the ranks of 
positions permitted to Blacks—waiter, hotel 
clerk, bellhop—and by luck, to a position as 
Messenger to the second ranking person in 
the country, the chief justice of the United 
States. Through this connection he was in-
herently linked to the glorified world of the 
justices and members of the highest political 
class. The proximity to people in power el-
evated his stature in the local African-Amer-
ican community and allowed Eugene and 
Oceana to join “the old families” of color. At 
this time, Washington was the center of the 
Black aristocracy in the United States.84
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As the twentieth century progressed, 
Brooks must have been saddened by the 
steady infringements on privileges for Blacks, 
the segregation of facilities in government 
offices ordered by the Wilson administration, 
and the growing tensions between the races 
as Blacks assumed a larger presence in the 
army and the work force. Brooks may have 
rejoiced, as many Black leaders in Wash-
ington did, in saying farewell to Woodrow 
Wilson. As president of the AOI (Colored), 
Brooks had forgone inaugural balls during 
the two terms of the Wilson administrations, 
but with the new Harding administration 
elected in 1920, a great gala was organized 
at the Convention Center was March 1921. 
It was the last year of Brooks’ term as presi-
dent. The Black elite of the town turned out 
for the event, and Brooks asked Mrs. Daniel 
Murray, wife of an assistant librarian at the 
Library of Congress and a personage in her 

own right, to help him lead the grand march. 
It was no doubt a highlight of his term as 
president and of his life in a member of the 
“old families.”85

During the remaining few years, Eu-
gene and Oceana kept their distance from 
the more radical politics of the Black com-
munity. They never became members of the 
Washington branch of the NAACP, despite 
the work their daughter did as a member in 
New Jersey. While he retained his position 
in the Marshal’s office at the Supreme Court, 
Eugene settled into retirement in his activi-
ties outside the office. Sadly, two of the cou-
ple’s children died at young ages, Musette in 
1921, and Norman in 1925. Both were bur-
ied in Woodlawn Cemetery in Washington, 
DC, where Eugene joined them the follow-
ing year.86 Many prominent Black Washing-
tonians are buried there, although, today, the 
cemetery has fallen into disrepair.87

When Eugene Brooks died on February 
21, 1926, funeral notices appeared in several 
local papers. According to an out-of-town 
newspaper, the St. Paul Echo, the funeral ser-
vice on March 5 was attended by Chief Jus-
tice Taft, and Associate Justices Willis Van 
Devanter and James Clark McReynolds, and 
the Court sent a magnificent floral piece. It 
was “a striking tribute to the worth of one of 
its oldest messengers,” the article observed. 
As the funeral notice concluded, “His service 
dated back to Chief Justice Waite, and he was 
intimately known by all the great jurists that 
have since stepped across the stage of the 
court.”88
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returning to the Heart of Dixie. Everyone—
the NAACP and Alabama alike—knew what 
would happen to those (mostly) Black Amer-
icans if their membership in the organization 
was disclosed to the state government. On 
June 30, 1958, in NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. 
Patterson,3 the Supreme Court unanimously 
ruled that such action was prohibited by the 
Constitution’s First and Fourteenth Amend-
ment guarantees of associational freedom.

This didn’t make a blind bit of difference 
in Alabama, where the attorney general, his 
assistants, and complicit state judges, just 
kept acting as if they were bound by nei-
ther the Supreme Court nor the Constitution. 
Indeed, not even three decisions from the 

Tuesday March 24, 1964, was a pleasant 
spring day in the nation’s capital, with the tem-
perature climbing up to seventy degrees.1 In-
side the Supreme Court, the justices gathered 
to hear oral arguments in three cases. One of 
those arguments came in NAACP v. Alabama 
ex rel. Flowers.2 Almost eight years earlier, on 
June 1, 1956, the attorney general of Alabama 
secured a temporary restraining order, im-
mediately prohibiting the National Associa-
tion for the Advancement of Colored People 
(NAACP) from doing business in the state.

As part of the exceptionally protracted 
litigation that followed, Alabama tried to 
compel the association to turn over copies 
of its membership lists as a condition of 

“The ct is disposed to consider 
the merits…Wow!”: Anthony Lewis 
Takes Us Inside the Oral Arguments 
in NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Flowers 
(1964)

Helen J. Knowles-Gardner
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nation’s highest court (Patterson, and then 
two per curiam decisions without oral ar-
gument in 1959 and 1961)—all unanimous, 
and all in favor of the NAACP—could ef-
fect a change in the legal and judicial status 
quo in Alabama. Adopted in 1939, the state’s 
motto is audemus jura nostra defendere (we 
dare defend our Rights). And so they did. As 
one historian observes, this litigation demon-
strated that “the Alabama courts would go to 
any lengths to protect white supremacy.”4

Inside the courtroom on March 24, 
1964, the justices were determined to issue 
a ruling that would bring this litigation to an 
end and allow the NAACP back into Ala-
bama after an eight-year absence. This is the 
story of those oral arguments, as told using 
the notes taken by New York Times Supreme 
Court correspondent Anthony Lewis. They 
were arguments that caught even the highly 
experienced and Pulitzer Prize-winning jour-
nalist off guard.5

A Classic Repeat Player

Marc Galanter’s classic 1974 article  “Why 
the ‘Haves’ Come Out Ahead: Speculations 
on the Limits of Legal Change”6 has rightly 
been described as “one of the most influential 
pieces of legal scholarship ever written.”7 It 
has shaped the analytical thought processes 
of an entire generation of legal scholars; and 
its influence has spread well beyond its origi-
nal field of social science.8 As Galanter ex-
plained: “Most analyses of the legal system 
start at the rules end and work down through 
institutional facilities to see what effect the 
rules have on the parties.” Galanter wanted 
“to reverse that procedure and look through 
the other end of the telescope.” He asked us 
to “think about the different kinds of parties 
and the effect these differences might have 
on the way the system works,” because par-
ties are of varying sizes with different levels 
and types of resources at their disposal. And 
while “some of the actors in the society have 

many occasions to utilize the courts (in the 
broad sense) to make (or defend) claims oth-
ers do so only rarely.”9 This sounds common-
sensical to most legal scholars today, but fifty 
years ago it was a revolutionary way of look-
ing at these aspects of law and society.

The two principal types of actors whom 
Galanter identified were the “one-shotters” 
(OS)—“who have only occasional recourse 
to the courts,” and the “repeat players” (RP)—
“who are engaged in many similar litigations 
over time.”10 As Galanter explained at great 
length, the “repeat player” and the “one-
shotter” generally “play the litigation game 
differently.”11

There is a rich body of scholarship dem-
onstrating the myriad ways in which the 
NAACP is an excellent example of a RP.12 
The “Legal Department Case Files” of the 
NAACP papers at the Library of Congress 
serve to underline the extent to which the 
association was involved in so many of the 
defining Supreme Court civil rights cases of 
the 1950s and 1960s: Brown v. Board of Edu-
cation of  Topeka (1954);13 Brown II (1955);14 
Cooper v. Aaron (1958);15 Gomillion v. Light-
foot (1960);16 Griffin v. School Board of 
Prince Edward County (1964);17 and Powell 
v. McCormack (1969),18 to name but a few. 
And that’s only a small sampling of decisions 
by the nation’s highest court; when you add 
in lower federal court and state court cases, 
the list grows exponentially.

Also not listed above are the following 
four important Supreme Court associational 
freedom decisions in which the NAACP was 
also involved: Bates v. Little Rock (1960);19 
Shelton v. Tucker (1960);20 Louisiana ex rel. 
Gremillion v. NAACP (1961);21 and NAACP 
v. Button (1963).22 As I have shown else-
where, this quartet of cases had two things 
in common with Patterson: (a) they all in-
volved regulations that “fall within the tra-
ditional purview of state [power],”23 and (b) 
all these statutes were applied in an abusive 
way by southern states, with the direct and 
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obvious goal of suppressing the work of the 
NAACP.24

Massive Resistance

Patterson, and all the other aforemen-
tioned cases, were to a large extent the re-
sult of the post-Brown southern strategy of 
“massive resistance,” a strategy that was in so 
many ways a sadly inevitable consequence of 
the litigation successes of the “repeat player” 
NAACP.

Born of southern anger at Brown, and a 
desire to defiantly reject desegregation, this 
strategy found a formal institutional voice in 
Senator Harry F. Byrd (D-VA), who had been 
governor of Virginia before being elected to 
the Senate in 1932. On Saturday February 25, 
1956, he called for the “ ‘Southern States’ ” to 
engage in organized “ ‘massive resistance’ ” 
to Brown, and expressed the belief that “ ‘in 
time the rest of the country will realize that 
racial integration is not going to be accepted 
in the South.’ ”25 In Virginia there followed, in 
short order, the enactment of a series of laws 
designed to ensure that the state’s schools 
would not be integrated, laws known as 
the Stanley Plan (after the state’s Governor 
Thomas B. Stanley).26 Nationally, an almost 
immediate response to Byrd’s clarion call was 
the crafting (and signing by 101 members of 
Congress) of the “Declaration of Constitu-
tional Principles”—which history has come 
to remember by its less formal name, the 
“Southern Manifesto.” This was “a dramatic 
announcement of the quickening pace of re-
sistance politics,” and “was a blatant chal-
lenge to the legitimacy of Brown.”27 It was an 
unabashedly “calculated declaration of politi-
cal war against the Court’s decision.”28

One of the weapons of this war was the 
enactment of new state statutes, and the in-
terpretation of existing ones, designed to 
severely limit the work of the NAACP. As 
that organization observed in its Petition for 
a Writ of Certiorari in Patterson, these laws 

exemplified the ongoing “hostility against all 
who seek compliance with the decisions of 
this Court on the question of the illegality of 
state-imposed racial segregation.”29

During the spring of 1957, Theodore 
Leskes, an attorney for the American Jew-
ish Committee, prepared an extensive memo 
outlining the growing associational freedom 
threat. He used material primarily provided 
by Jack Greenberg, one of the NAACP’s law-
yers (in 1961, Greenberg succeeded Thur-
good Marshall as Director-Counsel of the 
NAACP’s Legal Defense Fund).30 Entitled 
“The New Threat to Freedom of Speech, 
Press, and Voluntary Associations,” the memo 
summarized “the various litigative and leg-
islative devices currently being employed 
in eight southern states,” and demonstrated 
“the wide variety of techniques adopted” by 
those states following the “Dixie pattern” 
set by Alabama (and Louisiana).31 At the 
end of May, the American Jewish Congress 
published an expanded and more detailed 
analysis of these “devices” and “techniques.” 
Assault Upon Freedom of Association—a 
forty-seven-page pamphlet—laid bare the 
implications of this threat:

Every American has a stake in the 
struggle of the NAACP to survive 
and continue its work. Freedom of 
association, like the freedoms of 
speech, press and conscience which 
it implements, exists primarily for 
the benefit of the people at large. It 
protects the people’s right to hear, 
to know, to be informed, so that 
they may properly exercise their 
rights and fulfill their obligations as 
citizens.

Continuing, the pamphlet explained that 
“[i]n sum, the racial issue in the South has 
assumed a new dimension. At first, only the 
constitutional guaranty of equality was chal-
lenged. Today, the fundamental rights of ex-
pression are in jeopardy.”32 The truth of this 
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conclusion—and the ability of the NAACP 
lawyers to successfully fight back against 
this “new dimension”—was made clear in the 
victories achieved in Patterson, Bates, Shel-
ton, Gremillion, and Button.

From Patterson to Flowers

Although the NAACP prevailed in Pat-
terson, it ultimately took three other rulings 
by the nation’s highest court—NAACP v. Ala-
bama (1959),33 NAACP v. Gallion (1961),34 
and Flowers—before the association was able 
to return to conducting business in Alabama. 
It was eight years of massive litigious resis-
tance. Consequently, the story of the oral ar-
guments in Flowers certainly did not begin 
in 1964.

In many ways, instead, the high court’s 
involvement in the Flowers oral arguments 
began six years earlier, on Wednesday June 
25, 1958, with Felix Frankfurter’s prescience. 
That day, Justice Frankfurter received his 
draft copy of the solo dissenting opinion that 
his colleague Tom C. Clark intended to file 
in Patterson.35 It was an eleventh-hour draft; 
the Term was ending, and the decision in Pat-
terson would be handed down five days later. 
At the January 17 Conference, the vote in 
Patterson had been 9–0 to reverse (ruling for 
the NAACP);36 and the Conference notes of 
Justices William O. Douglas and Harold H. 
Burton do not indicate that Clark made any 
remarks beyond casting his vote.37 But some-
time between then and late June, Clark had a 
change of heart.

Adequate and Independent State Grounds

When the Supreme Court is confronted 
with a request to review the judgment of a 
state court, the justices must first determine 
whether the case falls within their jurisdic-
tion. The justices do not have the authority 
to hear an appeal of a state court decision 
that solely involves questions of state law. 
However, this does not mean that the Court 

is automatically empowered to hear such an 
appeal if it also involves a question of federal 
law. Instead, as the Court observed in 1935, 
“where the judgment of a state court rests 
upon two grounds, one of which is federal 
and the other non-federal in character, our 
jurisdiction fails if the non-federal ground 
is independent of the federal ground and ad-
equate to support the judgment.”38 This is the 
adequate and independent state grounds doc-
trine. Although the Court has not provided 
one set formula for determining exactly what 
is “adequate” and what is “independent,” 
there are myriad reasons why state courts dis-
miss cases that raise federal claims, includ-
ing one which is pertinent here. A state court 
will often dismiss that claim if the claimant 
has (in the court’s opinion) failed to comply 
with state law procedures. As we will see be-
low, this is why Clark wished to see Patter-
son remanded back to the Supreme Court of 
Alabama.

Were the justices expecting to receive 
Clark’s last-minute draft dissent? The answer 
is unclear. Did a suspicion that Clark was re-
thinking his position come in mid-May in a 
memo to Justice John Marshall Harlan (the 
author of the opinion for the Court in Patter-
son), a memo in which Clark apologized that 
he was “not ready” in the case, and that he 
“will try to be so next week”? Not really, be-
cause in that memo Clark mentioned Patter-
son in the same breath as two other cases, so 
it would be wrong to read too much into this 
one piece of correspondence.39 Similarly, al-
though clues to the timeline of Clark’s think-
ing might also be found in memos written by 
one of his law clerks (discussed below), those 
memos are undated. Therefore, absent a clear 
timeline all that we are left with are the drafts 
of Clark’s dissent.

In order to understand the substance of 
Clark’s disagreement with Harlan’s major-
ity reasoning, the best place to start is with 
the Texan’s similar dissent, three years ear-
lier, in Williams v. Georgia, because in both 
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cases the focus of  Clark’s concern was the 
adequate and independent state grounds doc-
trine.40 In Williams, a capital case, the Black 
petitioner was convicted and sentenced to 
death by an all-white jury chosen using a 
method deemed by the Court, in Avery v. 
Georgia (1953),41 to be a denial of equal 
protection. The Court reached its decision in 
Avery a couple of months after the trial and 
conviction of Williams; however, Williams’ 
lawyer did not initially use Avery to raise a 
constitutional objection to the selection of 
his client’s jury. Instead, it was not until after 
the first appeal failed that this basis for a new 
trial appeared in an extraordinary motion for 
a new trial. The six-justice Supreme Court 
majority that remanded Williams back to the 
state courts for reconsideration did so based 
on its interpretation of Georgia law, and 
prior state court decisions. The majority—
which spoke through an opinion written by 
Frankfurter—rejected the Georgia Supreme 
Court’s conclusion that Williams’ conviction 
should stand because the lawyer had inad-
equately defended his failure to challenge 
the jury selection at the time (before the trial 
began). As Frankfurter explained:

The Georgia courts have indicated 
many times that motions for new 
trial after verdict are not favored, and 
that extraordinary motions for new 
trial after final judgment are favored 
even less. But the Georgia statute 
provides for such motion, and it has 
been granted in ‘exceptional’ or ‘ex-
traordinary’ cases. The general rule is 
that the granting or denying of an ex-
traordinary motion for new trial rests 
primarily in the discretion of the trial 
court, and the appellate court will 
not reverse except for a clear abuse 
of discretion. In practice, however, 
the Georgia appellate courts have not 
hesitated to reverse and grant a new 
trial in exceptional cases.42

This, Frankfurter concluded, was an “ex-
ceptional case,” especially because of the 
temporal proximity of the decision in Avery. 
Therefore, the Supreme Court had jurisdic-
tion to hear the case because Williams’ mo-
tion involved a question of constitutional law.

“To borrow a phrase from Mr. Justice 
Holmes,” began Clark’s dissent, “the opinion 
of the Court ‘just won’t wash.’ ”43 As Justice 
Sherman Minton observed in his separate 
dissent, the principal point of disagreement 
stemmed from divergent readings of Georgia 
law. The dissenters adopted an interpretation 
of the state’s laws that was—in their view—
rightfully respectful of the bounds of federal-
ism. Wrote Minton,

We do not sit as a legal critic to in-
dicate how we think courts should 
act. If a federal constitutional right 
is not presented, we have no duty 
to perform. There was no denial of 
equal protection of the law or of due 
process. This case was disposed of 
by the Georgia Supreme Court al-
together on state grounds. In such 
circumstances, our duty is clear.44

Three years later, Clark was the only Wil-
liams dissenter left on the Court, and there 
was never any doubt that the two new justices 
(William J. Brennan, Jr., and Charles E. Whit-
taker) would sign on to Harlan’s opinion in 
Patterson. Early in the opinion-writing pro-
cess, after Harlan indicated he would no lon-
ger be writing a per curiam opinion, Bren-
nan expressed his strong approval for his 
colleague’s merits arguments.45 And while 
Whittaker heavily annotated his copy of 
Clark’s June 25 draft dissent (Whittaker’s pa-
pers suggest that this was just his style when 
reading), he was unpersuaded by its content, 
and noted at the top of the document “I stand 
with JMH’s majority opinion 6-25-58.”46 Al-
though we do not know when Clark decided 
that he could no longer “stand” with Harlan’s 
opinion, what we do know is that the June 25 
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draft is the only one that he shared with his 
colleagues. In essence, as we will see, Clark’s 
dissent in Patterson was a very short version 
of his Williams opinion.

The Patterson Litigation

Patterson began on June 1, 1956, when 
Alabama’s Attorney General John M. Patter-
son obtained a temporary injunction that pre-
vented the NAACP from doing any further 
business in the state. For good measure, the 
unabashedly white supremacist Montgomery 
County circuit court judge Walter B. Jones 
added (on his own initiative, because it was 
not requested by Patterson’s office) to the in-
junction a provision that further prevented the 
NAACP from “[f]iling with the Department 
of Revenue and the Secretary of  State of the 
State of Alabama any application, paper or 
document for the purpose of qualifying to do 
business within the State of Alabama.”47 The 
attorney general sought to oust the NAACP 
because of its failure to register as a foreign 
corporation. The judge sought to make the 
ouster permanent by preventing the NAACP 
from remedying that situation by registering.

Three days after the NAACP filed its 
July 2 motion to dissolve the temporary in-
junction, the state upped the legal ante, and 
in doing so it brought the U.S. Constitution 
into the equation. On July 5, Patterson’s of-
fice filed a motion requiring the NAACP to 
produce a long list of documents, including 
a list of the names and addresses of all cur-
rent members of the NAACP who resided in 
Alabama.48 When the NAACP invoked the 
Constitution in defense of its refusal to dis-
close its membership lists, Jones responded 
by finding the association to be in “brazen” 
contempt of court,49 for which he imposed a 
$10,000 fine as punishment. Failure to com-
ply by midnight on July 31 would result in 
a tenfold increase in the fine ($100,000 in 
2024 would be approximately $1,120,000).50 
This increase took effect after the Alabama 

Supreme Court refused to hold an emergency 
hearing on the matter.

In a further move that would become 
legally crucial (and lay bare the extent to 
which the state court system was determined 
to see the NAACP gone from Alabama, per-
manently), when the Alabama Supreme Court 
did hold a hearing the following day (by 
which time the contempt order had gone into 
effect), it ruled against the NAACP on the 
ground that the association had failed to fol-
low the proper judicial procedures. Namely, 
it had failed to submit its petition in the form 
of a petition for a writ of certiorari (the is-
suance of which would have automatically 
stayed Jones’ order).51 Ultimately, it was this 
action that resulted in Patterson finding its 
way up to the nation’s highest court. And it 
was also the action that led Clark to write his 
draft solo dissent, the dissent that generated 
a memo from Frankfurter to Clark.

Saving One’s “Powder” for a Day that 
Hopefully Won’t Come

“The Supreme Court of Alabama,” be-
gan Clark’s draft dissent, “found it unneces-
sary to review the validity of the court order 
disobeyed by petitioner, because petitioner 
proceeded by writ of certiorari rather than by 
writ of mandamus.” Clark expressed his

agree[ment] with the majority, in 
view of the previous State of Ala-
bama law on certiorari review of 
contempt judgments, that this proce-
dural disposition of petitioner’s claim 
does not constitute an adequate state 
ground of decision in this case.52

But that was as far as he would go. Because of 
the adequate and independent state grounds 
doctrine, he would have vacated, rather than 
reversed, the Alabama Supreme Court’s deci-
sion, remanding the case back to that tribu-
nal to let it consider the constitutional issues 
raised by the case.
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If Clark felt so strongly about dissenting 
in Patterson, why did he ultimately withdraw 
the opinion? At some point during the dis-
sent-drafting process, Robert P. Gorman, one 
of Clark’s October 1957 Term clerks, wrote 
the justice three memos about Patterson. 
From his research, he reached several impor-
tant conclusions:

Procedure: Harlan was right that 
the state judicial precedents did 
not support Alabama’s interpreta-
tion of its own procedural rules. 
The legal interpretive conclusion 
reached by Alabama is one that 
“no reasonable person in the State 
could ever be held to know . . . un-
less he were gifted with immense 
prophetic powers.”

Merits: Harlan was also right on the 
merits.

Policy: Anything short of unanim-
ity from the justices of the nation’s 
highest court would “tragic[ally]” 
serve to “strengthen resistance to 
integration.”53

Despite the detailed nature of Gorman’s re-
search, Clark remained unpersuaded. That 
was, until he heard from Frankfurter.

Upon receiving his copy of Clark’s draft 
dissent, Frankfurter immediately wrote a 
memo responding to his colleague’s argu-
ments. There was an important prescience 
about that memo. In a November 1954 let-
ter to his good friend Learned Hand (Senior 
Judge of the United States Court of Appeals 
for the Second Circuit), Frankfurter de-
scribed many of his colleagues. By this time, 
Clark and Frankfurter had been colleagues 
for just over five years. Frankfurter described 
Clark as “ ‘very friendly in the slap-on-the-
back-fashion, in a shallow way no fool, but of 
course he was without adequate equipment 
when he came here and no intellectual drive 
to make up for it now.’ ”54

This was an unfair assessment of Clark, 
who was Frankfurter’s colleague for another 
eight years (Frankfurter retired in August 
1962). When Clark left the Court in 1967 
(upon his son’s appointment as President 
Lyndon B. Johnson’s attorney general),55 
his departure did not leave the same kind of 
immense liberal hole in the Court’s jurispru-
dence that occurred when, for example, Jus-
tice Douglas retired in 1975. As one of his 
biographers observes, although Clark was 
“by no means either the spiritual or intellec-
tual leader of the Warren Court,”56 this does 
not mean that he was either “without ade-
quate equipment” when he joined the Vinson 
Court, or an unimportant member of the suc-
ceeding Warren Court. Quite the opposite; he 
“evolved into an integral part of it, writing 
decisions that were central to its legacy of 
enhanced individual rights.” He just did not 
always make the classic Warren Court liberal 
headlines because he balanced “the Court’s 
broad egalitarian goals with his own general 
conservative nature and principles of judicial 
restraint”—hence his judicial behavior in 
Patterson (and Flowers).57

Frankfurter began his “Dear Tom” Pat-
terson missive by availing himself of their 
friendship and a “long-standing freedom,” be-
tween the two, “of telling each other what we 
think about things in the Court.”58 Had Clark 
taken issue with the majority’s decision on 
the merits, Frankfurter would not have writ-
ten his memo; but it was Clark’s desire to re-
peat what he had said in dissent in Williams 
that irked Frankfurter. The substance of his 
response to the draft Patterson dissent mir-
rored Gorman’s policy observation that a fail-
ure to show unanimity would “tragic[ally]” 
serve to “strengthen resistance to integration.” 
The adequate and independent state grounds 
doctrine simply “doesn’t seem to me a good 
enough starting point for a break in the una-
nimity of the Court in what is, after all, part 
of the whole Segregation controversy,” wrote 
Frankfurter. Continuing, the justice wrote:
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The sky is none too bright anyhow. 
The mere fact that you are dissent-
ing on the ground that the State’s 
interests have not been adequately 
put to us—though I thought at the 
time that the State’s interests were 
put to us on the merits very effec-
tively—would be blown up out of 
all proportion to what you yourself 
would subscribe to.

Many years ago, in reading the heavy 
volumes of John Morley’s ‘Life of 
Gladstone,’ I was struck by almost 
the single critical remark that Mor-
ley made of his hero, to wit: ‘On 
occasion even Mr. Gladstone forgot 
that the interpretation of an act is as 

important as the act itself.’ And so 
I wish you to consider whether the 
use that is bound to be made of what 
you have written is worth the price 
of registering what I well appreci-
ate is a torturing difficulty for you 
in this particular case.

In closing, Frankfurter’s point could not 
have been clearer: “Save your powder for the 
day—I hope it never may come, but it well 
may—that you will have to fire a real shot.”59

In 1953, Frankfurter pushed for reargu-
ment of Brown when “unanimity looked all 
but impossible” that year.60 It is true that,

from the vantage point of time . . . it 
is hard to imagine how the South 

Five days before the Court issued its June 30, 1958, decision in NAACP v. Patterson, Justice Frankfurter wrote to 
Justice Clark. His memo situated the First Amendment freedom of assembly case within the broader sociopoliti-
cal climate. Frankfurter successfully persuaded his colleague to withdraw his proposed solo dissent, thereby 
enabling the Court to issue a unanimous decision in the case.
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could have fought Brown any harder 
than it did, and it is difficult (al-
though not as difficult) to believe 
that the North, after the changes in 
the postwar nation, would have come 
to the southern position just because 
one or two justices took it.61

However, the justices did not have the benefit 
of a crystal ball with which to see into the 
future. And, it was all too clear to them, in 
the America in which they were living in the 
1950s, that “[t]he South would have loved a 
dissent” in Brown—“indeed many southern-
ers wrote to the Court after Brown asking for 
a copy of the dissenting opinion which they 
supposed had been issued.”62 As one legal 
historian accurately observes:

The achievement of unanimity in 
Brown and afterward only partially 
accomplished the desired objectives. 
In fact, unanimity  .  .  .  operated in 
time to obscure rather than enhance 
the Court’s decisions in the area. In-
deed, the Court’s continuing desire 
to be united outweighed its respon-
sibility to be persuasive on enough 
occasions that it has been recently 
asked if, on balance, unanimity was 
worth the price. The question, which 
is now compelling in hindsight, is 
anachronistic: to the judges faced 
with Brown and its aftermath, the 
costs of disunity were much too high 
to accept.63

When Frankfurter urged Clark to “Save your 
powder” for another day, his reasoning was 
coming from the same place as his desire, 
five years earlier, to see Brown reargued in 
hopes of achieving a united judicial front.

Just hours before the Court announced 
the decision in Patterson, in a June 30 memo 
Clark informed his colleagues that he was 
withdrawing his dissent in the case. Frank-
furter was delighted. He quickly wrote “I 
congratulate you! FF” on his copy of the 

piece of correspondence and sent it back to 
Clark.64 Clark’s change of mind enabled the 
Court to speak with one unified voice—the 
crucial unanimity that Gorman and Frank-
furter had both emphasized.

Ultimately, Alabama didn’t care whether 
the ruling was 9–0 or 8–1. In ways that are 
laid out below, the state doggedly used ev-
ery procedural maneuver it could think of (or 
conjure up) to ensure that the NAACP was 
not victorious within the walls of its courts. 
Imagine how much more stubborn the state 
would have been (and could have afforded to 
be) if just one member of the Court publicly 
expressed his desire to open the adequate and 
independent state grounds door.

Therein lies the prescience of Frankfurt-
er’s memo.

Richmond M. Flowers

By the fall of 1962, when Alabamians 
went to the polls to elect a new attorney gen-
eral, the NAACP had been absent from the 
state for over six years (a move that, amongst 
other things, seriously impeded its voting 
rights advocacy). In May 1963, when the 
NAACP’s General Counsel, Robert L. Carter, 
filed his petition for certiorari, that document 
was accompanied by a Motion for Substitu-
tion of Party because Alabama now had a 
new attorney general. The litigation was now 
National Association for the Advancement of 
Colored People, a corporation, Petitioner v. 
State of Alabama ex rel. Richmond M. Flow-
ers Attorney General of the State of Alabama, 
Respondent.65

On June 20, 1963, Alabama filed its 
short brief in opposition to certiorari.66 Soon 
thereafter, the University of Pennsylvania 
Law Review reached out to the state attor-
ney general’s office requesting a copy of the 
brief. When one of the law review’s associate 
editors returned the brief in October, he also 
enclosed the galley proofs of the comment-
style article forthcoming in the November is-
sue of the publication.67 In short, the article 
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laid bare the same things that others would 
emphasize time and again over the next 
seven months. Namely, that the state’s pro-
cedural arguments were exceptionally weak 
and unsupported by precedent, and there was 
little doubting that Alabama had violated 
the constitutionally protected associational 
freedom rights of the NAACP. As the article 
concluded,

The procedural history of  the pres-
ent case indicates a deliberate at-
tempt on the part of the Alabama 
courts to evade a decision on the 
NAACP’s constitutional claims, in an 
effort seemingly designed to thwart 
Supreme Court review of the sub-
stantive issues. The deprivation of 
liberty caused by the present holding 
indicates that these efforts are not 
likely to succeed.68

The author of the article was right.
On January 22, 1964, the Chief Deputy 

Clerk of the Supreme Court informed Flow-
ers that arguments in the litigation bearing his 
name would probably be heard the week of 
March 2 (most likely March 5).69 The attorney 
general could have argued the case himself. 
It would not have been his first time stand-
ing before the justices of the nation’s highest 
court. On November 3, 1963, two days after 
his fifty-fifth birthday, Flowers participated in 
the oral arguments in the legislative reappor-
tionment case Reynolds v. Sims.70 And he had 
fond memories of the occasion. When Flow-
ers took his seat after arguing, the opposing 
counsel “pushed a little note across the table 
that said, ‘In all my experience, I have never 
seen the entire court as attentive as they were 
to your arguments. Congratulations!’ ” Flow-
ers “ ‘saved that note for years. I showed it to 
somebody one time, and I said, “Here’s a note 
Archibald Cox wrote.” They looked at it and 
said, “Sure, and I’m George Washington.” ’ ”71

So why didn’t Flowers argue Flowers 
a few months later? It was not for lack of 

availability; the attorney general traveled to 
Washington, D.C. with one of his assistant 
attorneys general, Gordon Madison, and sat 
in on the arguments.72 The choice of Madi-
son to argue the case probably reflected two 
things—Flowers’ attitude towards the case 
(as compared to the attitudes of his immedi-
ate predecessors), and Madison’s extensive 
involvement in the litigation.

It is entirely possible that Flowers had 
significant misgivings about the litigation 
that bore his name, but to understand this, 
we first need to know more about Flow-
ers. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. once asked 
Richmond Flowers, “Were you ever a segre-
gationist?” To which Flowers replied, “ ‘Of 
course I was. All my life I was. I was raised 
in a segregated society, and would be less 

Pictured here, at a 1966 press conference in Mont-
gomery, is Richmond M. Flowers. As Alabama’s at-
torney general (1963–1967), Flowers was the named 
respondent in NAACP v. Flowers (1964). Although in 
court he and his staff defended Alabama’s efforts to 
oust the NAACP, he was far less committed, than his 
predecessors, to the segregationist and white suprem-
acist principles in which those efforts were grounded.
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than honest if I didn’t admit to you I enjoyed 
all the emoluments of a segregated society.’ ” 
Flowers then followed this response by say-
ing: “ ‘But things have changed, the law has 
changed, cultures have changed, habits have 
changed, and I’m going to do what I can to 
see that my children are not segregationists, 
because it will just cause them unhappiness. 
The strict segregationist is not going to have 
anything but trouble from here on out.’ ”73 
Refusing to toe the “ ‘strict segregationist’ ” 
line came at immense personal and profes-
sional cost for Flowers.74

As the author of a biography of Flowers 
explains:

The 1962 election was critical for 
Alabama. Massive resistance had 
collapsed in much of the South, and 
most of the states of the old Confed-
eracy were progressing in relative 
peace and harmony toward more 
equitable treatment of black citi-
zens. The civil rights movement had 
gained momentum and strength, 
with growing support from the fed-
eral government, and significant 
change was inevitable. The question 
was whether the people who real-
ized this could gain control of state 
government and could steer things 
in a more constructive direction.75

On January 14, 1963, in Montgomery, the 
state capital of Alabama, a study in con-
trasting inauguration speeches laid bare two 
facts. First, in November 1962 the people of 
Alabama chose a governor who would do 
anything but acknowledge the growing “mo-
mentum and strength” of Black voices raised 
in support for civil rights. Second, in the 
same election cycle the voters selected a new 
attorney general who would try and “steer 
things in a more constructive direction.” The 
January 1963 “ ‘inaugural speeches’ ” given 
by Governor George Wallace and Attorney 
General Richmond Flowers “ ‘were just as 

far apart as they could possibly be.’ ”76 On 
the one hand, there was Wallace famously 
declaring “Segregation today, segregation 
tomorrow, segregation forever.” On the other 
hand, there was Flowers predicting that “ ‘Al-
abama’s soul will soon be laid bare before 
the world’ . . .”77 and generating telling head-
lines such as “Flowers Opposes Defiance of 
U.S.” and “Flowers Takes Sharp Issue With 
Wallace.”78 As a Birmingham News column 
succinctly but rather understatedly observed 
on inauguration day: “The two officials who 
will be most directly tied to the problems of 
racial tensions over the next four years in 
Alabama . . . do not see exactly eye to eye on 
how to meet those problems.”79

While on the campaign trail, Flowers 
stated that he was “ ‘unalterably for segrega-
tion,’ ” and he promised “to ‘defend our time-
honored customs,’ ” but he did not reveal the 
true complexity of his views.80 “Very little 
attention was paid in the press to the race for 
attorney general,”81 and so Flowers subse-
quently felt free to break from Wallace.

Flowers “ ‘wasn’t willing to argue that 
integration was a good thing . . . only that it 
was federal law and had to be obeyed . . .’ ”82 
This made it difficult for him to do his job, 
including defending Alabama’s continued 
defiance of the high court’s three rulings in 
favor of the NAACP. He of course did his job, 
but perhaps his views about obeying federal 
law (including Supreme Court rulings) con-
tributed to his decision to delegate the job of 
arguing before the justices in Flowers.

So, if not Flowers, then who would ar-
gue the case? On January 27, 1964, Flowers 
informed the Court that Assistant Attorney 
General Gordon Madison would present the 
state’s oral argument.83

Gordon Madison

On October 1, 1952, Alabama’s attor-
ney general appointed former state senator 
(and great-great-great nephew of the nation’s 
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fourth president) Madison to fill a vacancy in 
his office after the death of another assistant 
attorney general.84 Earlier that year, there was 
extensive speculation that Madison would 
receive a presidential appointment to a new 
federal district judgeship to be created that 
year85 (the seat never materialized because 
the relevant legislation died in Congress that 
spring);86 and when Madison joined the at-
torney general’s staff there were rumors that 
Madison would use this appointment as a 
stepping stone to the attorney generalship.87 
However, Madison remained an assistant at-
torney general, serving in that capacity until 
his retirement in 1974.88

The available evidence suggests that 
Madison did not become intimately involved 
in the NAACP litigation until Patterson be-
came governor in January 1959. In his mem-
oir, Robert Carter writes that he is “sure” 
that “[t]he brains behind the state’s maneu-
vers” against the NAACP were the brains of 
Edmon L. Rinehart.89 This is accurate. From 
1955 through until early 1956 Rinehart was 
indeed the assistant attorney general who 
took the lead in this litigation.

Edmon (Ted) Loftin Rinehart was born 
in New York City in 1920 and educated at 
Princeton and then at Harvard Law School.90 
Between receiving his undergraduate degree 
(majoring in English) in 1942, and attending 
Harvard, Rinehart served as an officer with 
the 10th Field Artillery Battalion, 3rd Infan-
try Division, seeing action in North Africa 
and Europe during World War II.91 He was 
held as a German prisoner of war from Janu-
ary 1944 until the end of the conflict. His 
military reactivation during the Korean War 
saw him stationed in Frankfurt, Germany (as 
part of the JAG Corps), which is where he 
met fellow officer John M. Patterson.92 The 
two men were essential legal personnel in an 
Army short of JAG officers, and they became 
good friends; after the war they remained in 
contact.93 Indeed, today the Patterson and 
Rinehart families are still very close.94

After the assassination of his father, 
John Patterson reached out to Rinehart, ask-
ing him to come to Alabama, ostensibly to 
help with the legal fight against corruption 
in Phenix City.95 Not until much later in their 
lives did Rinehart, and his children, learn that 

Alabama assistant attorney general Gordon Madison (center), who argued the Flowers case in the Supreme Court, 
is pictured here, in 1961, with Louisiana’s attorney general Jack P. F. Gremillion (left) and Georgia’s assistant 
attorney general E. Freeman Leverett (right). They gathered at a New Orleans courthouse for a hearing on the 
constitutionality of Louisiana’s ongoing efforts to resist the desegregation of its schools.
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Patterson had actually recruited his friend 
because he knew that he needed an experi-
enced lawyer—with the caliber of training 
that came with a Harvard Law School edu-
cation—to help him confront the civil rights 
litigation he knew the attorney general’s of-
fice would soon become embroiled in.96

Rinehart was one of only three outsiders 
that Patterson brought into the attorney gen-
eral’s office.97 And he was neither a south-
erner nor a segregationist. As the attorney 
general’s office letterhead from January 1956 
indicates, Rinehart was initially hired as a Le-
gal Research Aide, listed quite distinctly and 
separately from the assistant attorneys gen-
eral (of which at the time there were eleven). 
In January 1956, MacDonald Gallion was 
listed as the senior assistant attorney gen-
eral.98 A future attorney general who served 
two nonconsecutive terms, 1959–1963 (suc-
ceeding Patterson) and 1967–1971 (succeed-
ing Flowers), Gallion was Patterson’s princi-
pal deputy because the attorney general “kept 
his father’s promise to . . . make him senior 
assistant attorney general.”99 At some point, 
Rinehart went from research aide to assistant 
attorney general, and took the legal lead rep-
resenting Alabama in the NAACP litigation 
from its official inception on June 1, 1956 
through until early 1959 (when Patterson be-
came governor in January 1959, and Rine-
hart became his commissioner of insurance). 
Rinehart wrote the lion’s share of the briefs 
in Patterson, and ultimately argued the case 
before the Supreme Court in January 1958.

The evidence suggests that upon Rine-
hart’s departure from the attorney general’s 
office, it was Madison who began to take a 
lead role in the litigation as it now proceeded 
under the new attorney general Gallion. Cer-
tainly, by 1960 Madison was heavily involved 
in the case,100 and by November 1961 he was 
recognized as the principal assistant attorney 
general “handling the state’s case.”101 Madi-
son maintained this status as the calendar 
turned to 1963 and Flowers replaced Gallion. 

It is reasonable to assume that Madison was 
asked to argue Flowers because he was the 
assistant attorney general with the most de-
tailed understanding of the case.

On March 6, Madison was informed that 
he was to be ready to participate in the Flow-
ers oral argument on Monday March 23.102 
Ultimately, those arguments took place on 
Tuesday March 24, in two sittings, one be-
fore lunch lasting seventy minutes, and then 
one for another eleven minutes when the 
court reconvened in the afternoon.

Anthony Lewis

In the audience, that day, was one very 
familiar face, the New York Times Supreme 
Court correspondent Anthony Lewis. That 
newspaper’s 2013 obituary of Lewis ran un-
der the headline “Anthony Lewis, Supreme 
Court Reporter Who Brought Law to Life, 
Dies at 85.”103 One might add that just as 
Tony Lewis “brought law to life,” he also 
brought life to the law. The New York Times 
Supreme Court correspondent from 1955 
through 1964, he “transformed American le-
gal journalism.”104 As one scholar observes, 
Lewis “ ‘had an incredible talent in making 
the law not only intelligible but also in mak-
ing it compelling.’ ” He was a journalist who 
instinctively knew how to write for all the 
people—laypersons and experts alike. “ ‘His 
articles were virtual tutorials about cur-
rents in legal thinking, written with ease and 
sweep and an ability to render complex mat-
ters accessible.’ ”105 It was superlative work 
for which Lewis won his second Pulitzer 
Prize in 1963.

Lewis’ ability “to better explain and 
translate legal jargon into phrases and con-
cepts that laypeople could more easily un-
derstand”106 makes his handwritten notes 
the perfect analytical tool for unpacking 
the oral arguments in Flowers. And putting 
those arguments in layman’s language is par-
ticularly important because “so much of the 



226	 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY	

pressing salience” of the Patterson and Flow-
ers decisions “is buried beneath procedural 
questions.”107 When the justices gathered on 
March 24, 1964, their eighty-minute collo-
quy with the two lawyers was consumed by 
complex discussions of legal procedure. The 
set of  handwritten notes that Lewis scribbled 
while he sat in the courtroom and listened to 
these dense dialogues provides the perfect 
roadmap for seeing the fundamentally salient 
forest through the abundance of procedural 
pinus palustris (the state tree of Alabama).

“Cut[ting] Alabama Legal Tangle”

Lewis wrote about Flowers on four oc-
casions for the New York Times—on October 
15, 1963 (discussing the granting of certio-
rari in the case); on March 25, 1964 (recap-
ping the oral arguments); and on June 2 and 6 
(about the Court’s decision). The decision to 
hear Flowers did not headline his reporting of 
the actions taken by the Court on October 14; 
instead, the focus was on an order pertaining 

to the states’ implementation of the 1963 de-
cision in Gideon v. Wainwright.108 Neverthe-
less, Lewis devoted a considerable amount of 
space to discussing the significance of Flow-
ers “in the race relations area.”109 Lewis’ ar-
ticle about the oral arguments in Flowers ran 
under a very accurate and telling headline: 
“Ban on N.A.A.C.P. Due for a Ruling: High 
Court Indicates it Will Cut Alabama Legal 
Tangle.”110

The first point that the journalist made in 
the notes he took during the arguments was 
the first point that the NAACP’s lawyer made 
when he stepped up to the lectern to address 
the justices. “If the Court please,” said Rob-
ert Carter, “this cause is here for the fourth 
time and what petitioner hopes is the final 
time.”111 Scribbled Lewis: “Carter ‘This case 
is here for the fourth time, and we hope for 
the last time.’ ”112

Carter argued before the justices for 
just over half an hour. For the first seven of 
those thirty-one minutes, he spoke uninter-
rupted as he recapped the past eight years 
of litigation.113 In his notes, Lewis wrote the 
following, which serves as a testament to the 
lengthy and procedural quagmire that this 
litigation had become (largely because of the 
actions of Alabama):

June 1, 1956: Temporary restrain-
ing order, by Judge Jones, barred 
NAACP from functioning in Ala. 
No notice or hearing.

Claim that NAACP was not 
registered as foreign corp—injunx 
also barred registering. State had 
mentioned NAACP action re (1) 
Lucy, (2) Montgomery bus boycott.

June, 1958: Sup Ct set aside con-
tempt for not producing names of 
members.

June, 1959: Sup Ct reversed Ala 
reaffirmation.

Oct., 1961: Sup Ct directed Fed trial 
unless state began by Jan. 2, 1962.

As the New York Times Supreme Court correspondent 
from 1955 through 1964, Anthony Lewis transformed 
reporting on the nation’s highest court. He explained 
the work of the justices in ways easily understandable 
by the general public. Lewis is pictured here in 1963, 
the same year he won his second Pulitzer Prize.
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Dec., 1961: Judge Jones heard case 
and made temp injunx permanent.

Feb. 28, 1963: Ala Sup Ct said 
NAACP had not followed rules for 
Argument section of its brief  by not 
specifying errors and lumping them 
together, in which case good must 
fall with any bad.114

With his trademark clarity, in his article the 
next day Lewis was able to distill this pro-
cedural maneuvering into three sentences 
that would give the layperson an easily un-
derstandable summary of Alabama’s legal 
machinations:

The N.A.A.C.P. has been barred from 
Alabama since June 1, 1956, by a 
series of state court orders. It has 
never been able to get a final deter-
mination on the merits from the Ala-
bama courts on whether it is legally 
entitled to resume operating there. 
The Alabama Supreme Court has 
avoided deciding the question by 
ruling that the N.A.A.C.P.’s lawyers 
have made procedural mistakes.115

In October 1961, when this litigation came 
to them for the third time, the justices issued 
a unanimous per curiam opinion that ran to 
less than 150 words. The Court vacated and 
remanded the decision of the United States 
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, send-
ing it back to that tribunal,

with instructions to direct the Dis-
trict Court to proceed with trial of 
the issues unless within a reason-
able time, no later than January 2, 
1962, the State of Alabama shall 
have accorded petitioner an oppor-
tunity to be heard on its motion to 
dissolve the state restraining order 
of June 1, 1956, and upon the mer-
its of the action in which such order 
was issued.116

Twice the state had rebuffed the justices’ ef-
forts to force their hand in this litigation; and 
now, five years after the issuance of  the origi-
nal injunction, and three Supreme Court rul-
ings later, Alabama was again being asked to 
give the NAACP “an opportunity to be heard 
on its motion to dissolve” that injunction.

On December 27, 1961, with the clock 
counting down to the January 2, 1962, dead-
line, Judge Jones presided over the first of 
three days of arguments and testimony.117 
He issued his ruling at the end of the third 
day and, entirely predictably, the NAACP 
lost again. This time, however, Jones upped 
the legal ante; he now ordered the permanent 
exclusion of the NAACP from Alabama.118 
Rejecting all of the overwhelming evidence 
to the contrary, he ruled that the NAACP had 
continued to do business in Alabama (under 
the guise of other organizations); the tempo-
rary injunction had not stopped them, so it 
was now time to make it permanent.119

And then the wheels of justice ground 
to a halt. On March 19, 1962, the NAACP 
filed an Assignment of Errors with the Su-
preme Court of Alabama, followed a few 
weeks later by an extensive (thirty-six page) 
appeal of Jones’ imposition of the permanent 
injunction. Ten months later, the court finally 
issued a ruling in the case. The unanimous 
court went out of its way to emphasize that 
it had “one set of rules for all litigants, and 
all are treated alike, regardless of whom they 
may be. We are not a court which treats most 
litigants one way, but has favored and spe-
cial treatment for the litigant who comes into 
court on an alleged racial issue.”120 As the 
Flowers oral arguments made very clear, the 
first of these two sentences was simply not 
true. The Alabama Supreme Court had one 
set of rules that it interpreted and applied dif-
ferently depending on who it was interpreting 
it for, and applying it upon. The second sen-
tence was also inaccurate. Despite its claims to 
the contrary, Flowers made it clear that the 
state court did provide “favored and special 
treatment for the litigant who comes into 
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court on an alleged racial issue” if that liti-
gant was white.121

In ruling against the NAACP, the state 
supreme court explained that its rules 
required,

.  .  .  that the argument section of 
an appellant’s brief contain ‘argu-
ment with respect to errors assigned 
which counsel desire to insist upon.’ 
The rule plainly states that—assign-
ments of error are to be argued in 
the argument section of a brief.122

The NAACP had done this; however, 
“. . . many of them are without merit because 
they present nothing for review.” This, in and 
of itself, was “not a violation of any of the 
rules of appellate procedure.” The problem, 
as the Alabama Supreme Court saw it in this 
one case, was that this violated the tribunal’s 
“rule of long standing and frequent applica-
tion that where unrelated assignments of er-
ror are argued together and one is without 
merit, ‘the others will not be considered.’ ”123 
For all intents and purposes, discussion of 
this point consumed the remainder of the 
Flowers oral arguments.

Continuing to summarize, in note form, 
Carter’s argument, Lewis wrote:

(1) The procedural defect is non-
existent.
A—Ala Sup Ct regularly ignores 
similar ‘defects’ in briefs.
B—In any case, the alleged rule is 
‘a triviality.’124

In various places in his notes, Lewis under-
lined or circled words in red pencil. “Trivial-
ity” was the first word to which he applied 
such highlighting treatment. The Alabama 
Supreme Court had frequently ignored the 
“rule of long standing and frequent appli-
cation that where unrelated assignments of 
error are argued together and one is without 
merit, ‘the others will not be considered.’ ”125 

As Carter explained: “It has held in case af-
ter case, that even though the rules are not 
complied with, that the rules are merely 
directory . . .”126

Although the Oyez.org transcript of the 
Flowers oral argument does not tell us who 
asked the first question about this aspect of 
the state court’s handling of the case, Lewis 
does. It was Harlan who asked, “did the Ala-
bama Supreme Court at any point until its 
opinion disposition of the case indicate that 
it was concerned about the brief?”127 Lewis’ 
notes were even more succinct than Carter 
was in answering this question: “C: No. Not 
argued by state in its brief, not mentioned by 
ct during oral argument.”128 Lewis circled 
this in red pencil.

This question was followed by a lengthy 
discussion about what these procedural ob-
structionist tactics meant for the litigation. 
Justice Potter Stewart semi-rhetorically asked 
Carter whether construing the merits of the 
Alabama foreign corporation registration 
statute—and its application to the NAACP—
was something the state courts should handle. 
“And this is something which the Supreme 
Court of Alabama has never—has never ex-
pressed its views on, so I gather,” he noted.129 
Lewis summarizes the next part of the col-
loquy very well:

C: The Sup Ct of Ala, I suggest 
from the past history, will never 
reach the merits of this case—be-
cause it knows the injunx cannot be 
sustained on the merits.

[Correct answer is that punishment 
so exceeds crime that it amounts to 
denial of 1st Amend rts.]

And C now gives that answer.

You can’t use tortured construx of 
regis stat to bar out activities any 
more than you can use barratry 
stat, or tax (Bates), or conspiracy 
(La. V. NAACP).
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Ala is attempting to bar review on 
the merits by this ct. by reading de-
cisions on procedural grounds.

Unless this ct in this case is pre-
pared to issue a detailed decree 
which will give petr the rt to resume 
op in Ala w out the necessity of 
implementing that decree in the Ala 
cts, we think the cause will be here 
for a fifth time.130

Lewis circled numerous elements of these 
notes.

When it was Madison’s turn to step up 
to the lectern, Lewis began his notes the way 
he had when Carter addressed the justices—
with a short summary of counsel’s first sub-
stantive point: “The State of  Ala doesn’t con-
sider that the merits of this controversy are 
before this ct at this time.”131 Almost three 
minutes later, during which time no justice 
had asked any questions, Madison moved on 
to address whether the state supreme court 

had “reasonably and not arbitrarily” applied 
its rules in the case.132

It is Lewis who confirms for us the 
identity of the member of the Court who 
questioned Madison about one important 
point. The state assistant attorney general ex-
pressed his belief that the state supreme court 
had handled the case just the way the law-
yer had been taught, four decades earlier in 
law school, that it would (and always would). 
And, indeed, “we have a distinguished mem-
ber of this court who probably, still, knows 
more about Alabama practice than I do who 
could say one way or the other about it him-
self.”133 Justice Hugo L. Black took the bait. 
But he did not help Madison. Noted Lewis: 
“B: If 10 assignments of error are grouped 
and one is found inadequate, the ct doesn’t 
consider the other 9?”134 Black asked this 
rhetorical question with a note of incredu-
lity in his voice. He then proceeded to ask 
Madison question after question, all of which 
were designed to expose the Alabama court’s 

This is the first page of the notes that Anthony Lewis took during the March 24, 1964, oral arguments in Flowers. 
The notes provide us with a unique tool for understanding the dialogue that ensued, that day, between the lawyers 
and the justices.
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obstructionist tactics. And other justices fol-
lowed Black’s lead. As Lewis notes, Chief 
Justice Earl Warren finally intervened, want-
ing to know just why Alabama had not previ-
ously raised these points about the content of 
the NAACP’s brief: “CJ: Why didn’t u ques-
tion the validity of this brief?”135

The final question that Madison faced 
was asked by Justice Stewart, who expressed 
frustration with the actions of the Alabama 
Supreme Court. He just “didn’t understand 
the chain of reasoning of the opinion” of that 
tribunal. Madison’s response was the final 
thing he said as his time expired. “It is most 
difficult sometimes for me out here to give an 
explanation as to why a court did a certain 
thing or its reasons for it. Sometimes I know, 
and sometimes I do not.”136 It was a stunning 
concession.

By 1964, Lewis was extremely familiar 
with the work of the Warren Court, an insti-
tution that he “revered.”137 Indeed, “ ‘[y]ou 
cannot talk about the legacy of the Warren 
court and not talk about Tony Lewis . . . He 
was just part and parcel of it’ ”; “ ‘[h]e was al-
most the 10th justice of the Warren court. He 
was careful in his journalism, but his ethos 
was clearly the same as the Warren court.’ ”138 
And the respect was mutual. For example, 
during the oral arguments earlier in the year 
in New York Times v. Sullivan,139 Justice 
Byron R. White sent Lewis a note from the 
bench that playfully read “tony—I thought 
you would disqualify yourself from reporting 
this one, Byron.”140

In his memoir James (Scotty) Reston, 
the New York Times Washington Bureau 
chief at the time, tells the following story:

.  .  .  the Court on Mondays would 
sometimes hand down as many as 
a dozen or more decisions. Even on 
the Times we couldn’t give a lot of 
space to all of them, and decided to 
summarize a few in our own words. 
When I asked Judge Frankfurter 
what he thought of this idea, he 

denounced it as a cheeky presump-
tion. Nevertheless, Tony Lewis qui-
etly and carefully produced the sum-
maries and the Times printed all 
of them. The next morning Justice 
Frankfurter called me at home. ‘I 
can’t believe what that young man 
achieved,’ he said. ‘There aren’t two 
justices of the Court who have such 
a grasp on these cases.’141

It is therefore noteworthy that as the end of 
the Flowers oral arguments came into sight, 
Lewis did not anticipate the way in which the 
chief justice would conclude the proceedings.

Before the Court adjourned for lunch, 
Madison made a suggestion. Perhaps seeking 
to provide the justices with an option that he 
did not believe they would pursue, the lawyer 
stated that if the Court did wish to rule on the 
merits of the case, it should have the entire 
record before it. Summarized Lewis:

M: If you’re going to pass on the 
merits, then you ought to have be-
fore you the whole 1347-page record 
that was before the Ala Sup Ct—and 
you ought to give us new chance to 
brief and argue the merits.142

After Carter finished his post-lunch, ten-
minute rebuttal, the chief justice took the un-
usual step of addressing both attorneys: “Mr. 
Madison, in your argument this morning, you 
suggested that if the court was disposed to 
consider the merits, that it should view the 
entire record in the case.”143 What Warren 
said next prompted Lewis to write the fol-
lowing in his notes:

CJ ‘The ct is disposed to consider 
the merits.’ Directs—or rather in-
vites—Madison to send up the en-
tire record.

20 days to brief the merits.
20 for Carter to reply.
No further oral argument.

---
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Wow!

---

C had, in rebuttal, noted Madison’s 
difficulty in explaining the rules. If 
he can’t, who can?!144

The entire record of the case—bound into 
three volumes—found its way from Alabama 
to the Supreme Court of the United States 
nine days later, on April 2.145

Two newspapers published in Mont-
gomery—the white daily Montgomery Ad-
vertiser and the Black weekly Alabama Tri-
bune—provided starkly contrasting reports 
of the oral arguments in Flowers. The Ala-
bama Tribune focused on the shortcomings 
of Madison’s performance with an article 
that ran under the headline “Justice and the 
NAACP . . . ‘Sometimes I Know and Some-
times I Don’t Know,’ ” choosing to focus 
readers’ attentions on the assistant attorney 
general’s infamous closing words. The ar-
ticle was written by a staff reporter for the 
National Newspaper Publishers Association, 
an organization of Black newspaper publish-
ers. The article’s first dozen words reinforced 
the approach suggested by the headline: “An 
Alabama assistant Attorney General found 
himself defending decisions he didn’t under-
stand Tuesday . . .” Although the article sum-
marized the case and described numerous 
elements of Carter’s exchanges with the jus-
tices, Madison’s oral argument performance 
was the focus, and the author appeared to rel-
ish the opportunity to highlight the attorney’s 
weaknesses.146

Writing for the Advertiser as its legisla-
tive correspondent, one journalist, a well-con-
nected fixture in Washington, D.C.,147 penned 
a front-page article that gave the oral argu-
ments a very different, far more positive spin 
in favor of Alabama. Yes, it did mention that 
Madison “was subjected to intensive ques-
tioning,” and that “Madison admitted that his 
arguments had been ‘pretty well shot away’ 
by the justices’ queries.” That, however, was 

buried deep in the article, and followed by a 
paragraph emphasizing (with more accompa-
nying quotations) that the justices “also gave 
Carter a hard time.” The emphasis was not on 
the oral arguments themselves, but rather 
Warren’s directive at the end of the lawyers’ 
presentations. Under the headline “Alabama 
Given More Time in Case Against NAACP,” 
the article focused on Warren’s decision to 
set the twenty-day deadline for the state to 
furnish the court with a copy of the complete 
record in the case. Astonishingly, the journal-
ist wrote that “[t]he move was interpreted by 
court observers as giving Alabama time to 
strengthen its case against the NAACP.”148 As 
we have seen, this was far from the truth.

The Court Decides

To quote the late, great Yogi Berra, “it 
was déjà vu all over again.” While Justice 
Harlan was drafting his opinion for the unan-
imous Court in Flowers,149 Justice Clark was 
equivocating, again. Just as he had done six 
years earlier in Patterson, Clark felt it neces-
sary to write separately (from the record it is 
not clear whether he voted to deny certiorari 
in Flowers at the justices’ Conference on Oc-
tober 7, 1963).150

As his papers reveal, this time the solo 
opinion that Clark penned in Flowers was a 
concurrence, and like the Patterson draft dis-
sent, it was short (only seventy-five words) 
and it got straight to the point. However, 
when one considers it together with his draft 
opinion in Patterson, the intended Flowers 
opinion reads like a dissent:

MR. JUSTICE CLARK concurs 
in the holding of the Court that the 
nonfederal procedural ground relied 
upon by the Supreme Court of Ala-
bama (the asserted failure of peti-
tioner’s brief to conform to the rules 
of that court) is inadequate. How-
ever, since that court has not passed 
on the merits, he believes that orderly 
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procedure requires that the judgment 
be vacated and the case remanded to 
the Supreme Court of Alabama for 
decision on the merits.151

In essence, Clark’s objection to the Court’s 
disposition of Flowers was no different from 
the complaints he lodged, in dissent, about 
the outcome in Patterson.

Three drafts of the Flowers concurrence 
exist in Clark’s papers—one handwritten 
on yellow legal paper, one typed, and then 
one formatted and printed to look just like a 
finished Supreme Court opinion (minus the 
final date). What those drafts tell us is that 
the concurrence went virtually unchanged 
from start to finish. Clark’s OT63 clerk who 
worked on the case added a small amount 
of requisite language to the draft paragraph 
that Clark had given him. Yet, all that really 
changed was the verb tense—from past to 
present; and the addition of the words “as-
serted” and “However.”152

Although this Flowers concurrence 
shared the same fate as Clark’s Patterson 
dissent, there was one final significant dif-
ference between the two draft opinions. Un-
like in Patterson, Clark did not circulate his 
draft in Flowers. Two identical copies of the 
formatted and printed opinion are in Clark’s 
files—one bears a handwritten note in the 
margin: “This has not been circulated”; the 
other has two blue pencil lines drawn across 
it and handwritten at the top, again in blue 
pencil, are the words “I joined JMH.” We do 
not know why Clark decided to withdraw, 
rather than circulate, his concurrence. All 
we know is that he did. This meant that on 
Monday June 1, 1964, when Justice Harlan 
announced the decision in Flowers (exactly 
eight years after Judge Jones issued the origi-
nal temporary injunction ousting the NAACP 
from Alabama), his opinion spoke for the 
nine justices, in unanimity.

Harlan brought his opinion to a close 
with a paragraph that signaled the Court’s ut-
ter frustration with Alabama:

The judgment below must be re-
versed. In view of  the history of this 
case, we are asked to formulate a 
decree for entry in the state courts 
which will assure the Association’s 
right to conduct activities in Ala-
bama without further delay. While 
such a course undoubtedly lies within 
this Court’s power . . . we prefer to 
follow our usual practice and re-
mand the case to the Supreme Court 
of Alabama for further proceedings 
not inconsistent with this opinion. 
Such proceedings should include 
the prompt entry of a decree, in ac-
cordance with state procedures, va-
cating in all respects the permanent 
injunction order issued by the Cir-
cuit Court of Montgomery County, 
Alabama, and permitting the Asso-
ciation to take all steps necessary to 
qualify it to do business in Alabama. 
Should we unhappily be mistaken in 
our belief that the Supreme Court of 
Alabama will promptly implement 
this disposition, leave is given the 
Association to apply to this Court 
for further appropriate relief.153

It should be clear that this paragraph echoed 
numerous points made throughout the oral 
arguments, and the significance of the date of 
the Flowers decision was not lost on anyone 
who knew the history of the litigation.

The NAACP Returns to Alabama

The NAACP was ecstatic. Upon receipt 
of one particular congratulatory telegram, 
the NAACP’s Executive Director penned a 
thank you note that said the organization was 
“encouraged to know that the way is” finally 
“being opened for us to return to Alabama.” 
Continuing, he wrote: “It goes without say-
ing that we will make every effort to do so as 
quickly as is legally possible.”154
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The Supreme Court issued its official 
mandate to the Alabama Supreme Court on 
June 29, 1964. On August 27, the state court 
issued a terse per curiam opinion, continuing 
to refuse to become involved in the merits of 
the case. It instead simply fulfilled its duty of 
notifying the lower courts of the action taken 
by the nation’s highest court.155 The opinion 
was accurately described by the NAACP’s 
Deputy Executive Director, as “snotty.”156 
On September 11, 1964, the Montgomery 
Circuit Court issued an order dissolving the 
original June 1 injunction.157

The NAACP was chomping at the bit, 
ready to return to the Heart of Dixie. Re-
gional representatives began meeting to dis-
cuss reentry strategies at the beginning of 
August, but even before the ruling in Flowers 
plans had begun to be made in anticipation 
of a favorable and decisive ruling from the 
Supreme Court. As the NAACP’s Regional 
Director observed in text underlined twice 
at the bottom of an August memo, “we will 
be READY.”158 However, Alabama most cer-
tainly was not ready to allow the NAACP to 
resume business within its borders. Despite 
the court order, things were “proceeding 
slowly,”159 and it was not until early Novem-
ber that the time finally came for the NAACP 
to return to the Fourth Ave, Birmingham of-
fices that it had so hurriedly vacated over 
eight years earlier.160

The official process of reorganizing, re-
storing, and rebuilding the NAACP in Ala-
bama began in Birmingham, on Saturday 
October 31, 1964. As the organization’s 
Membership Secretary stated in a memo, 
the “principal purpose” of the gathering was 
to “reassure our people regarding our legal 
position in the State and to launch the state-
wide reorganization campaign.”161 In pursuit 
of this goal, the organization made “steady 
progress.”162 It was not a cheap undertaking; 
“special expenses” were incurred.163 How-
ever, the success was tangible. By the begin-
ning of 1965 twelve chartered units had been 
established in cities across the state, charters 

for three additional units were pending, and 
four colleges—the Tuskegee Institute, Niles 
College, Daniel Payne College, and Talla-
dega College—had chapters. Plans were in 
place for representatives from the new units 
to meet in Birmingham in February.164

Everyone knew that the rebuilding pro-
cess would not be smooth sailing. “Our old 
problems of police brutality, intimidation, 
violence, denial of the vote, and all other 
aspects of racial discrimination and segrega-
tion are all there waiting for us,” observed 
the Regional Director.165 NAACP Field Sec-
retary Syd Finley encountered this atmo-
sphere in November 1964 when he traveled 
to Anniston to try and reorganize a branch in 
that city. Writing “[f]or the benefit of future 
staff members journeying,” to the city, Fin-
ley noted that he was staying at the Jefferson 
Davis Hotel. “Service and treatment . . . has 
been courteous,” he observed, although “a 
note reading ‘Get out Nigger’ was left on 
my door the third morning I was at the ho-
tel.” Although, as he wrote with (“smiles”) 
in a postscript, he “couldn’t resist the use 
of the hotel’s” stationery for this piece of 
correspondence.166

Located sixty-five miles east of Bir-
mingham, at the time Anniston was home to 
approximately 32,000 people, and consider-
able racial violence. “The general reaction 
and response of Negroes in the Anniston 
area to reorganizing the NAACP Branch is 
extremely good,” wrote Finley. “Many of the 
communities [sic] leadership feel they can 
once again become active with a responsible 
Civil Rights organization, as they have felt 
very little has been accomplished” and that 
there remained “many unresolved problems.” 
In this one sentence, about one particularly 
troublesome location in the state, Finley per-
fectly captured (a) why Alabama had sought 
to permanently oust the NAACP; (b) the ef-
fects of the NAACP’s lengthy absence from 
the state; and (c) the need for the association 
to get itself back up and running in an expe-
ditious manner.



234	 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY	

Conclusion: “AWAKE ALABAMA!”

On July 31, 1965, thirteen months after 
the decision in NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. 
Flowers, the first issue of the newsletter of 
the State of Alabama N.A.A.C.P. Conference 
rolled off the presses. The association’s new 
president was clear in his message to members 
in the Heart of  Dixie—“Divided we are weak. 
Together we are strong.” It was imperative 
that the members “AWAKE ALABAMA!”167

The NAACP’s organizational strength and 
unity in Alabama, even when it was ousted 
from that state, was ultimately aided, four 
times over, by a strong and united Supreme 
Court. Sixty years later, the arguments in 
Flowers serve as a stark reminder of (a) the 
(primarily procedural) Alabamian roadblocks 
that resulted in the litigation going back up to 
the nation’s highest court so many times, and 
(b) the determination of the justices to force 
the hand of the state in 1964, one last, and 
decisive, time.

The following year, Richmond Flow-
ers, the Alabama attorney general listed as 
respondent on the Court’s 1964 decision, ex-
pressed an optimism that the South was in-
creasingly open to embracing “ ‘the three R’s 

of reason, responsibility and respect for the 
law.’ ”168 The notes that Anthony Lewis took 
during the oral arguments in Flowers help 
us to understand that with respect to the 
NAACP’s status in Alabama, the state would 
only start to embrace “ ‘the three R’s of rea-
son, responsibility and respect for the law’ ” 
after the justices successfully cut through the 
“legal tangle” that consisted of one proce-
dural roadblock after another.

The Citizens’ Council—a white su-
premacist organization founded in July 1954, 
in Indianola, Mississippi169—considered the 
NAACP to be “the most threatening enemy 
to white supremacy.” Using language that 
would be echoed in writings and statements 
issued across the South, the Council rede-
fined “the organization’s acronym as the ‘Na-
tional Association for the Agitation of Col-
ored People.’ ”170 The NAACP had not been 
able to formally ‘agitate the colored people’ 
of Alabama—it had not been able to conduct 
business within the confines of that state—
for eight years. Flowers changed that and, as 
such, had profoundly important, multifaceted 
consequences for the Civil Rights Movement 
in particular, and freedom of assembly more 
generally.

This is the letterhead of the Jefferson Davis Hotel in Anniston, Alabama. In a November 1964 letter to one of 
his NAACP colleagues, Field Secretary Syd Finley “couldn’t resist the use of the hotel’s” stationery for his cor-
respondence when he traveled to the town, sixty-five miles east of Birmingham, to try and reorganize a branch of 
the association in that city.
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It is thanks to Lewis’ reporting that we, 
the outside historical observers of the Court’s 
work, have a much better understanding of 
just how the justices achieved that goal in 
Flowers.

Lewis was a translator, an ambas-
sador, who in the Warren Court era 
fashioned himself as the People’s 
Solicitor General; he was the advo-
cate for the little guy before the high 
court, and an advocate to his readers 
about what the Court should be do-
ing for the little guy. With sophisti-
cated legal analysis and an eye for 
jurisprudential trends and shifts, his 
beat was the Constitution, as much 
as the Court. And as a consequence, 
his fingerprints are all over the doc-
trine he was covering.171

And so, perhaps we should give the final 
words to Lewis.

Writing in the New York Times a few 
days after the decision in Flowers, Lewis ob-
served that “more than anything the limita-
tions imposed on state power” by the Court 
in Brown, Reynolds v. Sims, and Patterson 
and Flowers, to name just four examples, “re-
flect our society’s judgment on what are its 
deepest values.” That is how it should be, be-
cause “[t]hose values are, after all, what is 
enshrined in the open phrases of the Consti-
tution.”172 Wise words, indeed.
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any “other explanation” be possible besides a 
conspiracy at the Court? All of these ques-
tions prompted the fretting in Chase’s letter 
to Miller:

[The Reverdy Johnson leak] may well 
amaze any body, unless there was, 
what I will not believe, a secret ar-
rangement among five of the Judges 
that the Missouri oath cases should 
be decided against the oath without 
any opportunity for fair consultation 
among the Judges, and one or more 
of the parties understanding was 
sanguine enough to take the success 
of the scheme for certain & spoke 
of what was agreed to be done as a 
fact accomplished. . . . If it be true as 
[Reverdy Johnson] says that a judge 

On July 3, 1866, Chief Justice Salmon P. 
Chase wrote to his friend and colleague, Jus-
tice Samuel F. Miller. The chief was worried 
about a major leak at the Supreme Court, a 
breach involving three pending cases. Weeks 
before, the leak had come from Reverdy 
Johnson, a Democratic Senator from Mary-
land and co-counsel in two of the three cases 
at issue. Johnson had leaked the Court’s deci-
sion, and done it before the Court had even 
come to a formal vote on the cases. In the 
time since, the leak had rocketed through the 
halls of Congress and around the nation.1

Yet how had Johnson come by the deci-
sion? How had he dared to report not only the 
Court’s vote, but also the actual principal sub-
stance of the eventual opinion—all expressed 
before the chief justice and other dissenters 
like Miller even knew of it themselves? Could 
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was elected to prepare the opinion 
this also must have been agreed on 
in the caucus! Is this possible? Can it 
be possible? On the other hand, how 
could Johnson have manufactured 
the story from whole cloth?2 

Leaks of Supreme Court decisions are by no 
means a new, twenty-first-century phenom-
enon.

For example, as we have seen in the pages 
of this Journal earlier this year, in the 1940s 
the journalist Drew Pearson printed “predic-
tions” about the outcomes in three cases, 
prompting considerable discussion, at the 
Court, about just who was responsible for 
these leaks to a member of the fourth es-
tate.3 This article contributes to the body of 
scholarship about these important moments 
in Supreme Court history by telling the story 
of the constitutional politics surrounding the 
three Test Oath Cases of 1866 (Ex parte Gar-
land, Cummings v. Missouri, and Garesché 
v. Missouri),4 the decisions which were the 
subjects of Senator Johnson’s leak.

A Politicized Leak at the Court?

Taken in the narrowest legal sense, the 
Test Oath Cases established that it was un-
constitutional for either Congress or a state 
constitutional convention to create qualifi-
cations that deprived persons of the right to 
practice one’s “lawful avocation” based on 
past conduct that had not been individually 
condemned in a court of law. In particular, 
neither attorneys like Augustus H. Garland 
and Alexander Garesché, nor pastors and 
priests like Reverend John A. Cummings 
could be barred from their professions based 
on their previous actions and statements in 
service of the Confederacy.5

In 1866, however, the Test Oath Cases 
stood for much more. Republican newspapers 
and Congressional leadership condemned the 
combined decisions as another “Dred Scott.” 

Indeed, Representative Thaddeus Stephens 
(R-PA) went so far as to say that the deci-
sion was even more dangerous to the security 
of the Union than the infamous 1857 deci-
sion.6 Justice Stephen J. Field’s opinions in 
the Test Oath Cases would be written ex-
tremely broadly to condemn not only restric-
tions on legal and pastoral practice, but also 
disqualifications from any “office of honor, 
trust or profit” in the country based on past 
conduct. Rather than merely securing the ex-
rebels’ right to serve as lawyers or priests, the 
opinions clearly supported their attempts to 
reclaim government office in the nation they 
had tried to violently reject. And then there 
was the secondary holding expanding the 
pardon power; with this holding, the Court 
weighed in heavily on the side of President 
Andrew Johnson in his efforts to resist con-
gressional disqualification of the former 
Confederates.7

There was nothing coincidental about 
Senator Johnson leaking the Test Oath Cases 
decisions in the final weeks of  Senate deliber-
ations over the Fourteenth Amendment. This 
marked one bold move in a much broader ef-
fort to sway not only the debate over Section 
Three, but the election of 1866 and therefore 
the pivotal moment of the struggle between 
Congress and President Andrew Johnson 
over control of Reconstruction. Immense po-
litical pressures were at play in and around 
the Court, generating the kind of fraught 
circumstances in which such a serious break-
down in judicial propriety and confidentiality 
could occur.

More importantly still, in the long term, 
Reverdy Johnson’s effort to delegitimate such 
disqualifications succeeded. Due to the leak, 
from the very moment of its passage Sec-
tion Three, and the system of state and fed-
eral disqualifications it capped, were already 
transforming in institutional and public per-
spectives. It went from being viewed as a 
moderate plan for entrusting the rebuilding 



242	 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY	

of southern democracy to loyal, integrated 
hands, to being perceived as a millstone of 
legitimated white southern grievance. Con-
sequently, the second great opportunity for 
transforming southern society—through the 
securing of loyalist power in the state govern-
ments themselves—began to be lost with the 
political machinations surrounding the Test 
Oath decisions. Leaking those decisions was 
far from inconsequential, for either the Court 
or the country.

The Political Stakes: Democratic 
Disqualification

While “disqualification” has long been a 
legal term,8 recent work in political science 
has developed the word into a concept, with 
“democratic disqualification” covering the 
range of different legal mechanisms used to 
bar existing political actors from returning 
to formal political power.9 In this sense, dis-
qualification represents something distinct 
from the kind of political exclusion we more 
typically think of, whereby classes of persons 
who have essentially never been admitted to 
formal political power in a democracy—for 
example women and Black Americans in an-
tebellum America—continue to be kept from 
political office.

Long a focus of study for the Confeder-
ate-sympathizing school of Dunning histori-
ans,10 the different ways in which the Confed-
erates were disqualified from political power 
has attracted less attention from revisionism 
and its heirs, who have trended instead to-
ward centering Black experiences and orga-
nizing in their analysis of Reconstruction 
politics.11 When Confederate disqualifica-
tion has received attention, it has done so in 
bits and pieces, with legal scholars focusing 
on the wartime12 and Reconstruction test 
oaths,13 expulsions,14 statutory and common 
law quo warranto suits,15 impeachments,16 
and Section Three’s Fourteenth Amendment 
disqualifications.17 When the focus is placed 

on these specific examples, one detrimental 
effect is the failure to bring a common frame 
of analysis to the different mechanisms used 
to exclude Confederates from officeholding 
across the entire period of the Civil War and 
Reconstruction. The analytical focus ends up 
being on the trees rather than the forest.

A more holistic analysis shows that the 
Union gradually built a vast and interlocking 
apparatus of state and federal disqualifica-
tions as the Civil War progressed. Disquali-
fications permeated throughout each layer of 
American political life throughout the War, 
from officeholding and voter disqualifications 
of Confederate abettors and draft dodgers by 
Nevada, Minnesota, West Virginia, Kentucky, 
Colorado, Idaho, Kansas, Maryland, Nevada, 
Oregon, the District of Columbia, New York, 
Ohio, Pennsylvania,  Arkansas, and Missouri;18 
to other states (including California) impos-
ing test oaths that barred Confederate-aiding 
lawyers;19 to the federal purge of Maryland’s 
legislature;20 to the famous congressional 
“ironclad oath” which excluded from the fed-
eral legislature, office, bar, and juries those 
who had ever aided the Confederacy;21 to 
President Lincoln’s executive order disquali-
fying and disfranchising Union Army desert-
ers.22 Disqualifications were implemented at 
every level of government, from local town 
councils and county courthouses all the way 
up to Congress itself.23

Emerging though they did in all kinds 
of different forms and from many different 
governments and political actors, these dis-
qualifications shared a common wartime jus-
tification—security for the Union and its ad-
herents and the inculcation of further loyalty 
to the cause throughout the body politic. And 
whereas the Union Army and federal govern-
ment also made several hundred political ar-
rests and tried citizens before military tribu-
nals during the war, disqualifications could be 
applied on a broader basis, bringing a much 
wider range of federal, state, and local actors 
into the cause of  Union and Reconstruction.24
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As open army-to-army conflict gradu-
ally came to an end, then, these disqualifica-
tions presented one of the great questions of 
early Reconstruction. To what extent did the 
Constitution permit continuing governmen-
tal efforts to bar former rebels from holding 
positions of political power in society?

The Political Stakes: Border State 
Disqualification

Policies of disqualification were enacted 
widely throughout the Union, but it was 
in the border states that disqualifications 
reached their peak intensity. While serving 
as the Unionist governor of  Tennessee, for 
instance, Andrew Johnson applied a stringent 
loyalty oath to remove the mayor of Nash-
ville, as well as the city council and virtually 
all other municipal officers. The future presi-
dent applied the same policies to Confeder-
ate-sympathizing clergymen, barring them 
from preaching unless they took the oath of 
loyalty. This is a policy that was followed 
elsewhere in the Union during the war.25 And 
Andrew Johnson would use an even more re-
strictive oath to limit the membership of the 
Tennessee Unionist Constitutional Conven-
tion of 1864 to citizens of proven loyalties. 
On June 5, 1865, the newly constituted legis-
lature formalized these restrictions, disquali-
fying all those who had ever “been engaged 
in armed rebellion against the authority of 
the United States voluntarily” from the fran-
chise, except those “honorably discharged” 
from or serving in the Union Army.26

West Virginia, Maryland, and Kentucky 
applied similar restrictions. Soon after form-
ing an independent state government in 1863, 
West Virginia imposed a strict test oath bar-
ring abettors of the Confederacy from hold-
ing office or the franchise, adding a further 
restriction from legal practice on February 
14, 1866. Likewise, Kentucky barred all for-
mer aiders and abettors of the Confederacy 
from holding office or voting in the state. 

And in October of 1864, Maryland ratified 
a new state constitution with an ironclad-
style oath for voters and officeholders. These 
states each developed significant voter reg-
istration systems, backed by election judges 
and questionnaires.27

Yet it is Missouri that went the furthest. 
Following years of brutal backwoods mas-
sacres and bushwhacker guerilla warfare,28 
Charles D. Drake and the radical Republican 
leadership of western Missouri succeeded in 
enacting a strict disqualification regime as 
part of the Missouri Constitution of 1865.29 
Promulgated to the people for ratification 
the day before Robert E. Lee’s surrender 
at Appomattox, the Missouri Constitution 
brought many of these other disqualification 
policies together under one extremely strict 
test oath. Not only state officeholders, but 
voters, ministers, members of the state bar, 
and corporate officers all had to swear that 
they had never “been in armed hostility to 
the United States” and the “government of 
the State”; that they had never “manifested 
[their] adherence to the cause” of the nation’s 
“enemies”; that they had never submitted to 
Confederate service “except under overpow-
ering compulsion”; that they had not given 
aid or encouragement to persons so engaged; 
and that they had never left the state or been 
enrolled as a southern sympathizer in order 
to avoid the draft. Controversial from the mo-
ment of its proposal at the Convention, the 
provision nevertheless was highly popular 
among the loyalist voters of eastern Missouri 
and attained ratification with the rest of the 
Constitution in June 1865.30

None of these disqualification practices 
were unique to Missouri. However, the state 
did formalize a wider range of disqualifica-
tions than any other Union government. Ac-
cordingly, Missouri saw an unprecedented 
bloom of legal challenges. These received 
substantial political support from conserva-
tive Unionists like the powerful Blair fam-
ily,31 who allied with the tens of thousands 
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of disqualified ex-Confederates against the 
state constitution. Two of the three 1866 Su-
preme Court Test Oath Cases—the subject 
of Reverdy’s leak—emerged from challenges 
to this constitution, brought respectively by 
a lawyer and a Catholic priest who had been 
barred by Missouri officials from legal and 
pastoral practice due to their known Con-
federate sympathies and refusals to take the 
oath. These were the cases of Missouri v. 
Garesché 32 and Cummings v. Missouri.33

These cases heralded a much broader 
wave of disqualification challenges. As Gar-
esché and Cummings were working their way 
through the state courts, Missouri conser-
vatives and ex-Confederates brought fur-
ther challenges specifically to the political 

disqualifications regarding voting and of-
ficeholding. The conservative former Union 
General Francis Blair, Jr. even brought his 
own challenge to the voting restriction based 
on his argument that he could not honestly 
take the test oath due to his wartime rejec-
tion of secessionist Governor Claiborne Fox 
Jackson’s Confederate pretender govern-
ment.34 These challenges to the state’s politi-
cal disqualifications resounded throughout 
the South, with the Missouri cases echoing 
first in similar suits brought in West Vir-
ginia35 and Tennessee.36 Thus, Garesché and 
Cummings came to the Supreme Court not 
simply as a limited challenge to the applica-
tion of test oaths to professional practice but 
as the spearpoint of a much more sweeping 

Missouri formalized a wider range of disqualifications than any other Union government. Accordingly, Missouri 
saw an unprecedented bloom of legal challenges. Two of the three 1866 Supreme Court Test Oath Cases emerged 
from those challenges. This is the loyalty oath of James K. Knight of Missouri, County of St. Louis, signed October 
22, 1868.



AN END TO REBEL “PUNISHMENT”	 245

challenge to the fragile system of loyalist 
control across the region.37

Electoral Stakes

Claims that loyalty oaths were uncon-
stitutional ran headlong into the Republican 
Reconstruction program, which looked to 
rely heavily on political disqualifications.38 
As both Missouri’s ratification of the 1865 
Constitution and West Virginia’s February 
1866 extension of disqualification to the 
state bar showed, there was little sign that the 
governments of the Union would soon bring 
their disqualification policies to an end with 
the surrender of the remaining largescale 
Confederate armies.

Instead, both congressional Republi-
cans and the vulnerable Republican parties 
of the border and southern-occupied states 
were gripped by a great fear. Readmission of 
the former Confederates and their state gov-
ernments to political representation would 
return the “Slave Power” planter class to its 
longstanding antebellum position of political 
domination—and not only over vulnerable 
southern Black and loyalist communities. 
Bolstered by the support of both northern 
“copperhead” Democrats and a Thirteenth 
Amendment that had added the full Black 
population to counts of congressional rep-
resentation without securing Black suffrage, 
southern Democrats openly plotted to extend 
their ascendancy to Congress itself. What 
loomed was the very real possibility that the 
rebel leadership could reverse the gains of a 
war won through “bullets” and Union sacri-
fice by achieving a superiority in “ballots” 
gained through manipulating the exclusion 
of the Black vote.39

Another Threat to Radical Reconstruction: 
The Presidential Pardon

President Andrew Johnson contributed 
significantly to these fears. Following Presi-
dent Lincoln’s death on April 15, 1865, and 

his own ascension to the presidency, John-
son soon began to pivot sharply away from 
his wartime reputation for making “treason 
odious.” By enacting largescale amnesties 
of the Confederates, he not only brought an 
end to the first great opportunity for bring-
ing significant social change to the South; 
that is, through the reappropriation of confis-
cated planter property to the freedmen who 
had worked the great estates as slaves.40 His 
amnesties also looked likely to secure ex-
Confederate officeholders against disqualifi-
cation and other Unionist interventions. For 
example, in November of 1866, the gover-
nor-elects of Mississippi and South Carolina 
sought pardons from President Johnson im-
mediately following the elections, as they 
feared removal and potential arrest and con-
fiscation of estate otherwise.41

By making the pardons of the wealthiest 
and most politically influential ex-Confed-
erates contingent upon special application 
to him through his favored provisional gov-
ernors, Johnson achieved a powerful degree 
of influence with the southern elite, whose 
“tangible obligations to the Executive and the 
nation” he might leverage to his re-election. 
Witnesses before the congressional Commit-
tee on Reconstruction reported that Johnson’s 
pardons had only “drawn” pardoned rebels 
“to President Johnson personally, and to the 
democratic party,” while failing to bring them 
“one whit closer to the government . . . con-
sidered apart from the person of the Execu-
tive.” Indeed, southerners “mistook lenience 
as evidence of weakness and not as evidence 
of [national] generosity.” Before they had 
“appeared crushed and penitent”; but once 
they obtained their pardons “most of them 
became arrogant, aggressive, and abusive 
of the national government,” something that 
was especially true of the “wealthy class” of 
whom Johnson required “special pardons.”42

Johnson extended hundreds of pardons 
to other state officeholders as well, solidifying 
ex-Confederate and conservative control over 
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the provisional state governments. Unsurpris-
ingly, these administrations soon distinguished 
themselves by imposing a “second slavery” 
in the form of the Black Codes, whose pro-
hibitions on Black testimony, travel, and em-
ployment autonomy, as well as abuses toward 
white Unionists, provoked outrage through-
out the North just as the thirty-ninth Con-
gress prepared to open in December 1865.43 
Moreover, the Johnson administration’s poli-
cies not only bolstered the position of ex-
Confederates within the provisional gov-
ernments. They also threatened any future 
disqualification system that Congress might 
require in the process of reconstituting new 
state governments for readmission.

For one, it remained entirely unclear 
how the presidential pardon might interact 
with federally imposed disqualifications. Did 
a pardon excuse a prospective officeholder 
or voter from taking the “ironclad” oath or 
from other federal means of disqualifica-
tion? Lincoln’s first attorney general, Edward 
Bates, had determined that “[b]y a pardon 

and amnesty . . . not only is the punishment 
of that personal guilt remitted, but the of-
fense itself is effaced,” ostensibly returning 
pardoned rebels to the same state of politi-
cal existence that they had occupied prior to 
their rebellious actions. Congressional Dem-
ocrats expanded upon this maximalist view 
of the pardon, arguing that the oath should 
not be required of any federal juror, lawyer, 
officeholder, or congressional representative 
that had received a presidential pardon.44 
And even if this maximalist version of the 
pardon (which reached beyond punishment 
to cleansing away the very legal fact of one’s 
participation in an offense) was rejected, 
surely any restriction denoted a “punish-
ment” would be reached.45

It was on this theory that Ex parte Gar-
land, the third of the three Test Oath Cases, 
arose.46 While Garesché and Cummings had 
challenged the Missouri Constitution’s pro-
fessional disqualification provisions, Augus-
tus Hill Garland attacked the similarly retro-
spective federal ironclad oath as it applied to 

After ascending to the presidency in April, 1865, Andrew Johnson soon began to pivot sharply away from his war-
time reputation for making “treason odious.” He did this by, in part, extending hundreds of pardons to other state 
officeholders, solidifying ex-Confederate and conservative control over provisional state governments. This im-
age of Johnson pardoning rebels at the White House appeared on the cover of Harper’s Weekly in October 1865.
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members of the federal bar. Garland was a 
leading Arkansas lawyer and prominent ex-
Confederate Senator who would later serve 
as United States Senator and Attorney Gen-
eral for Grover Cleveland, the first Demo-
cratic President since James Buchanan. As a 
leading Arkansas citizen and initial opponent 
of secession, Garland sought readmission 
to the federal bar based on his special par-
don from President Andrew Johnson and the 
claimed unconstitutionality of the oath.47

Meanwhile, in the same last weeks of 
1865 that the Court accepted Ex parte Gar-
land and the other Test Oath Cases for re-
view, dozens of ex-rebel Congressmen-elect 
began to arrive in Washington, D.C. Work-
ing on the maximalist theory of pardon, the 
southern provisional governments sent a slate 
of ex-Confederate delegates to Congress, in-
cluding ten Confederate generals, nine Con-
federate congressmen, and even the Vice 
President of the Confederacy, Alexander H. 
Stephens.48 What portended then was an al-
liance struck between conservative Unionists 
like Andrew Johnson and the southern po-
litical elite, united in defense of whites-only 
government through opposition to the essen-
tial combination of policies that could still 
challenge it: ex-Confederate disqualification 
and Black suffrage.49 Such an alliance could 
easily reach a veto-proof minority if not a 
majority itself, hamstringing any possible 
movement against the southern provisional 
governments and their Black Codes.50

Famously, radical and moderate Repub-
licans came together to break the momen-
tum of Johnson’s provisional governments 
by refusing to seat the southern delegates 
in December of 1865, thereby effectively 
disqualifying the provisional state govern-
ments themselves, rather than individual 
delegates, from the political representation 
they claimed. Yet at best this desperate mea-
sure could only protect Congress itself from 
the intrusion of rebel delegates and their 
program of renewed white supremacy and 

payment of Confederate debts. It did nothing 
to clear rebels from the states, where most of 
the governance that directly affected people’s 
lives took place. The Union Army had exer-
cised its military authority on an ad hoc basis 
to remove, arrest, and replace civil officials 
throughout the occupied South during the 
period of open warfare. But Congress would 
have to build and sustain a more comprehen-
sive and enduring program of disqualifica-
tions if it hoped to secure civil rights for and 
political empowerment and self-protection 
of the freedmen and their Unionist allies 
throughout southern communities.51

Thus, as 1866 opened and as the John-
son Administration became ever more hostile 
to any further movement on Reconstruction, 
it was clear that some formalized system of 
southern disqualifications would be essential 
to secure congressional policies. Congress 
had one powerful disqualification tool at its 
disposal in the federal ironclad oath. And the 
states, especially the border states, offered 
examples of how such disqualification mech-
anisms could be used to construct a broader 
system of electoral administration for the 
South, with “registry laws” and systems for 
checking officeholder qualifications.52 But 
could those disqualifications be sustained?53

Is Disqualification Constitutional?

Significant questions remained as to the 
viability of these disqualifications, including 
but also stretching beyond those surround-
ing the presidential pardon. Were the state 
and federal test oaths restricting access to the 
vote, political positions, jury, bar, and pas-
torate legitimate regulations of the suffrage, 
officeholding, and the professions? And did 
they stand together, or did some sufficient 
basis exist for distinguishing between the 
different targets of disqualification? Or were 
they politically-enacted punishments, and 
thus presumptively unconstitutional “bills of 
attainder” that criminally punished a person 
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through legislative action, or perhaps “ex 
post facto” laws that created or changed the 
penalties for a past criminal offense? Urged 
initially in the courts by Garland and Cum-
mings co-counsel, Reverdy Johnson, these 
arguments soon echoed in the halls of Con-
gress, pushed forward again and again by 
Johnson and other Democrats.

What Senator Johnson was orchestrating, 
in other words, was not merely a set of legal 
cases, but a multi-pronged and multi-targeted 
campaign across different fora of constitu-
tional politics. And not just in Congress and 
the courts, but in the elections themselves 
as well. After all, Republicans in and out of 
Congress faced yet another issue: once per-
sons were legally disqualified, by what means 
could their exclusion from these positions of 
power be maintained against perjury? The 
ever-present Johnson intensified this concern 
with his other widely publicized argument that 
it was impossible to perjure oneself morally or 
legally by means of an “unconstitutional oath.”

Following Reverdy Johnson’s example, 
Democrat political leaders and newspapers 
actively encouraged ex-Confederates to take 
such oaths, even offering specific instruc-
tions and justification for how to pressure 
their way past registrars and election judges. 
Without firm control over the administration 
of these oaths in different localities, it was 
entirely possible for former Confederates to 
force their way back into elections and office-
holding by means of faked “Reverdy John-
son oaths,” especially as the question of their 
constitutionality hung in the balance.54

Perhaps most important of all, would the 
public be willing to accept that these laws 
were constitutionally legitimate? Or would 
it be difficult (or impossible) to convince the 
populace that these laws were something 
more than a wartime necessity? In 1866 it 
was clear that the “American people do not 
intend to give up all that they have gained by 
the war—and they do intend that loyal men 
should govern the country.” And it was far 

from inevitable that a majority of the justices 
would view these disqualifications laws as 
legislated criminal punishment. There was 
certainly sociopolitical precedent for view-
ing the laws as nonpunitive, intended only to 
secure “incapacitation” of a recognized pub-
lic threat rather than retribution.55 But would 
this view prevail, especially if a leading in-
stitution of constitutional legitimacy like the 
Supreme Court called the constitutionality of 
the oaths into question?56

In early 1866, Congress began to craft 
a disqualification regime that might extend 
beyond the readmission of the southern 
states to congressional representation. This 
regime would find three main points of basis 
in American law. The first would be within 
the disqualificatory provisions of the con-
stitutions of most, although not all, of the 
southern states. As has been described, the 
border states were already pioneering this 
form, which would be much replicated un-
der congressional Reconstruction. A second, 
federal foundation would be found in Con-
gress’s continuation of the 1862 ironclad 
oath for federal jurors, officials, and officers, 
which by 1864 had been extended to senators 
and representatives as well.57 Finally, a third 
basis would be established in the Constitu-
tion itself. Section Three of the Fourteenth 
Amendment would apply interfederally, bar-
ring ex-Confederates who had held state or 
federal office before the war from both state 
and federal officeholding.

The Test Oath Cases took aim squarely 
at the first two legal foundations for Confed-
erate disqualification. Yet they also targeted 
its third basis, in Section Three of the Four-
teenth Amendment. If ex-Confederates could 
establish the basic unconstitutionality of dis-
qualification as found in its federal statutory 
and state constitutional forms, then the polit-
ical legitimacy of Section Three could itself 
begin to crumble, reduced from a necessary 
and legitimate political safeguard to a merely 
punitive partisan vengeance upon the South.
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Section Three of the Fourteenth 
Amendment

The congressional framers of the Four-
teenth Amendment were fully aware of the 
threat posed by the Test Oath Cases. They 
knew it was the leading instrument in the ef-
fort to recharacterize political disqualifica-
tion as unconstitutional punishment. Again, 
the cases were submitted to the Court in De-
cember of 1865 just as the thirty-ninth Con-
gress opened and made its exclusion of the 
southern delegations. The Court heard the 
cases in April of 1866, in the same weeks 
that the Committee on Reconstruction pub-
lished its first draft of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment (including Section Three), alongside a 
further federal officeholding disqualification 
bill. And Congress was soon echoing with 
the same arguments that Reverdy Johnson 
had posed in the Court, that such disquali-
fications were in violation of the original 
Constitution’s prohibition on ex post facto 
criminal punishments and bills of attainder.58 
As Senator Daniel Clark (R-NH) would point 
out, “[e]very Democrat in Congress and out 
of it is for the [oath’s] repeal.” They “deny 
its legality [and think it] a nullity, and that if 
required to take it the verist traitor could do 
so and yet escape the pains and penalties of 
perjury, [as] Rebels all say that it is no oath, 
not being warranted by the Constitution.”59

Under the pressure of conservative at-
tacks, the Senate framers chose to craft Sec-
tion Three as a self-consciously moderate 
provision, one that abandoned the initial 
push of House leadership to disfranchise all 
members of the secessionist army and gov-
ernments from all federal elections until July 
4, 1870. Instead, the Section would only re-
strict access to officeholding, albeit at both 
the federal and state level. The prohibition 
would be removable only by a two-thirds 
vote of each house, and it would only stand 
against those persons who had sworn an of-
ficial oath of loyalty to the Constitution prior 

to their having “engaged in insurrection or 
rebellion against the [United States] or given 
aid or comfort to the enemies thereof.”60

With this wording, the Senate Framers 
sought to tailor constitutional disqualifica-
tion away from covering all the “misguided 
masses of the South” and toward the specific 
persons whom in Republican party ideology 
were the most significant continuing threat 
for their demonstrated treachery and contin-
ued “weight” in Southern society. Those per-
sons being the “Slave Power” leadership class 
who had controlled most political positions 
in the antebellum South, who had betrayed 
prior oaths of loyalty to the Union, and who 
had had the greatest role in starting the war 
in the first place.61

Yet despite its comparative moderacy of 
approach, Section Three was stalked by the 
same punishment question as threatened the 
more expansive state and federal test oaths. 
In both the House and the Senate, Repub-
licans repeatedly denied that either the test 
oath or the Fourteenth Amendment consti-
tuted de facto punishment of the rebels. In-
stead, Republicans insisted again and again 
that there was no criminal punishment, only 
a merited “safeguard” for the Union against 
rebels.62

“[I]n any other Government on earth,” 
the Senate framers noted, the Confederate 
leadership “would be hung or banished, and 
their property would be confiscated.” Indeed, 
some Republicans had previously urged that 
targeted treason prosecutions and criminal 
punishment of “the most prominent and 
most wicked” be sought as an additional de-
terrent measure alongside the more general 
and nonpunitive “safeguard” of disqualifica-
tions.63 But that kind of program of substan-
tial punishment for treason was already well 
on its way to being fully surrendered by the 
fecklessness64 and political opportunism of 
the Johnson administration. Now, Congress 
“only propose[d] that, having attempted 
to ruin, [the Confederate leadership] shall 
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not now rule.”65 Despite being the major 
cause of more than “250,000” Union military 
deaths, rebel generals like “Lee, Johnston, 
Wade Hampton, [and] Moseby” would not 
be punished—and not even constitutionally 
removed from their rights of suffrage—but 
only politically disarmed from harming the 
Union and its loyal citizens further through 
control over the reins of state power. Section 
Three would remove their ability to hold of-
fice. They would be allowed to “remain in the 
country, retain their property, and enjoy with 
us the equal protection of the laws, but they 
shall not govern loyal men.”66

The Framers admitted that disqualifi-
cation was sometimes included by both the 
states and Congress as an additional penalty 
attached to criminal punishments. But they 
denied that this was the purpose in this case, 
where disqualifications for disloyalty stood 
separately as a regulation of the qualifications 
of officeholding. Instead, the provision was 
defined by its “security” purpose. As Senator 
Waitman T. Willey (R-WV) declared:

I will state what I understand to be 
[the] purpose [of this amendment]. 
It is not to punish the men who en-
gaged in the rebellion for the crime 
which they have committed . . . but, 
not being penal in its character, it 
is precautionary. It looks not to the 
past, but it has reference, as I un-
derstand it, wholly to the future. It 
is a measure of self-defense. It is 
designed to prevent a repetition of 
treason by these men, and being a 
permanent provision of the Consti-
tution, it is intended to operate as a 
preventive of treason hereafter . . .67

Indeed, Section Three was explicitly an aban-
donment of punishment in favor of other 
“safeguards” for peace. “Here, as in every 
other proposition contained in this amend-
ment, nothing is demanded for vengeance, 
but everything for security.” The “guilt or 

innocence of the party was not the matter at 
issue,” Willey insisted, for “we [a]re not try-
ing them for their crimes, but we [a]re provid-
ing security for the future peace of the coun-
try.”68 Senator William Windom (R-MN) 
would build on Willey’s argument, claiming:

We insist upon nothing for revenge; 
no blood, no executions, no ban-
ishments, no confiscations. We ask 
no indemnity for the past, for that 
is impossible. The dead cannot be 
revived; broken hearts cannot be 
healed. The horrors of  Andersonville 
and Belle Isle can have no atonement 
in this world. But we do demand se-
curity for the future. In this, and this 
alone, consists our offense.69

And beyond its non-punitive security pur-
pose, the form of the amendment was solely 
civil in its application rather than criminal. 
As Senator John B. Henderson (R-MO) ex-
plained, criminal “punishment means to take 
away life, liberty, or property [which] are ab-
solute or inalienable rights  .  .  .  [and which] 
ought never to be taken away without due pro-
cess of law.” By contrast, the Amendment and 
other disqualifications were only “act[s] fix-
ing the qualifications of officers.” And since 
“[o]ffice is the creation of Government,” the 
“right” to it was “not absolute but conven-
tional,” and subject to civil not criminal law. 
“The Government created it and [therefore] 
the Government can take it away” without 
incurring the restrictions of criminal law. 
Indeed, the “American courts,” Henderson 
pointed out, had never seen it “as a punish-
ment when conventions and Legislature de-
prived incumbents of their offices.” Rather, as 
a house commentator contended, the practice 
of disqualification was longstanding under 
the federal Constitution, with the constitu-
tionality of the continuing state disqualifica-
tions of British loyalists effectively affirmed 
twice in federal law by Congress in both the 
Washington and Jefferson administrations.70



	 AN END TO REBEL “PUNISHMENT”	 251

Rather than presenting unconstitutional 
and illegitimate punishments, Section Three’s 
proponents argued, disqualifications offered 
hope:

For if leading rebels are to be ex-
cluded from office, State as well as 
Federal, there is a reasonable prob-
ability that the loyal men of the 
South will control it, and in that 
event the long-anticipated political 
millennium, in which the secession 
lion and the Democratic lamb shall 
lie down together on downy beds 
of power, will be as far removed as 
ever.71

Paired with Black suffrage in the South, Con-
gress could block the avowed plan of the 
“Traitors [to] not only vote twice, once for 
themselves and once for the negro, but [to] 
also [access] the highest official positions in 
the Government they have tried to destroy.” 
While not criminally “punished” for their 
treason, such men would at least “not make 
or execute laws for loyal men” and especially 
not for the much-praised “Black soldiery” 
who had saved the Union war effort.72

Continuing “Traitor” rule had real nega-
tive effects on the ground. The year since 
Appomattox had presented “indubitable evi-
dence” of continued southern intransigence, 
with,

their lamentations for the ‘lost cause;’ 
their insults to the national flag; their 
toasts and public demonstrations in 
honor of the most obnoxious leaders 
of the rebellion .  .  .  their mobbings 
of black loyalists .  .  .  their murders 
of Unionists, and destruction of 
their dwellings, schoolhouses, and 
churches . . . [and] their reënactment 
of vagrant laws and slave codes for 
freedom [as a] reëstablish[ment of 
slavery] in fact and with increasing 
cruelty.

The Committee on Reconstruction had al-
ready taken hundreds of pages of testimony 
as to these southern abuses.73

Constitutional disqualification therefore 
presented a real, lasting model of response, 
one that could endure against changes in 
Congress, the Court, and presidency while 
capping the wider-sweeping statutory and 
state-based disqualifications. In a nation still 
profoundly committed to federalist princi-
ples of state rule and with a wary view of sus-
tained federal power, rebel disqualifications 
offered the possibility that the local loyal 
could predominate in state officeholding. 
From there, they could apply the well-estab-
lished institutions of state power—the courts, 
militia, and state criminal law—to breaking 
the long fever of rebel violence, reducing the 
need for direct federal intervention, even as 
the congressional remedy incentivized re-
pentance as a path for acceptance back into 
the political fold.74

This, then, was the world of disquali-
fication politics into which the Test Oath 
Cases dropped. As congressional Repub-
licans looked toward fully implementing 
their disqualification program in 1867, they 
hoped for democratic legitimation from the 
public in the November elections. And they 
feared the Court’s intervention on the side 
of Andrew Johnson and his emerging, self-
avowedly white supremacist coalition with 
former Confederates.

The Justices Intervene

Chief Justice Salmon P. Chase had sought 
to limit the Court’s exposure to the turmoil 
over disqualification, especially in the leadup 
to the pivotal elections of November 1866. 
Beginning with the spread of Johnson’s leak 
in late May of 1866, however, the Court was 
pulled inexorably into the political mael-
strom. Finally, at the turn of 1867, Justice 
Field’s narrow majority produced a pair of 
politically damaging yet legally ambiguous 
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decisions, whose consequences would play 
into the unravelling of Section Three and, in 
time, the rest of Reconstruction’s disqualifi-
cation order.

Chief Justice Chase’s efforts to limit the 
immediate political effect of the Test Oath 
decisions were hardly the result of any strong 
commitment to an apolitical judiciary. In-
deed, the Republican Party founder and for-
mer Treasury Secretary was known by nearly 
everyone in Washington but himself to be 
an inveterate seeker of the presidency. As 
his friend and fellow Justice Miller would 
later put it, it was this all-consuming politi-
cal “ambition” that eventually “warped, per-
verted, [and] shrivelled” his “warm heart,” 
undermining both his indisputable talents as 
a jurist and statesman and, in the leadup to 
the 1868 election, his decades of proud com-
mitment75 to the cause of Black freedom.76 
Chase had succeeded Roger B. Taney to the 
position immediately following the failure of 

his second, 1864 attempt to secure the Re-
publican presidential nomination. Throughout 
1866, Chase remained primarily allied with 
the Republicans, especially in his well-pub-
licized championship of  Black suffrage, but 
he would soon begin his shift toward seeking 
the Democratic nomination in 1868.77

In April of 1866, however, the Chief Jus-
tice wanted to avoid a direct confrontation 
with the Republicans of Congress, especially 
in the leadup to the November elections. Af-
ter initial reluctance, especially over Section 
Three, Chase had come to support the Re-
publican Party’s core Fourteenth Amendment 
electoral plank.78 He therefore almost cer-
tainly wished to delay any judicial challenge 
to the disqualifications that undergirded both 
Section Three and the broader Republican 
Reconstruction program.

It was that political impulse which seems 
to have led Chief Justice Chase, working to-
gether with the other eventual dissenters, 

The Chase Court (1864–1873) heard the Test Oath Cases. This first group photograph taken of the justices that 
comprised that Court included Clerk of the Court D.W. Middleton (standing at left). Justice Stephen J. Field, who 
wrote the controversial opinions for the Court in the Test Oath Cases, is seated furthest right.
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Justices Miller, Noah Swayne, and David Da-
vis, to seek a postponement of the decisions 
in the Test Oath Cases from the March 1866 
Term until the December Term, after the piv-
otal midterm elections. That choice to delay 
was only narrowly secured. Justice Field had 
pushed to resolve all three of the decisions 
that Term. However, as the judicial Confer-
ence bogged down in “hours” of debate over 
Ex parte Garland, Field “at last, moved to 
continue th[at] case till the next term” so 
as to at least settle Cummings and Gares-
ché. Justice Miller, however, “expressed the 
opinion that as the first [Test Oath] case had 
been continued these should be also.” Chase 
supported this view. With the weight of the 
chief justice’s opinion on their side, the fu-
ture dissenters then managed to pressure Jus-
tice Robert C. Grier to join them in voting 
for postponement of the remaining Test Oath 
Cases (although, that vote was itself nearly 
undone on the last day of the Term).79

The Leak

Reverdy Johnson’s leak undermined this 
small victory of Conference maneuvers. 
Coming a bare ten days before the Senate’s 
passage of the Fourteenth Amendment and 
amidst fierce ongoing debate over both Sec-
tion Three and the federal test oath, it seemed 
clear that the leak was calculated to shake the 
legitimacy of Section Three and the broader 
system of disqualifications. Both the Repub-
lican framers and their Democratic opponents 
knew full well that the “test oath and this bill 
[of amendment] stand constitutionally upon 
exactly similar foundations.” An attack on 
the legitimacy of the test oath disqualifica-
tions could therefore not help but target the 
Amendment as well. Indeed, Reverdy John-
son and other Democrats directly referenced 
the Court’s leaked decision in debates over 
both Section Three and the test oath, present-
ing it as a common basis to reject both poli-
cies. Widely reprinted in newspapers through-
out the nation, the leak marked a well-aimed 

thrust in the electoral struggle over an es-
sential plank of both the 1866 Republican 
platform and the party’s broader program for 
southern reconstruction.80

Upon reading one of the many news 
reports of the leak in the first days of June 
1866, Justice Miller swiftly posted it to the 
chief justice, along with his analysis of the 
situation. In particular, Miller tied the Court’s 
internal contestation over the Cases to the 
political situation within and beyond Mis-
souri. The “political contest” in that state 
between “the radicals and their opponents; 
the latter including every returned rebel in 
the State” had reached an existential point, 
one centered on the question of whether or 
not the disqualifications implemented by the 
state’s “stringent [test] oath” were or were 
not unconstitutional punishments. The na-
tional “parties” themselves perceived that the 
contest over this question would “settl[e] the 
future of that state for years to come, not 
only in its political relations but as affecting 
the personal safety of the respective parties.” 

Senator Reverdy Johnson (D-MD) leaked the decisions 
in the Test Oath Cases. He had originally voted in favor 
of the federal test oath for lawyers before later decry-
ing it as unconstitutional. He had also served as John 
Sanford’s attorney before the Supreme Court in claim-
ing ownership over Dred Scott.
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Indeed, this “[u]ndoubtedly . . . was the pur-
pose arrived at by the motion of Judge Field, 
that we should decide this case” while allow-
ing the temporary postponement of the “con-
gressional oath case.”81

And what was true of Missouri could 
easily come to be true of the rest of the bor-
der state disqualifications, and from there 
those of the rest of the nation. Miller feared 
that Reverdy Johnson’s “assertion; that the 
Sup. Court of the United States has decided 
it to be in Conflict with the Constitution of 
the United States” was already beginning 
to “tell[] with fatal effect on the radicals” in 
Missouri. Its confirmation by the Court could 
threaten the political legitimacy of disqualifi-
cations more broadly. Justice Miller had long 
supported disqualification measures like the 
test oaths, not as a means of punishment or 
“gratification of resentment for the crime,” 
but as a reasonable and indeed necessary way 
for a state to keep those who had “misled” 
others “to ruin” from “exercis[ing any] le-
gitimate influence on popular opinion.” Like 
most other Republicans, he “believe[d] in the 
policy of committing the political power of 
the rebellious states to other hands than those 
which have caused the rebellion.”82

Now, Justice Miller clearly wanted to 
deny the accuracy of the leak—released by 
a man whom he privately loathed as an “old 
political prostitute . . . hated by all loyal men 
worse than a thousand times than they hate 
many honest rebels.” But he feared that “the 
story  .  .  .  might be confirmed by” Senator 
Johnson and his co-conspirators.83

Chief Justice Chase wrote back almost 
immediately with his own fears that five jus-
tices (implicitly those who would soon form 
the Court’s majority, Field, Grier, Clifford, 
Nelson, and Wayne) had come together in 
a “caucus or conference separate from the 
other Judges & with the intention of control-
ling the disposition of the causes.” Certainly, 
the signs surrounding the eventual opinion-
writer, Justice Field, were suspicious. Not 

only was Field the prime mover in pushing 
for the decision to be decided in April. He 
had also risen to prominence in California as 
a deeply conservative, albeit firmly Union-
ist Democrat. Indeed, their shared origin in 
the Democratic Party was a significant bond 
between him and Chief Justice Chase, who 
considered Field his closest friend and most 
respected intellectual peer on the Court. Nor 
was there only motive, there was also an ob-
vious means and opportunity for the leak—
David Dudley Field, the other lead counsel in 
Cummings alongside Senator Reverdy John-
son, was Justice Field’s elder brother (as well 
as a famous legal reformer).84

Possibly recognizing the suspicious na-
ture of the circumstances, Justice Field wrote 
directly to his friend, the chief justice, assur-
ing him that he “read [the report] with amaze-
ment” and wholeheartedly condemned the 
“conduct of [Reverdy] Johnson” as not only 
“indefensible” but “merit[ing] severe rebuke.” 
With the clear disqualification connection 

Stephen J. Field rose to prominence in California as 
a deeply conservative, albeit firmly Unionist Demo-
crat. He was elected to the California Supreme Court 
in 1857. Six years later, President Abraham Lincoln 
nominated Field to a newly created seat on the Su-
preme Court of the United States.
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between the Cases and the Fourteenth Amend-
ment likely in mind, Field immediately piv-
oted to discussing “[t]he proposed amend-
ments to the Constitution, prepared by the 
Committee on reconstruction,” assuring Chase 
of  his support. Chase did not immediately 
reply, “hardly knowing what to say,” as he put 
it to Justice Miller. He would not make a di-
rect accusation of his close friend, even while 
he cited this same correspondence to Miller 
as they discussed the possibility of a secret 
caucus.85 And other options for the leak were 
certainly possible.86

Yet as the November electoral results 
rolled in, Chase could not help but recognize 
how questions as to the legitimacy of disqual-
ification threatened the Republican grip on 
national politics. Relieved though he was by 
the party’s overall victory over Andrew John-
son-aligned conservatives, the chief justice 
would still write to a friend about his worries 
about the consequences of the leaked case. 
Chase was sure that Reverdy Johnson’s home 
state of Maryland in particular had been 
lost to the Democrats due to the senator’s 
machinations against the disqualifications.87 
The “loose [voter] registration” allowed by 
Maryland’s Governor Thomas Swann,88 he 
declared, “and the looser morality taught by 
Reverdy Johnson that the oath of loyalty is 
unconstitutional and, therefore, may be taken 
falsely with a good conscience, contributed 
largely to the result—indeed secured it at this 
time.”89 If the Court gave further credence to 
this position, then ex-Confederates through-
out the South were likely to follow the pat-
tern of Maryland, pushing their way back 
into voting booths and offices as the state and 
national executives stood by, uncertain as to, 
or lacking the legal requirement and power to 
actually enforce the oaths.

The Justices Decide

At last, in the two months immediately 
following the elections, the Court released 

its two majority opinions90 in the Test Oath 
Cases. The opinions came mere weeks after 
the justices’ other bombshell opinion in Ex 
parte Milligan, where the Court had united 
in denying the validity of a federal military 
tribunal trying an American citizen in Illi-
nois without prior authorization by federal 
statute. The unnecessarily broad five-justice 
majority opinion written by Justice Davis 
had been lambasted in the Republican press, 
as it denied any capacity not only of an unau-
thorized executive, but of Congress itself to 
organize any military tribunals of citizens in 
states where the judiciary deemed the regular 
courts sufficiently open. Thus, the Court was 
already being pulled into direct conflict with 
Congress when the further “thunderclaps” of 
the Test Oath Cases were heard.91

Reverdy Johnson, Montgomery Blair, 
Augustus H. Garland, David Dudley Field, 
and the other co-counsel had put forward a 
wide range of arguments on behalf of the 
petitioners, including General Francis Blair 
Jr.’ s claim that Missouri Unionists had them-
selves violated the terms of the state test oath, 
given their resistance to the state’s secession-
ist governor.92 Yet their principal bill of at-
tainder, ex post facto, and presidential par-
don-based arguments had all come premised 
on a common commitment to the idea that 
the tests oaths—in effect if not in “form”—
necessarily constituted criminal punishment 
through their “deprivation of political and 
civil rights.”93 And it was this principle that 
Field came to endorse in a broad and sweep-
ing way:

The theory upon which our po-
litical institutes rest is, that all men 
have certain inalienable rights; that 
among these are life, liberty, and the 
pursuit of happiness; and that in the 
pursuit of happiness all avocations, 
all honors, all positions are alike 
open to every one . . . Any depriva-
tion or suspension of any of these 
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rights for past conduct is punish-
ment, and can be in no otherwise de-
fined. Punishment not being, there-
fore, restricted . . . to the deprivation 
of life, liberty, or property, but also 
embracing deprivation or suspen-
sion of political or civil rights, [the] 
disabilities prescribed by the provi-
sions of the [Congressional Ironclad 
Act and] Missouri Constitution [are] 
in effect punishment.94

In this manner, Justice Field collapsed the 
boundaries that typically separated criminal 
punishment as a distinct mode of state pe-
nalization from other forms of state-enacted 
limitations. This was true as regarded the core 
circumstances of the cases themselves. For 
instance, Justice Miller’s dissent asked, what 
separated the circumstances of Garesché and 
Garland—where a lawyer refused to swear 
an oath that he had never “voluntarily borne 
arms” or “voluntarily given aid, comfort, 
counsel, or encouragement to persons en-
gaged in armed hostility to the government”  
before being admitted to the bar—from a 
“law . . . which increased the facility for de-
tecting frauds by compelling a party to a civil 
proceeding to disclose his transactions under 
oath”? Under Field’s reasoning, the dissent 
argued, such a law “would result in punish-
ment in this sense, if it compelled him to pay 
an honest debt which could not be coerced 
from him before.”  Yet “civil proceedings” of 
this kind, “which affect private rights retro-
spectively,” had already been found allowable 
by the Marshall Court in Watson v. Mercer.95 
The attorney who refused to swear such an 
oath did not thereby establish their guilt for 
criminal prosecution, they only surrendered 
the privilege that the state had granted them 
to practice law.96

Moreover, Field’s opinions assumed that 
the addition of the test oath as a prerequisite 
for legal practice must necessarily be under-
stood as punitive in intent and function rather 

than as establishing a legitimate qualifica-
tion of demonstrated loyalty. “Qualifications 
relate to the fitness or capacity of the party 
for a particular pursuit or profession” but to 
the Court, “the acts” referred to by the oaths 
appeared to the Court to “have no possible 
relation to their fitness for those pursuits and 
professions.”97

Yet how could this be so, asked the dis-
sent, when the “continuance of the right” of 
attorneys98 to practice before a court was 
widely held to a standard of “good moral 
character,” one that could be and often was 
overthrown “upon evidence of bad moral 
character, or specific acts of immorality or 
dishonesty, which show that they no longer 
possess the requisite qualifications”? What 
else was this demonstration of basic “loy-
alty” to the state but a reasonable showing of 
moral character, that one had not supported 
that same state’s (and the nation’s) violent 
overthrow? “History show[ed],” after all, that 
“for ages past, the members of the legal pro-
fession have been powerful for good or evil 
to the government,” being “by the nature of 
their duties, the moulders of public sentiment 
on questions of government,” the principal 
aides in “the construction and enforcement 
of the laws” and the body from which “are 
necessarily selected the judges who expound 
the laws and the Constitution.” To “suffer 
treasonable sentiments to spread here un-
checked, [wa]s to permit the stream on which 
the life of the nation depends to be poisoned 
at its source.” Indeed, “if all the members of 
the legal profession in the States in insurrec-
tion had possessed the qualification of a loyal 
and faithful allegiance” who could doubt that 
“we should have been spared the horrors of 
the Rebellion”?99

It could not be the mere permanency of 
the restriction that made it a punishment. Af-
ter all, it was certainly not true that “every 
one” could serve as a member of the bar, or 
as a local justice of the peace, or as presi-
dent of the United States for that matter. Is 



	 AN END TO REBEL “PUNISHMENT”	 257

the natural-born citizen clause thus a “pun-
ishment to all those naturalized citizens who 
can never attain that qualification?” the dis-
sent asked. Are “the qualification” of  “nearly 
all the States  .  .  .  that the voter shall be a 
white male citizen  .  .  . a punishment for all 
the blacks who can never become whites”? It 
was well-known that several of the states had 
previously afforded Blacks the right to vote 
before instituting whites-only restrictions. Had 
that disqualification been unconstitutional 
punishment?100

And if all of this was true for lawyers, 
how much truer should it yet be for state and 
federal officeholders? Surely, the state had a 
reasonable interest in requiring that its own 
agents swear that they had not previously 
tried to violently overthrow the state?  Yet 
with its repeated language embracing “[t]he 
deprivation of any rights, civil or political,”  
“[d]isqualification from office,” and a 
“debar[ment] from the offices of honor or 
trust,” Field’s opinion collapsed the differ-
ent targets of the state and federal test oaths 
together. Although the cases themselves had 
no application to any “political” rights of the 
petitioners, the Court went out of its way 
to sweep political disqualification into its 
decision.101

Worse, Field’s opinion was written in a 
way that suggested that service with the Con-
federacy against the Union could not possi-
bly constitute a real demerit of “character” or 
trustworthiness, but only a past difference of 
opinion. All that was properly required for 
admission to the state or federal bars was 
that an attorney supply sufficient “evidence 
of their possessing sufficient legal learn-
ing and” that “their private and professional 
character is fair.”102 According to the major-
ity, one’s support for a violently treasonous 
cause had no bearing on that kind of “char-
acter,” so narrowly drawn, and against the 
constitutional authority of Congress to “or-
dain and establish” and otherwise regulate 
the “inferior courts” of the federal judiciary 

as it so chose.103 And any limitation placed 
upon it then became a meritless, vengeful 
punishment.

Understanding Justice Field’s reasoning

Why then did Field draw such a broad 
definition for “punishment” against such a 
narrow bound for legitimate considerations of 
character? Beyond the background of national 
party politics that we have already covered, 
Field’s personal political experience also bears 
mentioning. In 1849, an up-and-coming young 
lawyer named Stephen J. Field had himself 
been disbarred and imprisoned by a partisan 
California district judge for what Field took to 
be mere reasons of “party . . . prejudice” and 
“personal vengeance.” After multiple habeas 
petitions and other legal proceedings—not 
to mention a gunpoint standoff  between the 
judge’s sheriff and the county judge that or-
dered Field be freed—Field finally managed 
to get the state supreme court to overturn that 
disbarment. Seventeen years later, Justice 
Field directly alluded to these events in his Ex 
parte Garland opinion, citing the same page 
of his own California Supreme Court deci-
sion104 that itself relied solely on the precedent 
set in his own disbarment case.105

It is clear that this episode—whose ex-
planation takes up an extensive part of his 
autobiography106—continued to trouble Field 
throughout his legal career. The months of 
disbarment and disputes with the judge had 
“ruin[ed]” his previously prosperous early 
legal practice in California. He undoubtedly 
experienced his disqualification from the 
state bar as a vengeful political punishment, 
even as it took place in antebellum circum-
stances that were far removed from those 
present in the border states and the South in 
the immediate aftermath of army-to-army 
conflict. Indeed, throughout his long judicial 
career Field would continue to fiercely op-
pose the use of anything short of “present-
ment or indictment of a grand jury” in the 
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disbarment of attorneys—even one who lit-
erally led a lynch mob to break into the local 
jail and hang a Black man before the steps of 
a federal courthouse.107

Additionally, Field would have known 
that many of his former colleagues among 
the lawyer leadership of the California Dem-
ocratic party had withdrawn from the state 
during the war, due to their own refusal to 
take that state’s test oath, debilitating a once-
dominant political organization.108 That pro-
vision had been upheld by the California 
Supreme Court in Cohen v. Wright, decided 
in July 1863, a mere two months after Field 
had left his position on that court to take up 
his appointment to the Supreme Court of the 
United States.109 Now, Field had the chance 
to draw a stark line against such practices.

In any case, once this “punishment” was 
found, the rest of the Court’s opinion could 
then proceed to identifying the test oaths as 
a “bill of attainder” and “ex post facto” as 
well as making them removable by means 
of pardon. Much scholarly debate already 
exists over each of these individual charac-
terizations, each of which itself stretched the 
legal category involved beyond traditional 
common law definitions.110 Yet each of these 
moves depended upon the first, fundamen-
tal characterization of disqualification as 
punishment. This, as the dissent recognized, 
was “the fatal vice in the reasoning of the 
majority  .  .  .  this loose sense that the word 
is used by this court, as synonymous with 
chastisement, correction, loss, or suffering to 
the party supposed to be punished, and not 
in the legal sense, which signifies a penalty 
inflicted for the commission of crime.”111

Consequences

Scholars have correctly noted that the 
Test Oath Cases came to have only a limited 
immediate impact in terms of Supreme Court 
caselaw. The reason for that is simple. Justice 
Wayne, one of the five justices in the majority, 

died in July of 1867, before the wave of chal-
lenges specific to officeholding disqualifica-
tions could be heard at the Supreme Court. 
The underlying state supreme courts in these 
cases112 had effectively ruled Field’s wide-
ranging statements against “officeholding” 
and other “political” disqualifications to be 
mere dicta, thereby sustaining the disqualifi-
cation regimes of both the border and recon-
structed state constitutions. After Wayne’s 
death, the Supreme Court was left at a 4–4 
impasse and Congress temporarily shrank the 
Court to block any Johnson appointments. 
Therefore, the issue languished at the Court 
for nearly three years. Finally, on January 31, 
1870, the Court issued an opinion-less 4–4 
decision affirming the holdings of the un-
derlying courts that officeholding and voter 
disqualifications were non-punitive, without 
creating a national precedent. Thus, one of 
the most politically fraught struggles be-
tween the justices in Court history came to 
an end.113

As a result of that lack of opinion, this 
line of successor decisions failed to be in-
cluded in the United States Reports and came 
in time to be largely “lost to [the] view” of 
scholars. Even the one commentator who has 
correctly tied these cases to their Test Oath 
antecedent, Charles Fairman, was limited by 
doctrinal hindsight. This led Fairman to de-
cry the “indignation” of  Republicans at Cum-
mings and Garland as “misinformed” and 
overly “exaggerated.” After all, in time, the 
actual extension of the Court’s prohibition to 
political disqualifications upon officeholding 
and suffrage came to be understood by most 
courts and scholars as mere dicta against the 
holding that did last, that civil disqualifica-
tions from one’s “lawful avocation” are un-
constitutional punishment.114

Yet that was not how the case was primar-
ily understood at the time. Instead, Republi-
can newspapers took the Test Oath Cases to 
be a frontal assault on congressional Recon-
struction, intended to “prevent . . . Congress 
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or the States from making loyalty a qualifi-
cation for office.” Congressional Republicans 
responded by introducing a series of bills 
challenging the Court’s authority, including by 
requiring a unanimous or two-thirds bench in 
order to overturn federal statutes. Even mod-
erate Republican newspapers declared that 
such a bill was “imperatively necessary now, 
when a bare majority of  the Court . . . have at-
tempted to usurp the legislative power[] and 
to rescue the belligerent rebel States from 
the just terms of peace which the nation de-
mands,” and that the decisions showed that 
“it is the deliberate purpose of the Supreme 
Court to usurp the legislative powers of the 
Government, to defeat the will of the loyal 
men of this nation.  .  .  .” Indeed, the major-
ity’s decision would have presented exactly 
this kind of attack on Reconstruction if Jus-
tice Wayne had merely survived another six 
months longer than he did.115

Instead, while the Field decisions’ as-
sault on Reconstruction’s political disquali-
fications did stall out at the Supreme Court 
itself, their effects spread further into the 
broader politics in ways that Court-focused 
scholars has typically missed. Three aspects 
of this consequence are worth briefly high-
lighting here.

First, the politics of anti-disqualification 
would continue to play out among the Court’s 
membership, even though it never again at-
tained expression in a full Supreme Court 
opinion. In particular, Chief Justice Chase 
soon came to recognize the possibilities rep-
resented by a public embrace of Confeder-
ate amnesty. Already at the turn of 1867, 
Chase was suggesting such a new direction 
to Andrew Johnson, with a rejection of the 
“third  .  .  .  disfranchisement section” in fa-
vor of one “providing for general amnesty.” 
Throughout that year, Chase shifted gradu-
ally toward adopting such a pro-amnesty 
position for himself, before finally making 
a full public embrace of “universal amnesty” 
on April 19, 1868, in his negotiations with 

the Democratic leadership for the party’s 
1868 presidential nomination.116

This transition translated into Chase’s 
circuit decisions as well. Two of these cases—
Case of Davis (the treason trial of Jefferson 
Davis)117 and Case of Griffin118—have re-
cently attracted much scholarly and juridi-
cal attention for what they can tell us about 
the original understanding of Section Three 
disqualification. The cases remain much de-
bated.119 But it is obvious that the outcomes 
of each were highly favorable to the ex-
Confederate parties in each case and that 
their reasoning closely followed the Field 
majority opinion.120 In Davis, Chase not only 
embraced but actually fed the defense the ar-
gument that Section Three officeholding dis-
qualification was in effect criminal punish-
ment for Davis’ treason, and that it therefore 
blocked any further federal treason prosecu-
tion due to the Fifth Amendment rule against 
double jeopardy.121

In Griffin, meanwhile, Chase again held 
that the officeholding disqualifications of 
Section Three constituted “punishment” that 
contradicted the “spirit and general purpose” 
of the Bill of Attainder and Ex post Facto 
clauses, finding in this a sufficient reason to 
deny the automatic application of Section 
Three disqualification without further con-
gressional action.122 While the broader politi-
cal effects of this circuit decision will require 
further study to fully understand, it is clear that 
the decision prevented the application of Sec-
tion Three to hundreds of state and local of-
ficials throughout Chase’s circuit of  Virginia 
and Maryland.123 One pair of  leading Section 
Three scholars has gone so far as to describe 
Chase’s opinion in Griffin as a “knee-capping 
[of] the Fourteenth Amendment.” And while 
both decisions did occur in the months im-
mediately following Chase’s failed 1868 run 
for the Democratic presidential nomination, 
they both happened to align with the po-
litical platform that he championed during 
that run. That is, states’ rights and universal 
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Confederate amnesty, with universal suffrage 
granted and in theory secured by “the States 
themselves,” not by “outsiders.”124

Second, the Field decisions became a 
major legitimator of the Johnson administra-
tion’s resistance to congressional disqualifi-
cations under military Reconstruction, de-
stabilizing both the federal and succeeding 
state constitutional disqualification orders. 
In March of 1867, Congress finally made 
its decisive move, enacting the first two of 
the Military Reconstruction Acts subjecting 
the southern states to military governance 
and heightened requirements prior to their 
requalification for full congressional recogni-
tion and representation. These acts depended 
heavily upon a broad-based disqualification 
of former Confederates from membership in 
or voting for the new state constitutional con-
ventions required by Congress.125

Andrew Johnson’s Attorney General, 
Henry Stanbery, soon turned to Field’s con-
demnation of such political disqualifications 
as a crucial weapon of response, issuing an 
official Opinion on May 24, 1867, that dras-
tically narrowed the application of the con-
gressional disqualifications. Citing Field’s 
broad statements on the punitive nature of 
“political” as well as “civil” disqualifications, 
Stanbery declared that “[t]he characteristics 
of [Congress’s disqualifications] are, there-
fore, retrospective, penal, and punitive.” As 
such, the “rule of construction” that punish-
ments must be narrowly construed required 
that “[w]here, from the generality of [the] 
terms of [Congress’s] description, or any 
other reason, a reasonable doubt arises, that 
doubt is to be resolved against the opera-
tion of the law and in favor of the voter” and 
candidate for officeholding. Applying this 
constructed standard, Stanbery denied that 
a whole host of former-Confederates whom 
Congress plainly meant to include could be 
disqualified, including the thousands who 
had held “judicial office, or other executive 

offices, or public employments as are of a 
purely civil character,” among others.126

Congress was forced to reply, pushing 
through a “Third Reconstruction Act” cen-
tered specifically on rejecting Stanbery’s Test 
Oath-based construction of the first two Re-
construction Acts in favor of their “true in-
tent.”127 Yet much damage had already been 
done by the Johnson Administration, aided 
and abetted by the Court’s overbroad deci-
sion. Between the Field opinions themselves 
and Stanbery’s circular, as well as Johnson’s 
wide-ranging pardons and his interference 
with appointments to the military gover-
nance of the South, ambiguity and confusion 
would reign over much of the disqualification 
regime enacted by Congress.128

That uncertainty would persist and 
spread into the state constitutional conven-
tions, leading several conventions to either 
make the mistake129 of rejecting Confeder-
ate disqualifications or to have their dis-
qualificatory provisions stripped away by 
conservative Union military governors.130 
In either case, the result in states like Geor-
gia and Virginia would be a rapid fall of the 
Black-supported Republican governments 
to the violently renewed white supremacy 
of Redemption. Likewise, Missouri would 
see many disqualified voters take “Reverdy 
Johnson Oaths” in the elections of 1868, as 
false rumors that the Supreme Court had 
followed through by overturning the oath re-
quirement for voters swept through the state. 
And other state courts would take up Field’s 
extension of the constitutional bar to political 
disqualifications, paving the way to redemp-
tion by voiding their states’ restrictions on 
ex-Confederate officeholding and voting.131

Third, and finally, the idea of southern 
“punishment,” of a northern vengeance upon 
a helpless South, soon became the primary 
rallying cry of the national Democratic party 
and its KKK terrorist paramilitary wing. 
With legitimation provided by the Supreme 
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Court and the arguments of anti-disqualifica-
tion advocates like Reverdy Johnson, south-
ern Democrats and their allies argued that 
northern “punishment” was accomplished 
through the disqualification of the “natural” 
white planter leadership in favor of “Negro 
government.”132

Indeed, the system of ex-Confederate 
disqualifications and Black suffrage did in 
fact make space for a time for a first entrance 
of Black Americans into a real degree of 
political power in the South. Yet, before the 
Black citizenry could actually exercise that 
power as effective state action in their own 
defense, much of state and local govern-
ment collapsed into passivity, with ex-Con-
federates pushing their way back into office 
through “Reverdy Johnson oaths,” the consti-
tutional uncertainty of disqualifications, and 
the lax enforcement of moderate Republi-
can governors seeking ex-Confederate votes 
against their radical inter-party rivals.133

This cry against southern “punishment” 
would in turn find a tragically ironic partner 
among a major breakaway part of the north-
ern anti-slavery coalition, led intellectually 
by former leading anti-slavery advocates like 
Gerrit Smith, Horace Greeley, and Henry 
Ward Beecher. Before the Court’s Test Oath 
rulings, these figures were already opposed to 
the attempted treason prosecution of Jeffer-
son Davis and other Confederate leaders. A 
mixture of evangelical principles and politi-
cal opportunism led them to prioritize shared 
national “guilt” over questions of Black po-
litical access and security. And they whole-
heartedly opposed any kind of  “punishment” 
of the South. With the Court’s characteriza-
tion of even the moderate safeguard of office-
holding disqualifications as “punishment,” 
this group would be pulled toward opposition 
against Section Three and the rest of the Re-
publican program of disqualifications.134

Some would resist that equation.135 Oth-
ers, however, like leading newspaper editor 

Horace Greeley, would come to embrace it, 
following the path of “universal amnesty” 
presidential politics, pioneered by Chief Jus-
tice Chase in 1868, to the 1872 joint presi-
dential nomination of the Democratic Party 
and a splinter faction of the Republican Party. 
Thus, the liberal Republican movement would 
blossom into its full national expression, 
forcing the surrender of Section Three and 
most of Reconstruction’s remaining disquali-
fications before collapsing under the weight 
of its own contradictions.136

Conclusion

It is in moments of the highest politi-
cal pressure that the Supreme Court is most 
likely to diverge from its norms of judicial 
propriety. The fact that the Test Oath Cases 
decision was prematurely leaked highlights 
the volatility of this critical moment in our 
constitutional history. In 1866, the Court buck-
led and split under the issue of ex-Confeder-
ate disqualification, as it considered a series 
of cases which brought into question both 
the security and the democratic character of 
the nation. These decisions would have con-
sequences, as the weight of public opinion 
and legal interpretation began its slow shift 
away from the long-suffering recipients of 
southern abuses and back toward the nation’s 
prodigal insurrectionary sons. Here, in the 
Court’s choice to affirm the idea of southern 
“punishment” as much as anywhere, the Lost 
Cause began to take root.
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in the Air Force, transferred to Miami.4 Gwen-
dolyn wanted to move to Miami to be with 
him, but Clarence forbid her.5 After his trans-
fer, Clarence’s behavior changed. He found 
reasons not to come home, made secret tele-
phone calls, and failed to hide the lipstick 
on his shirt.6 After months of abandonment, 
Gwendolyn could not take it anymore. On 
September 18, 1957, she lied and told Clar-
ence that their son was gravely ill in the hopes 
that he would return home.7 He arrived in 
Tampa the next day but refused to talk to 
her.8 Desperate, enraged, and afraid, Gwen-
dolyn took their son’s baseball bat and struck 
Clarence on the head.9 The damage was ir-
reparable. Gwendolyn Hoyt was arrested and 
put on trial for murder. She pleaded not guilty 
and not guilty by reason of insanity.10 All 
the members of the jury in Hoyt’s trial were 

“How can we have a true cross section of 
the community to draw upon without women?” 
asked Dorothy Kenyon in 1961.1 The exclu-
sion of women from the jury box had bothered 
Kenyon for years. When she started her career 
as a lawyer in 1917, she could represent a cli-
ent in court but she, and most other women, 
could not serve on a jury. By 1957, three states 
still completely banned women from sitting on 
juries in state court and nineteen others used 
gendered eligibility requirements to restrict 
women from jury service.2 After decades of 
advocacy, Kenyon needed a way to bring the 
issue of equal jury service for women to the 
national stage.3 She found her opportunity in 
Gwendolyn Hoyt’s murder trial.

Gwendolyn Hoyt, her husband Clarence, 
and their eight-year-old son lived together in 
Tampa, Florida. In 1956, Clarence, a captain 

“Our Leading Feminist”:  
Dorothy Kenyon and the Origins  
of Equal Protection for Women in 
Hoyt v. Florida
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men.11 After a quick deliberation, the all-male 
jury found Hoyt guilty.12

In 1957, the Florida Constitution permit-
ted women to serve as jurors, but the law au-
tomatically excluded women from jury duty 
unless they took the time to go to the court-
house and ask to be placed on the jury list. In 
Hillsborough County, Florida, where the trial 
took place, the county clerk created a list of 
10,000 eligible jurors each year.13 In 1957, 
and for at least four years prior, the clerk 
limited the number of women on that list to 
only ten or twelve despite having around 220 
eligible women registered for jury service.14 
No women served on any jury in 1956, and 
the clerk did not add any women to the jury 
list in 1957.15

Hoyt’s attorneys objected to the exclu-
sion of women from her jury, raising the issue 
at both her trial and on appeal to the Florida 
Supreme Court.16 Both courts held that there 
was no constitutional issue with the system 
of selecting jurors or convicting Hoyt with 
an all-male jury. The Florida Supreme Court 
underscored its ruling by denying a petition 
for rehearing. Hoyt then appealed to the Su-
preme Court of the United States in 1960, argu-
ing that Florida’s law on jury eligibility and 
Hillsborough County’s application of the law 
violated the Equal Protection Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment and the right to an 
impartial jury and due process of law under 
the Fifth and Sixth Amendments.17 Herbert 
Ehrmann, a renowned public interest attor-
ney and experienced criminal defense lawyer, 
took the case in forma pauperis.18 Ehrmann 
was no stranger to high profile cases (he rep-
resented Nicola Sacco and Bartolomeo Van-
zetti, two Italian immigrants at the center of 
a sensational death penalty appeal, in 1926 
and 1927), but he needed help convincing the 
nation’s highest court that excluding women 
from jury service violated the Equal Protec-
tion Clause.19 On January 11, 1961, Raya Dre-
ben,20 a young female attorney working with 

Ehrmann to prepare the case, reached out to 
the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 
to ask if the organization would be willing 
to submit an amicus curiae brief in favor of 
Hoyt’s case.21

In a memo a few months later, Mel-
vin Wulf, the assistant legal director of the 
ACLU, wrote, “Would not our leading femi-
nist, Kenyon J., be the appropriate attorney.”22 
That “leading feminist”—Kenyon—was im-
mediately interested. She called Wulf back 
late that night to express her desire to work 
on the project.23 Kenyon was particularly in-
vested in expanding access to jury service for 
women. By 1961, she had worked on the is-
sue for over thirty years.24 Within days, Ken-
yon joined Ehrmann and Dreben in preparing 
Hoyt’s case for the Supreme Court.

The Warren Court is most remembered 
for its decisions expanding constitutional 
rights, particularly in cases involving race and 
the rights of criminal defendants. As Hoyt v. 
Florida involved the rights of a historically 
marginalized group, women, and their ability 
to access their civil rights at trial, it fit well 
within the Warren Court’s interests and pre-
sented an opportunity for the justices to ex-
tend the protection of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment to issues of gender discrimination.25 
Kenyon’s involvement in Gwendolyn Hoyt’s 
case is the story of how a crusading female 
lawyer laid the foundations to protect the 
rights of all women under the Equal Protec-
tion Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Dorothy Kenyon and the Fight for  
Jury Service for Women

Dorothy Kenyon always knew she wanted 
to be a lawyer. As a young girl in New York 
City, she asked her father, a lawyer, if girls 
could be lawyers. When he answered, “why 
not, my dear,” she later recounted that, “it 
was all settled, and she gave a hop, skip, 
and a jump along the sidewalk, clutched her 



272	 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY	

This clipping from the Tampa Tribune typifies the gendered way in which the Florida newspapers covered the Hoyt 
murder trial. Gwendolyn is labeled as a “slayer,” and she is outnumbered by men—including two detectives who 
are smiling while handling the baseball bat that was the weapon in the case.

father’s hand a little tighter and decided on 
a career.”26 She attended Smith College in 
Northampton, Massachusetts, where she grad-
uated Phi Beta Kappa in 1908.27 She then re-
turned to New York and attended New York 
University Law School, graduating in 1917.28 
After law school, she worked as an attorney 
in New York City and started a law firm with 
Dorothy Straus, another female attorney.29 

Kenyon developed a reputation as a “cru-
sader for social reform,” engaging in cam-
paigns addressing employment policy, living 
standards for the working class, and women’s 
rights.30 Among these issues, she emerged 
as a leader in the fight to expand access to 
jury service to women. She viewed this as 
an essential next step in affording women all 
the privileges of citizenship following their 
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enfranchisement through the ratification of 
the Nineteenth Amendment.31

Beginning in New York, Kenyon led ef-
forts to overturn laws excluding women from 
jury service.32 In a 1935 memo to the New 
York Judicial Council, she argued that “the 
woman’s point of view is needed in the jury 
box as elsewhere if the court room is truly 
to reflect the world outside it.”33 Justice can-
not be administered by an all-male jury be-
cause “[a] jury is in theory a cross section of 
the community,” and “it is hard to justify it 
as a typical cross section of the community, 
of one’s neighbors or even one’s peers, with 
one-half of the population omitted from it.”34

Two years later, in 1937, New York 
amended its law governing juror eligibility. 
For the first time women would be permit-
ted to serve as jurors.35 However, the state did 
not fully equalize jury service for men and 
women. Instead, it created a permissive sys-
tem in which women could serve as jurors but 
had to register with the court first.36 Kenyon 
argued that New York should adopt a com-
pulsory system because a permissive system 
would not actually enable women to be ju-
rors as court clerks and jury commissioners 
refused to put women’s names on the jury rolls 
even when women wanted to serve.37 In her 
words, “[p]ermissive service is not even half 
a loaf; in our judgement it is less than noth-
ing at all. For it gives us the illusion that we 
have women jury service whereas actually 
we have not.”38

Women’s rights activists in New York 
compromised on permissive service be-
cause “[t]hat will give us a chance to find 
out whether women want to serve or not.”39 
Many women did want to serve, including 
Kenyon. When the secretary of the com-
mission drew names to create the first jury 
list that included women on September 9, 
1937, Kenyon’s name was one of the first 
drawn along with the names of sixteen other 
women.40 She served as a juror in the New 
York Supreme Court later that year.41

In 1938, Judge Benedict Dineen, then 
a judge on the municipal court for the third 
district, won his election for the New York 
Supreme Court, leaving a vacancy in his 
previous post.42 Mayor Fiorello La Guardia 
appointed Kenyon to succeed him.43 Kenyon 
welcomed women jurors into her courtroom; 
almost all of the cases she heard as a mu-
nicipal judge included women in the jury.44 
As a mid-term appointment to the municipal 
court, Kenyon had to be elected in November 
1939 to maintain her judgeship. Her com-
petency and kindness garnered her signifi-
cant support among the community, but she 
lost to a Tammany Hall-backed candidate.45 
Nevertheless, the experience of serving as a 
judge stayed with her; she continued to use 
the name Judge Kenyon throughout her life. 
Serving as a judge provided her with a unique 
perspective—she experienced jury service as 
a juror, lawyer, and judge, allowing her to 

When Hoyt’s lawyers asked if the ACLU would be will-
ing to file an amicus brief in their client’s case, Melvin 
Wulf, the assistant legal director of the ACLU, immedi-
ately inquired as to whether Dorothy Kenyon, the orga-
nization’s “leading feminist,” was interested. Kenyon 
had long sought to expand access to jury service for 
women, and eagerly accepted the assignment. Kenyon 
is pictured here in a publicity photograph.
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understand the full scope and importance of 
the role.

After her judgeship, Kenyon returned to 
her advocacy work, including her leadership 
position with the ACLU. Her connection to the 
ACLU stretched back to the 1920s when she 
served as an executive committee member; 
she joined the Board of Directors by 1933.46 
At the time of the Hoyt case, she served as 
the secretary on the Board of Directors and as 
the Director of the Equality Committee which 
worked on women’s rights.47 As the Equality 
Committee Director, Kenyon led the ACLU’s 
opposition to the Equal Rights Amendment 
(ERA). Initially introduced in Congress in 
1923, the ERA aimed to protect the rights of 
women by amending the Constitution to pro-
hibit laws that denied or abridged people’s 
rights on account of sex.48 Kenyon considered 
it a shortsighted measure that would “freeze 

mathematical equality” into the laws by treat-
ing all classes exactly the same without ad-
dressing societal bias against women or per-
mitting legislation that benefited women.49 As 
she wrote in a 1954 magazine article, “there 
is no short road to freedom, and this pleasant 
sounding amendment is just another illusion 
along the way.”50 She argued that women’s 
rights should instead be protected under the 
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment.51 After the Supreme Court found 
segregation in public schools to be an uncon-
stitutional violation of equal protection in 
Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka,52 
Kenyon hoped that the Court would be ready 
to hold that the Fourteenth Amendment also 
protected women from discrimination.53 She 
urged the ACLU’s Board of Directors to push 
for cases that would lead to an expanded in-
terpretation of equal protection.54 Hoyt v. 

By 1957, only three states still completely banned women from sitting on juries in state court. However, even 
when women did achieve the right to undertake such service, the newspaper coverage was often dominated by 
stereotypical articles and images. This photo, from 1955, shows the first female grand jurors in Harris County, 
Texas, receiving a celebratory cake.
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Florida provided Kenyon and the ACLU with 
an opportunity to advance this position at the 
Supreme Court.

Kenyon Rises to the Occasion

Dorothy Kenyon wrote the ACLU’s Hoyt 
amicus brief largely by herself. Rowland 
Watts, the ACLU’s legal director, communi-
cated with the general counsel for the Florida 
Civil Liberties Union, Tobias Simon, about 
working on the brief. Although Simon was 
happy for the Florida branch to be connected 
to the brief, he was more than happy for the 
“National [branch]” to “do all the work and 
pay all the costs . . .”55

Kenyon began writing the brief in earnest 
in May 1961, and, after a flurry of research 
and writing, had a completed draft ready by 
July.56 When she initially submitted the draft, 
she commented to Wulf that she “wasn’t very 
proud of it.”57 She worried that it was too long, 
lacked sufficient citations, and focused too 
much on background information about the 
history of the feminist movement.58 No one 
else agreed.

In a July 24 letter, Watts informed Ken-
yon that he was tremendously impressed with 
her draft.59 Herbert Ehrmann congratulated 
Watts on the excellent job that his “young 
ladies” did on the brief.60 After receiving a 
copy of Kenyon’s brief, Simon was similarly 
enthused:

I have never met Judge Dorothy Ke-
nyon, but after reading her brief I 
would like to meet her . . . One can 
take the typical male egotistical po-
sition and speak lightly of the ques-
tion that is involved in this case. Un-
fortunately, we do not realize how 
important this question is; and the 
importance is only brought home 
when the plight of Gwendolyn Hoyt 
is realized. Judge Kenyon has risen 
to the occasion, and her brief speaks 
the issues involved eloquently.61

The ACLU submitted the brief to the Su-
preme Court in August 1961; only minimal 
changes were made to Kenyon’s original draft.

Making the Equal Protection Argument

Kenyon’s brief stood in stark contrast to 
the brief for the appellant submitted by Dre-
ben and Ehrmann. While they concentrated 
on the effects of an all-male jury on Hoyt as 
a defendant,62 Kenyon focused on the un-
constitutionality of the Florida statute, ad-
dressing the fact that the rights of all female 
Floridians were at stake.63 Florida excluded 
women from equal participation in jury ser-
vice in two ways. First, by establishing ad-
ditional eligibility requirements that only 
applied to women, the law created separate 
classifications for men and women, thereby 
placing extra burdens on women that men did 
not face.64 Second, the county court’s appli-
cation of the law restricted women from jury 
service by limiting the number of women on 
the jury rolls to only ten per year.65

In making the all-important equal protec-
tion argument in Hoyt, Kenyon drew compari-
sons between racial discrimination and dis-
crimination based on sex. She highlighted the 
recent precedent set in Hernandez v. Texas, 
which reinforced the principle that people 
could not be excluded from jury service due 
to their race.66 Earlier cases like Strauder v. 
West Virginia (1879),67 Norris v. Alabama 
(1935),68 and Smith v. Texas (1940)69 held 
that Black people could not be systemically 
excluded from jury service. In Hernandez, 
a case involving the exclusion of Mexican 
Americans from juries, the Court expanded 
its interpretation of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment.70 In his opinion for a unanimous court, 
Chief Justice Earl Warren held that the Four-
teenth Amendment protected any distinct 
class facing legal discrimination.71 He found 
that the history of excluding Mexican Ameri-
cans from jury service in Texas and the dif-
ferential application of the law between white 
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people and Mexican Americans violated the 
Equal Protection Clause.72

In her Hoyt amicus brief, Kenyon argued 
that women, like Black people and people of 
Mexican descent, constituted a distinct class 
that Florida had singled out for unreason-
able—and therefore unconstitutional—dif-
ferential treatment.73 She knew the Warren 
Court’s reputation for strong opinions in fa-
vor of expanding civil rights protections on 
the basis of race, and drew parallels between 
racial and gender discrimination to appeal 
to the justices.74 “ ‘We cannot turn the clock 
back to 1868 when the amendment was ad-
opted,’ ” she wrote, echoing Warren’s famous 
words in Brown.75 “The same reasoning surely 
applies to women who too have had to fight a 
slow and painful battle during the last century 
and a half for recognition and status . . . ” she 
continued.76  This reference was a reminder to 
the justices that they had taken the affirma-
tive steps to undo a system of historic and 
entrenched inequality once before, and now 
they had the power to do so again.

Kenyon observed that in 1961 the most 
common reason for excluding women from 
jury service was the belief that it would take 
women away from their primary roles and re-
sponsibilities as wives and mothers.77 As Jus-
tice E. Harris Drew of the Florida Supreme 
Court wrote in his opinion upholding the con-
viction of  Hoyt, “whatever changes may have 
taken place in the political or economic status 
of women in our society, nothing has yet al-
tered the fact of their primary responsibility, 
as a class, for the daily welfare of the family 
unit upon which our civilization depends.”78 
Kenyon used statistical evidence to rebut this 
argument. She noted that as of 1961, women 
made up thirty-three percent of the Ameri-
can workforce, and that this included thirty 
percent of all married women.79 Additionally, 
only eleven years (roughly twenty percent) 
of an average woman’s adult life would be 
“needed for or given over to baby-sitting” 
should she have children, leaving nearly fifty 

years where she would be as free as any man 
to serve on a jury.80 Kenyon wrote her brief 
as a woman who never married, never had 
children, and worked as a lawyer for over 
four decades. Her demographic evidence 
showed that a significant number of Ameri-
can women were similarly untethered from 
the domestic sphere. In the face of these sta-
tistics, one could hardly make a reasonable 
argument that jury service would deprive so-
ciety of female caregivers.

Defining a Woman’s Place

Historically, defining women by their 
roles as wives and mothers served to deprive 
them of their civil rights. In her brief, Kenyon 
described the development of trial by jury in 
England as a right held exclusively by free 
men, explicitly prohibiting both enslaved 
people and women.81 When the English civil 
rights were incorporated into the Constitu-
tion, Americans also adopted the doctrine of 
coverture which prevented married women 
from possessing legal rights, including the 
right to serve on a jury.82 Kenyon described 
coverture as swallowing up women’s legal ex-
istence after marriage as their husband’s legal 
status subsumed their personhood.83 Women 
had no right to property, earnings, control 
over their children, or political and civil 
rights; as Kenyon explained, this reduced 
women to the position of chattel.84 Without 
civil rights, a woman could be forced to en-
dure trauma without recourse as she had no 
legal standing to plead to the state for her 
protection without her husband speaking for 
her.85 Thus, focusing on women’s traditional 
roles as wives and mothers stripped women 
of their legal and civil rights, including the 
right to serve on juries.86

Although Kenyon described coverture 
as a historical doctrine, the legal restrictions 
on women’s rights and personhood were a fa-
miliar part of her world. Born in 1888, she 
was barely two generations removed from the 
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women’s rights convention in Seneca Falls in 
1848 and came of age at the height of the 
women’s suffrage movement.87 And in 1873, 
nearly fifteen years before Kenyon’s birth, the 
Supreme Court held in Bradwell v. Illinois 
that women did not have a right to become 
lawyers because, as Justice Joseph P. Brad-
ley stated in his infamous concurrence, “the 
paramount destiny and mission of woman are 
to fulfill the noble and benign offices of wife 
and mother.”88

Kenyon’s personal experiences also made 
her acutely aware of recent progress towards 
recognizing women’s legal rights. As she 
wrote in her brief, “[w]omen can hold prop-
erty in their own right. They can pay taxes 
(there has never been any difficulty about 
that); but they can vote and legislate as well 
which assures that there is no taxation without 
representation.”89 She noted that women in-
creasingly had access to education, including 
college and graduate school, enabling them 
to enter into previously barred professions, 
like the law.90 Kenyon concluded that these 
legal advances during her lifetime showed 
that, “women are now full-fledged emanci-
pated citizens with most of the privileges and 
immunities and responsibilities appertaining 
thereto,” and, as citizens, they must be equally 
granted all the rights and responsibilities of 
citizenship, including jury duty.91

The Supreme Court Takes Hoyt’s Case

Hoyt v. Florida came to the Supreme 
Court on the miscellaneous docket.92 The 
Court dismissed the vast majority of mis-
cellaneous cases unless at least four justices 
found the case sufficiently important to hear. 
Chief Justice Warren showed the earliest inter-
est in taking Hoyt’s case. Prior to the vote on 
whether to hear the appeal, Warren assigned 
one of his law clerks, Joseph Bartlett, to draft 
a memo analyzing whether the Court should 
hear it. Bartlett found that the case pre-
sented a substantial federal question, namely 

whether Florida’s system of selecting jurors 
violated the Equal Protection Clause.93 He 
argued that Hillsborough County arbitrarily 
excluded women from juries by limiting their 
number to only ten per year, making the law 
unconstitutional as applied.94 Warren agreed 
that the court’s method of selecting women 
jurors arbitrarily and systematically excluded 
women.95 Furthermore, the Chief found the 
effect of excluding women jurors to be par-
ticularly injurious to the appellant, Gwendo-
lyn Hoyt, as a woman charged with murder-
ing her husband.96 Due to these systemic and 
personal harms, Warren entered the justices’ 
Conference on January 6, 1961 believing that 
the Court needed to grant the appeal. Five 
members of the Court—Felix Frankfurter, 
John Marshall Harlan, Tom C. Clark, Charles 
E. Whittaker, and Potter Stewart—voted to 
deny certiorari.97 However, as only four votes 
are required to grant certiorari—and those 
votes were provided by Chief Justice War-
ren and Justices Hugo L. Black, William O. 
Douglas, and William J. Brennan, Jr.—the 
Court took up the case and scheduled it for 
oral argument in October.

After the Court agreed to hear the case, 
Warren assigned a second clerk, Timothy 
Dyk, to analyze the issues again. Dyk con-
cluded that the Court should find the stat-
ute unconstitutional because it violated the 
Equal Protection Clause by creating separate 
and arbitrary requirements for women to be 
eligible for jury service.98 Dyk relied heav-
ily on Kenyon’s brief, citing it four times in 
his memorandum.99 He pointed out that the 
Court had never formally decided whether 
the Equal Protection Clause applied to dis-
crimination on the basis of sex, making a law 
completely excluding women from jury ser-
vice potentially permissible.100 However, he 
argued that once Florida allowed women to 
serve as jurors, it violated the Constitution 
because there was no reasonable basis for 
creating different eligibility requirements for 
men and women.101
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In support of this position, Dyk referred 
to Kenyon’s argument that state laws permit-
ting, rather than requiring, women to become 
jurors effectively excluded them from jury 
service.102 Dyk then addressed the counter-
argument set forth by the Florida Supreme 
Court—namely, that forcing women to serve 
on juries would be detrimental to society by 
taking women away from their responsibili-
ties as homemakers.103 Again, Dyk turned to 
Kenyon’s brief, borrowing her argument that 
the option for a judge to exercise his or her 
discretion in dismissing any potential juror 
for hardship would sufficiently protect any 
women for whom jury service would actually 
impede maternal duties.104

The Court heard oral arguments in Hoyt’s 
case on October 19, 1961. Herbert Ehrmann 
argued on behalf of Hoyt, and George Geor-
gieff, Florida’s assistant attorney general, pre-
sented the state’s case.105 The lack of women 
at the counsel tables was glaringly obvious. 
Raya Dreben and Dorothy Kenyon traveled 
to Washington but were merely members of 
the audience in attendance at the Court that 
day.106 Gwendolyn Hoyt did not have suffi-
cient funds to attend.107

Georgieff began his statement with an 
apology: “I’d like to thank the indulgence of 
the ladies in the audience and of course my 
good wife wherever she happens to be for 
the things I’m about to say. They might not 
square with what women would think.”108 He 
went on to say that women as a class could 
never be equal to men because “they are the 
ones that do have all of these infirmities that 
no amount of ascension on the social scale 
can erase.”109 The infirmities included the ex-
pectation that women be the ones to “raise 
these children, to prepare the food, to keep 
the home, and to do other things that women 
customarily do and to this day do.”110 For 
Georgieff, the societal belief that women 
should be confined to the domestic sphere 
justified keeping them out of the jury box. 
When Warren questioned the application of 

these restrictions to all women, including un-
married and childless women, Georgieff reaf-
firmed his view, saying “this is unfortunately 
a man’s world and . . . I’m afraid it’s going to 
remain one.”111

Ehrmann also emphasized women’s tra-
ditional connection to the home and family. 
In arguing that the perspective of women jur
ors as a class would be different from men, 
thereby injuring Hoyt, Ehrmann stated that, 
“[w]omen emphasize more the home, chil-
dren, husband, their approach is far [more] 
emotional.”112 Paradoxically, women were 
also chastised for their lack of political activ-
ism outside of the home. Justice Frankfurter 
questioned whether the additional require-
ments for women in jury service resulted 

George Georgieff argued on behalf of Florida when the 
Hoyt case reached the Supreme Court. When Chief Jus-
tice Warren questioned whether jury service restric-
tions should apply to all women including unmarried 
and childless women, the assistant attorney general 
said “this is unfortunately a man’s world and . . . I’m 
afraid it’s going to remain one.”
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from women’s political preferences and vot-
ing habits in the state. “If they [women] re-
ally wanted to be called like men,” Justice 
Frankfurter asked, “there’d be no trouble 
about getting that legislation through even in 
Florida, would it?”113 Ehrmann ducked the 
politics question, saying that he did not know 
where the power to control the legislature lay, 
and that “I am not here urging the rights of 
women to serve on juries. I am here defend-
ing a woman who is sentenced to thirty years 
at hard labor.” Nor did he address the facial 
challenge to the statute that Kenyon’s brief 
emphasized.114

The following day, the justices met to 
discuss and vote on the case at Conference. 
Three justices, Warren, Black, and Douglas fa-
vored reversing the Florida Supreme Court’s 
decision. Black argued that the statute vio-
lated the Equal Protection Clause.115 Warren 
did not want to go that far. He proposed a 

narrow decision based on the particular facts 
of the case.116 Rather than finding Florida’s 
additional eligibility requirements for women 
facially unconstitutional, Warren wanted to 
reverse the Florida Supreme Court’s decision, 
arguing that Hillsborough County’s policy 
limiting the number of women on the jury 
roll to only ten was tantamount to unconstitu-
tional exclusion.117 He also found the particu-
lar injury to Hoyt as a female defendant per-
suasive in a case where a woman’s perspective 
mattered.118

The other five justices disagreed. Frank-
furter and Whittaker argued that the statute 
was both facially constitutional and consti-
tutional as applied to Hoyt because it did 
not purposefully or systematically exclude 
women and the county’s system of select-
ing jurors was not arbitrary.119 Frankfurter 
also distinguished the case from Hernan-
dez, indicating that he did not believe that 

The Warren Court issued a unanimous ruling in Hoyt v. Florida (1961). Justice John Marshall Harlan, II (back row, 
second from the left) authored the Court’s opinion. Justice William O. Douglas (front row, far left) wrote a crucial 
concurrence that was joined by Chief Justice Earl Warren (front row, center) and Justice Hugo L. Black (front row, 
second from left).
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discrimination on the basis of race and sex 
were due the same protection under the Four-
teenth Amendment.120

At the end of the Conference, Warren 
indicated that he intended to dissent. Con-
sequently, the job of assigning the majority 
opinion fell to Frankfurter, the senior as-
sociate justice in the majority. He assigned 
the case to Justice Harlan.121 In his opinion, 
Harlan wrote that Florida’s statute governing 
juror eligibility was constitutional, both fa-
cially and as applied to Hoyt.122 Even though 
it was not a direct issue in the case, Harlan 
also reaffirmed that states could constitu-
tionally limit jury duty to only men.123 In 
the case of permissive service for women, 
as in Florida, Harlan wrote that states could 
differentiate between groups as long as the 
categorization was reasonable.124 Harlan cred-
ited Florida’s explanation as reasonable be-
cause “woman is still regarded as the center 
of home and family life.”125 Additionally, 
he argued that it was within Florida’s police 
powers to protect women from jury service, 
leaving it to each individual woman to prove 
to the state that serving on a jury would not 
injure herself or society.126

Harlan rejected the argument that dis-
crimination on the basis of sex was analo-
gous to discrimination based on race. He 
stated that Hoyt’s case was not one in which 
“the circumstances shown were found by 
this Court to compel a conclusion of pur-
poseful discriminatory exclusion from jury 
service.”127 This was because “there is pres-
ent here neither the unfortunate atmosphere 
of ethnic or racial prejudice which underlay 
the situations depicted in those cases nor the 
long course of discriminatory administrative 
practice which the statistical showing in each 
of them evinced.”128 He considered, and re-
jected, the possibility that the statute could 
have been unconstitutional if it differentiated 
by income, writing “[n]or is there the slight-
est suggestion that the list was the product 
of any plan to place on it only women of a 

particular economic or other community or 
organizational group.”129 Harlan did not com-
pletely foreclose the possibility that women 
as a class could be protected under the Equal 
Protection Clause, but his opinion indicated 
that women’s rights activists would face sig-
nificant legal hurdles in attempting to prove 
that women should receive such protection.130

The Hoyt Opinions

On November 14, 1961, Harlan circu-
lated his majority opinion to the other jus-
tices.131 After reading the draft, Justice Doug-
las drafted and circulated a two-sentence 
concurrence that read as follows:

We cannot say from this record that 
Florida is not making a good faith 
effort to have women perform jury 
duty without discrimination on the 
ground of sex. Hence, we concur in 
the result, for the reasons set forth 
in Part II of the Court’s opinion.132

After meeting privately with his colleague, 
Justice Black agreed to sign on to Doug-
las’ concurrence.133 Douglas subsequently 
invited Warren to join the concurrence as 
well.134 This invitation would have profound 
consequences.

Recall that at the justices’ Conference, 
Warren advocated for overturning Hoyt’s 
conviction because limiting the number of 
women on the jury roll to only ten was tanta-
mount to excluding women.135 Additionally, 
Warren consistently found the statute’s ap-
plication to Hoyt as a woman defendant to 
be particularly troubling.136 However, Warren 
reversed his position,137 and joined Douglas’ 
concurrence.138 Dyk told the chief justice that 
concurring in the application of the statute 
logically required one to find the statute fa-
cially valid, as argued in Part I of Harlan’s 
opinion, but Warren was not troubled by the 
logical inconsistency.139 Warren preferred 
to wait for future cases on the same issue, 
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thereby retaining the option to factually dis-
tinguish later cases from Hoyt.140

As a result, the Court unanimously up-
held Florida’s jury system as constitutional. 
By forgoing the option to issue a dissenting 
opinion in favor of signing on to Douglas’ 
concurrence, Warren indicated an attitude 
of disinterest in the case. This attitude was 
shared by other justices as well. Frankfurter 
wrote that Harlan, “gave this more consid-
eration and time than it deserved,” on his 
copy of Harlan’s opinion.141 Just how much 
time was “deserved”? After all, Justice Har-
lan announced the opinion in Hoyt on No-
vember 20, 1961, a mere month after oral 
arguments.142

The press reacted negatively to the Court’s 
decision in Hoyt. Many authors hypothesized 
that women jury service would soon become 
the norm.143 Noted trial attorney Louis Nizer 
wrote an opinion piece for the New York 
Times arguing that male attorneys should want 
women jurors because “women jurors reveal 
themselves to a male lawyer a little more read-
ily than men.” Even though “[t]he sexual fac-
tors involved are exceedingly thin . . . they can 
be detected as indeed they can be at any social 
gathering when one senses a little admiration 
or, on the other hand, disapproval between 
guests of opposite sexes.”144

Kenyon did not publish a written response 
to the Court’s decision, preferring to put her 
energy into advocacy efforts to create greater 
opportunities for women in the future.

The Path to Equal Protection

Kenyon’s amicus brief in Hoyt took on 
a second life thanks, in part, to the pioneer-
ing efforts of the Black feminist lawyer, Pauli 
Murray. On August 15, 1962, Murray, a mem-
ber of President John F. Kennedy’s Commis-
sion on the Status of Women, contacted the 
ACLU to request a copy of Kenyon’s Hoyt 
brief as a part of her research about how to 
use the Fourteenth Amendment to dismantle 

discrimination on the basis of sex.145 She 
ended her letter by expressing hope to the 
ACLU that the Commission could “count on 
you for guidance and assistance in develop-
ing a sound constitutional argument in this 
important field of human rights.”146

In the spring of 1963, Murray approached 
the ACLU again to propose a litigation strat-
egy for achieving equal rights for women.147 
In a memorandum she argued that the Four-
teenth Amendment was a better avenue than 
the ERA because it would eliminate the un-
reasonable barriers to women’s participation 
in society while preserving legal distinctions 
that reasonably protected women as a his-
torically underprivileged group.148 She used 
laws regulating women jurors as the preemi-
nent example of an unreasonable barrier be-
cause they excluded all women in an effort 
to protect mothers from the burdens of jury 
service.149

Murray proposed forming a committee 
of specialist women’s rights lawyers to lead 
the fight and maximize the chances of a suc-
cessful outcome in court.150 She particularly 
emphasized the importance of having ex-
perts write amicus briefs because “a valu-
able public service can be rendered by filing 
amicus curiae briefs which help to broaden 

This image is part of an 1891 caricature entitled “The 
growing field of woman’s work. A short look ahead.” 
The image is captioned “The only way to keep men 
from trying to evade jury duty—have mixed juries, as 
above.” As the story of the Hoyt case demonstrates, 
heavily gendered societal, and jurisprudential views 
of jury service persisted in the U.S. well into the twen-
tieth century.
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the perspective of the various courts.”151 She 
identified Kenyon’s brief in Hoyt as the only 
example of a Supreme Court amicus brief 
supporting the rights of women since Louis 
D. Brandeis’ brief in support of a maximum
hours law for working women in Muller v.
Oregon (1908).152 She also hypothesized that
future cases regarding jury service may have
more favorable outcomes than Hoyt because
three justices concurred separately and two
justices in the Hoyt majority, Whittaker and
Frankfurter, had since left the Court.153

As the leader of the ACLU’s Equality 
Committee, Dorothy Kenyon enthusiastically 
endorsed Murray’s proposal at an ACLU 
Board meeting on April 1, 1962.154 The Board 
unanimously agreed to her proposal.155 This 
vote initiated a sustained effort by the ACLU 
to fight for women’s rights using the Equal 
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment. As an organization experienced in con-
stitutional litigation, the ACLU perfectly fit 
the role of a dedicated group of experts that 
Murray imagined in her proposal.156

Murray joined the ACLU as a member of 
the Board of  Directors in 1965.157 Working 
with Mary Eastwood, an attorney with the 
Department of Justice, Murray expanded on 
the connections between racism and sexism 
in the seminal work Jane Crow and the Law, 
in which she argued that the Equal Protection 
Clause protected women from “separate but 
equal” discriminatory treatment.158 In 1966, 
Kenyon and Murray assisted in the success-
ful litigation of a case in Alabama, White v. 
Crook, arguing that the state’s system of se-
lecting juries systematically excluded Black 
citizens and women citizens of all races.159 
Murray and Kenyon authored the section of 
the brief focusing on exclusion from jury 
service on the basis of sex, again arguing 
that the practice violated the Equal Protec-
tion Clause and drawing connections between 
exclusion on the basis of sex and exclusion 
based on race.160 The case was the first time 

a federal court declared a male-only jury ser-
vice system unconstitutional.161

Other lawyers soon joined the ACLU’s 
women’s rights project, including future Su-
preme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg.162 
In 1971, ten years after the Court’s decision 
in Hoyt v. Florida, Ginsburg and the ACLU 
returned to the Supreme Court in Reed v. 
Reed to argue that an Idaho law preferencing 
men over women in deciding who would ad-
minister estates violated the Equal Protection 
Clause.163 Dorothy Kenyon did not work on 
that case; she was eighty-three years old and 
terminally ill.164 Ginsburg credited both Ke-
nyon and Murray in her brief as a sign of re-
spect for what the two trailblazers started.165

In 1975, three years after Kenyon’s death, 
the Supreme Court held in Taylor v. Louisiana 
that the systematic exclusion of women from 
jury service through automatic exemptions 
and additional eligibility requirements, like 
that used by Florida, was unconstitutional, 
explicitly overruling Hoyt.166 Subsequent de-
cisions in Duren v. Missouri (1979)167 and 
J.E.B. v. Alabama (1994)168 confirmed that 
there is no significant state interest in exclud-
ing women from jury service and that the 
Equal Protection Clause bars the exclusion 
of jurors on the basis of sex. These decisions 
came too late for Gwendolyn Hoyt. But they 
vindicated the position that Dorothy Kenyon 
took in her case, a position that spoke for the 
rights of all women.

A Missed Opportunity

In The Warren Court and American 
Politics, Lucas (Scot) A. Powe argued that 
the Court’s decision in Hoyt was inevitable, 
because “the Court does not create social 
movements; it responds to them. It took Betty 
Friedan and the sexism of the civil rights 
movement to create the modern women’s 
movement.”169 Dorothy Kenyon’s amicus brief 
in Hoyt shows that activism around equal 
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rights for women preceded that “movement.” 
Hoyt was a missed opportunity for the War-
ren Court. It could have cemented its civil 
libertarian legacy by defending the rights 
of women in addition to its work protecting 
people’s civil rights from racial discrimina-
tion. But in Hoyt, the Court chose not to fol-
low the path Kenyon asked them to take.

Even though Kenyon could not persuade 
the justices that women deserved equal ac-
cess to jury service, she laid out a jurispru-
dential roadmap for securing women’s rights 
under the Equal Protection Clause. Her ar-
guments in Hoyt showed that the Fourteenth 
Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause was a 
viable option for achieving equal rights for 
women.170 Kenyon’s work in Hoyt also in-
formed future methods of litigating. Follow-
ing Hoyt, the ACLU far more frequently filed 
amicus briefs in support of women’s rights, 
and this became an important part of the or-
ganization’s issue advocacy.171 Dorothy Ken-
yon’s work in Hoyt laid the groundwork for 
those later successes, making Hoyt a seminal 
case in the fight for women’s rights.
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on individual decisions, rather than broad 
policy agendas,” such as “a presidential ini-
tiative . . . or a decision made in response to 
a crisis or external circumstance.”2 Following 
the format of the books in the long-running 
series on landmark Supreme Court decisions 
published by the Kansas Press, Nelson’s 
book includes a thorough bibliographic es-
say. Happily, however, Nelson’s series de-
parts from the format of the landmark cases 
series by including endnotes. In this book 
these are organized by chapter across nine-
teen pages. Inclusion of the citations adds 
substantially to both the richness and useful-
ness of the book.

In addition to noticing such beneficial 
features, a reader will also find that Nelson’s 
book is pleasingly deceptive. Its twenty pages 
of frontmatter, that include a foreword,3 pref-
ace, and prologue, are followed by barely 
eighty-seven pages of text. Yet the reader 
will soon realize just how much Nelson has 
packed into that small space. Vaulting Am-
bition may be light in page count, but it is 
heavy in substance and insight. What one 
might at the outset expect to be a quick read 

By the time Frank Murphy (about whom 
much more will be said below, in the second 
book reviewed in this article) became a jus-
tice in early 1940, as the fifth of President 
Franklin D. Roosevelt’s appointees to the Su-
preme Court, only four of his new colleagues 
(James Clark McReynolds, Charles Evans 
Hughes, Harlan Fiske Stone, and Owen J. 
Roberts) had been sitting during what surely 
must have felt like a seismic event—the 
president’s audacious move against the Court 
in 1937. Roosevelt’s decision to attempt to 
change the Court’s jurisprudence by way of 
enlarging its roster is the subject of  Vaulting 
Ambition: FDR’s Campaign to Pack the 
Supreme Court by Michael Nelson, who 
teaches history at Rhodes College.1

Vaulting Ambition

Vaulting Ambition is one of the earliest 
entries in a new series on landmark presiden-
tial decisions being developed by the Univer-
sity Press of Kansas under the general edi-
torship of Professor Nelson. The goal of the 
series is the publication of  books that “focus 
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soon becomes a companion for an evening or 
two, as well as a handy reference for later use.

As some readers of this Journal are 
aware, and as Nelson’s bibliographic essay 
makes clear, his book joins a list of books 
about the Court-packing fight that began in 
1938 with The 168 Days, a journalistic ac-
count by Joseph Alsop and Turner Catledge.4 
Nelson’s account, along with Laura Kalman’s 
FDR’s Gambit: The Court Packing Fight 
and the Rise of  Legal Liberalism, is among 
the most recent.5 Nonetheless, aside from in-
cluding what are the essential elements in the 
story of what transpired, Nelson’s approach 
to this often-chronicled episode seems dis-
tinctive in at least two respects. First, Nelson 
focuses more on the president’s decisions than 
on the responses by Congress and the Court. 
As he explains, “I say decisions because the 
court-packing effort involved a series of them, 
including whether to take any action at all.”6 
Second, “while keeping the court-packing 

effort front and center, I approach it in the 
context of FDR’s larger campaign to embed 
the New Deal in the major institutions of na-
tional government and politics.” The latter 
had to do with making what he hoped would 
be lasting change not just to public policy but 
also to Congress, the Democratic Party, and 
even the overall executive branch.7

The author develops his narrative and 
analysis through six chapters. The first three:

trace the dramatic events that set 
the stage for this campaign: FDR’s 
rise to power, the ambitious set of 
New Deal legislative accomplish-
ments that marked his first term, 
the resistance to these efforts by the 
Supreme Court, and the president’s 
growing conviction that he and Con-
gress needed to do something to re-
move the court as an obstacle.8

Chapters four and five lay out a series of 
seven decisions FDR made in his efforts 
against the Court. A reader may think of this 
list as an outline of the story that unfolds.

•	 Decision 1: Pack the Court—plus
•	 Decision 2: Present the Court-pack-

ing decision as something other than 
it was

•	 Decision 3: Take for granted the sup-
port of congressional Democrats

•	 Decision 4: Go public with a differ-
ent justification for the Court bill

•	 Decision 5: Attack the justices for 
acting politically, but underestimate 
their political savvy

•	 Decision 6: Do not compromise—
until it is too late

•	 Decision 7: Sacrifice the executive 
reorganization bill to campaign for 
the Court bill 9

As a conclusion, chapter six probes the ques-
tion as to whether FDR succeeded, and of-
fers sage advice to any president who begins 
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a second term following a landslide win. It 
is also here that the reader again makes the 
connection with the book’s title that was first 
noted in the volume’s Prologue.10 In Shake-
speare’s Macbeth, Macbeth compares exces-
sive ambition to a rider who vaults so power-
fully onto a horse that the rider “o’erleaps” it 
and instead lands on the ground. As the story 
Nelson tells perhaps suggests, it is an admo-
nition that justices and presidents alike might 
profitably ponder. Moreover, as a counterfac-
tual to the story Nelson relates, one wonders 
how Court history might have evolved had 
two or three of the most senior justices de-
cided in early 1937 that it was time to leave 
the Court.

Justice and Faith

Among all members of the Court who 
have completed their service, Frank Mur-
phy, the eightieth and the only justice to have 
been born in Michigan, is notable in several 
ways. Two that merit attention are dealt with 
in Justice and Faith: The Frank Murphy 
Story by Greg Zipes, an attorney who is also 
an adjunct faculty member in the School of 
Professional Studies at New York Univer-
sity.11 First, Murphy reached the Court with 
a résumé strikingly different from that of 
recent high court appointees. With only a 
small handful of exceptions, presidents since 
the 1960s have generally adhered to a judi-
cial model when selecting nominees for the 
Supreme Court. That is, they have preferred 
those with experience as a judge, usually a 
judge on one of the federal appeals courts. 
Indeed, with the exception of Justice Elena 
Kagan, every member of the current Court 
reached the bench via a judgeship on one 
of the United States Courts of Appeals, and 
she was serving as Solicitor General at the 
time of her nomination. Furthermore, no 
current justice has ever held elective office. 
Indeed, one suspects that were a president—
at the next vacancy—to nominate someone 

without judicial experience the opposition 
party would profoundly object to precisely 
that fact. Yet many presidents have instead 
followed what might be termed a political 
model when selecting justices. With the po-
litical model presidents have not excluded 
those with judicial experience but have also 
looked beyond the bench to legislators and 
administrators of various kinds. Consider the 
two models alongside what might be labeled 
a résumé for Murphy provided by the Federal 
Judicial Center:

• Private practice, Detroit, Michigan,
1914–1917, 1922–1923

• U.S. Army first lieutenant,
1917–1919

• Chief assistant U.S. Attorney, East-
ern District of Michigan, 1919–1922

• Candidate for U.S. House of Repre-
sentatives from Michigan, 1920

• Professor of  law, University of De-
troit, 1922–1927

• Judge, Detroit Recorder’s Court,
1923–1930

• Mayor, Detroit, 1930–1933
• Governor general, Philippine Islands,

1933–1935
• High commissioner, Philippine Is-

lands, 1935–1936
• Governor, Michigan, 1937–1938
• Attorney General of the United

States, 1939–1940
• Associate Justice, Supreme Court of

the United States (1940–1949)12

Thus, as he did in filling other vacancies on 
the high court, President Roosevelt adhered 
heavily to the political model. Moreover, to 
demonstrate that Murphy’s career path was 
hardly an outlier in terms of selection criteria 
generally preferred also by President Harry S. 
Truman13 and by President Dwight D. Eisen-
hower, at least initially, consider the bench that 
decided Brown v. Board of Education.14 Aside 
from Chief Justice Earl Warren, there were 
Justices Hugo L. Black, William O. Douglas, 
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Stanley F. Reed, Felix Frankfurter, Robert H. 
Jackson, Harold H. Burton, Tom C. Clark, 
and Sherman Minton. Strikingly, the bench 
in 1954 was not populated mainly by former 
judges. In fact, there was only one justice in 
1954 who reached the Court with any signif-
icant judicial experience. Instead, one sees 
a Court staffed by (a) one governor who had 
also been a vice-presidential candidate on 
his party’s ticket in 1948; (b) three United 
States senators; (c) one regulatory agency 
chair; (d) one law school professor; (e) two 
attorneys general; and (f ) one solicitor gen-
eral. That is a mixture of career paths that has 
not been seen on the Court since the 1960s.

Justice Murphy remains notable in a sec-
ond way as well. While his time on the Su-
preme Court was barely nine and a half years 
(cut short in 1949 by his death), probably no 
other associate justice with a tenure of com-
parable length—with the probable exception 
of Benjamin N. Cardozo—has received as 
much and as thorough scholarly book treat-
ment. One first notes J. Woodford Howard’s 

substantial Mr. Justice Murphy: A Political 
Biography (1968).15 Almost a decade later, 
the University of Michigan Press published 
the first of what became a three-volume biog-
raphy by Sidney Fine: Frank Murphy: The 
Detroit Years (1975).16 Production of vol-
ume two—The New Deal Years—switched 
to the University of Chicago Press in 1979.17 
Publication of volume three, The Washing-
ton Years (1984), returned to Ann Arbor.18

Zipes’ book thus benefits substantially 
from the efforts of those who came before. 
Indeed, one wonders whether part of  the ti-
tle he chose for his book was inspired by the 
name of the last chapter in Howard’s book: “A 
Militant Faith.” A prospective reader might 
then wonder what more needs to be known or 
said about the justice. More directly, that per-
son might ask Zipes why he wrote this book. 
A possible answer—aside from the obvious 
one for any writer, that a consequential life is 
exciting to explore and therefore to share—is 
that the author wished to introduce Murphy 
to a new generation of  readers. More than five 
decades have passed since Howard probed 
this Roosevelt loyalist with a background so 
varied and stunning that some might have 
expected him to become America’s first Ro-
man Catholic president.19 Howard’s book also 
appeared at the tail end of the Warren Court, 
whose record of decisions expanding civil 
liberties and civil rights meshed easily with 
Murphy’s own view of the Constitution and 
what he perceived as the Court’s duty to ex-
pand its protections. Similarly, it has been 
four decades since the appearance of the last 
volume in the Fine series.

Nevertheless, even with such scholarly 
attention and “Murphy’s involvement in many 
of the defining moments that created mod-
ern America,” Zipes wonders in the Preface 
“why those who should know better ignored 
or marginalized his accomplishments?”  This 
question then leads to a second one: “Why is 
he largely unknown by the American public? 
These are questions I seek to answer in this 



292	 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY	

book.”20 While the author poses what may be 
an impossible challenge for himself, a reader 
is tempted to suggest that even if Murphy 
generally remains unknown to the public 
today, that is a fate he shares with others in 
his generation, including some justices, who 
were perhaps similarly or even more accom-
plished. Perhaps the blame, if any, lies not 
with scholars or journalists, but with an in-
attentive or largely indifferent public. Even 
those who recognize Murphy’s name as one 
belonging to a Supreme Court justice prob-
ably would not know that it was Murphy 
who, as Attorney General, established the 
civil rights division of the Department of 
Justice, as future justice Thurgood Marshall 
reminded readers in 1950.21 The cumulative 
result is that Zipes may well have felt as if his 
writing was like paddling upstream. “Much 
of the conventional wisdom about Murphy is 
negative: He was strange. He lacked intellec-
tual heft. He was lazy.” Well into the book, 
the author notes that for many years after 
his death, Murphy’s “decisions were seen as 
unduly provocative and off-the-cuff, and the 
substance of his opinions have [sic] largely 
been forgotten.”22 This view thus led the au-
thor “to debunk many of these falsehoods 
that latched onto Murphy and so hurt his his-
torical standing . . . and reintroduce a man I 
have grown to admire greatly.”23

In Zipes’ telling, Murphy’s story unfolds 
in twenty chapters. These are followed by 
a bibliography of six pages and an index 
of sixteen pages. A separate index of cases 
with citations would have been helpful. En-
riching the narrative and analysis are thir-
teen grayscale photographs following page 
138, that range from Murphy as an infant 
in Sand Beach, Michigan on the shores of 
Lake Huron in 1890, to Ann Harding, an 
on-and-off girlfriend and Academy Award 
nominee, to Edward Kemp, a lifelong com-
panion from Murphy’s college years until 
the justice’s death. Moreover, in what is a 
true rarity among recently published books, 

endnotes appear at the conclusion of each 
chapter. Nonetheless, any future printing of 
Zipes’ book should correct the sentence not-
ing President Roosevelt’s “desire to pack 
the court back in 1938.”24 As was apparent 
earlier in this essay, FDR might well have 
still harbored such feelings in 1938, but his 
ill-fated legislative attempt was launched in 
1937, as an earlier mention by Zipes made 
clear.25

Zipes’s admiration for his subject—
hardly uncommon for any biographer—does 
not mean, however, that he portrays Murphy 
as short on faults or misjudgments. Such ex-
amples appear in the fifth chapter that cov-
ers Murphy’s time in private practice and his 
entry into politics. It is here that the reader 
encounters “two men crucial to his later po-
litical successes.”26 One was Father Charles 
Coughlin who had a parish not far from De-
troit. Although initially an ardent supporter 
of President Roosevelt, the priest soon wove 
an antisemitic tone into his speeches on the 
radio all while pushing the president to ap-
point more Roman Catholics to high office, 
with Murphy soon being a direct beneficiary. 
As Zipes reports, Coughlin and Murphy 
maintained a close friendship “even in spite 
of their vast differences,” so much so that at 
Murphy’s death, the family asked Coughlin 
to give a eulogy at the funeral.27

Murphy’s second important connection 
was with Walter Chrysler, founder of the 
automobile corporation. Although Murphy 
turned down Chrysler’s offer to be legal coun-
sel for the company, he did accept “a sizeable 
retainer fee from Chrysler at the beginning 
of 1929.” At the time, Murphy was a crimi-
nal court judge, and state law did not allow a 
judge to engage in private practice or to “be 
in any way connected with any attorney or 
firm of attorneys engaged in such practice.”28 
Zipes notes that this was not just a theoretical 
conflict, since as a judge he decided disputes 
between unions and car companies. Further-
more, as governor of Michigan during the 
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General Motors strike of 1937, Murphy held 
stock in the company. Nonetheless, Zipes 
adds that “it does appear that Murphy never 
sold out the working man.” Even after becom-
ing a Supreme Court justice, he “employed 
a publicist and accepted money and gifts in 
exchange for speeches to various groups.” 
According to the author, Murphy was being 
“quite conventional—a politician who liked 
fancy shiny objects and who believe his per-
sonal habits would not affect his ability to 
work for the less privileged.”29

Although Justice and Faith discusses a 
host of legal issues and focuses on a member 
of the Supreme Court, the book is not without 
humor. It is in chapter sixteen, which covers 
Murphy’s initial year as a justice, that the au-
thor describes his subject’s questionable ef-
forts to do his part for the war effort. Indeed, 
as a justice, Murphy enlisted in the infantry 
and trained at Fort Knox, all while draw-
ing the salary of a justice. His enlistment 
prompted some merriment at the Court with 
Justice James F. Byrnes writing “when you 
return, I promise to salute you and if I were 
large enough to wear your uniform, I would 
borrow it from you.”30 Murphy’s maneuvers 
prompted the Department of Justice to issue 
guidance that barred sitting federal judges 
from serving in the Army or Navy. In 1942, 
Murphy’s continued insistence on serving in 
some capacity led General George C. Mar-
shall to announce that officers who wished to 
enter training could not be older than forty-
seven (recall that Murphy was born in 1890). 
In 1944, remembering his years in colonial 
administration, Murphy begged the president 
to have him inserted covertly into the Japa-
nese-occupied Philippines on a secret mis-
sion. This request reached General Marshall, 
who explained to Roosevelt that the plan was 
not a good idea. One can only imagine that 
attention to such matters was exactly how 
the future originator of what later came to 
be known as the Marshall Plan did not want 
to spend his time. Zipes believes that even 

though Murphy and Roosevelt had regular 
contact, this episode may well have ended it 
in that that they had little interaction during 
the last year of the president’s life.

Even someone merely perusing the book 
will quickly sense the author’s strong inter-
est in Murphy’s denunciation, especially in 
Korematsu v. United States,31 of the Roos-
evelt administration’s policies for Japanese-
Americans during the Second World War. In-
deed, it is no exaggeration to suggest that the 
author believes the justice’s stance in these 
cases marks perhaps one of his greatest con-
tributions as a member of the Court. Mur-
phy’s position in the case stands in contrast 
to those supporting the administration—Jus-
tices Black, Douglas, Reed, Rutledge, Stone, 
and Frankfurter. That conclusion seems plau-
sible not only from chapters seventeen and 
eighteen that examine the cases in detail, but 
even from the Preface. It is in the latter that 
the reader is alerted to the fact that Murphy 
“used the word racism—or some variation 
thereof—in three different cases on the same 
day in December 1944.” For Zipes that is suf-
ficient evidence “that his word choice was 
not a fluke.”32 Moreover, the author contends 
that Murphy “was the only Supreme Court 
justice to use that word during his time on the 
Court, or for many years thereafter.”33 (Aside 
from Korematsu, the other two cases Zipes 
specifically examines are Ex parte Mitsuye 
Endo34 and Steele v. Louisville & Nashville 
Railroad Company,35 the latter being a la-
bor case involving Black Americans that had 
nothing to do with Japanese-Americans.)

For Zipes, the most famous passage in 
Murphy’s Korematsu dissent was his declara-
tion that “[a]ll residents of this nation are kin 
in some way by blood or culture to a foreign 
land. Yet they are primarily and necessarily a 
part of the new and distinct civilization of the 
United States.”36 This was the same passage, 
as Howard’s biography notes, that the Chris-
tian Century believed should be “engraved in 
stone.”37
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Errata
In Timothy S. Huebner’s Introduction in 49.2, the following error needs correction:

Page 104: first column, second line, “Candace Gray Jackson” should be “Candace Jackson Gray”


	project_muse_943494 (1)
	project_muse_943495 (1)
	project_muse_943496 (1)
	project_muse_943497 (1)
	project_muse_943498 (1)
	project_muse_943499 (1)
	project_muse_943500 (1)
	project_muse_943501 (1)
	project_muse_943502 (1)



